
           

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC
WILLIAMSON COUNTY COMMISSIONER’S COURT

MAY 16TH, 2017 
9:30 A.M.

             

The Commissioner’s Court of Williamson County, Texas will meet in regular
session in the Commissioner's Courtroom, 710 Main Street, in Georgetown,
Texas to consider the following items:

 

1. Review and approval of minutes.
 

2. Consider noting in minutes any off right-of-way work on any County road done by Road & Bridge Division.
 

3. Hear County Auditor concerning invoices, bills, Quick Check Report, wire transfers and electronic
payments submitted for payment and take appropriate action including, but not limited to approval for
payment provided said items are found by the County Auditor to be legal obligations of the county. 

 

4. Citizen comments. Except when public hearings are scheduled for later in the meeting, this will be the
only opportunity for citizen input. The Court invites comments on any matter affecting the county, whether
on the Agenda or not. Speakers should limit their comments to three minutes. Note that the members of
the Court may not comment at the meeting about matters that are not on the agenda.

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
The Consent Agenda includes non-controversial and routine items that the Court may act on with one
single vote. The Judge or a Commissioner may pull any item from the consent agenda in order that the
court discuss and act upon it individually as part of the Regular Agenda.
( Items 5 – 28 )

 

5.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on a line item transfer for the County Sheriff.
 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0100.0560.04703 MH/MR $11,416.00

To 0100.0560.04968 Care of Animals $11,416.00

 

6.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on a line item transfer for the County Sheriff.
 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0100.0560.04703 MH/MR $3,412.00

To 0100.0560.04500 Maintenance Contracts $3,412.00

 

7.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a line transfer for Road and Bridge Division.
 



Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0200-0210-005700 Vehicles > $5,000 $5,000.00

To 0200-0210-003110 Other Supplies $5,000.00

 

8.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on line item transfers for the Parks Department.
 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0100.0510.004310 Advertising and Legal Notices $ 4,000.00

From 0100.0510.003115 Computer Supplies $550.00 

From 0100.0510.004621 Copier Rental and Supplies $675.00 

From 0100.0510.004350 Printed Materials and Binding $800.00 

From 0100.0510.004505 Software Maintenance $1,440.00 

From 0100.0510.004964 Showbarn Maintenance $2000.00 

From 0100.0510.004620 Furniture and Equipment Rental $5,000.00 

To 0100.0510.004541 Vehicle Repair and Maintenance $14,465.00

 

9.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving compensation changes, position titles
changes, position grade changes and any corresponding line item transfers.

 

10.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action to approve Justice of the Peace, Pct. 4, April
2017 Monthly Report in compliance with Code of Crim. Proc. § 103.005.

 

11.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of various county assets
through auction including (1) HP Officejet color printer, (16) Pallets of fluorescent lighting, (2) Desks,
(1) Storage unit, (2) Chairs (see attached lists) pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't Code 263.152.

 

12.   Discuss, consider and take any appropriate action regarding approval and receipt of Vehicle
Reimbursement Agreements regarding off-duty contracting of County Sheriff Deputies with:

a. T. G. Mercer Consulting Services, Inc. (Traffic control on Hwy 29 at Old Castle Materials in Liberty
Hill)
b. Orenda Education (Security/Traffic control of campus at Gateway College Prep) 

 

13.   Acknowledge and consent to appointment of John Hesser, Councilman for City of Georgetown, to the
Williamson County Conservation Foundation board to fill an unexpired term ending in 2018.

 

14.   Acknowledge and consent to appointments to the Williamson County Conservation Foundation Board
of Directors for the terms ending April 2019 and recognize the election of officers for the term ending
April 2018.

 

15.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving property tax refunds over $2,500.00 for the
month of April 2017 for the Williamson County Tax Assessor/Collector.

 

16.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving property tax collections for the month of
April 2017 for the Williamson County Tax Assessor/Collector.

 



17.   Approve, consider and take appropriate action to approve the TexPool
Resolutions Amending Authorized Representatives fro the Tax
Assessor/Collector's office. 

 

18.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on TWC Data Exchange Request and Safeguard Plan
for Williamson County Constable Precinct 2.

 

19.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a defunding modification to the Intergovernmental
Services Agreement between Williamson County and US Immigration and Customs Enforcement
relating the T. Don Hutto Residential Facility in relation to funding of a medical trailer installation
project. 

 

20.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a modification to the Intergovernmental Services
Agreement between Williamson County and US Immigration and Customs Enforcement in relation to
installation and use of the ICE Detainee Telephone System at the T. Don Hutto Residential Facility. 

 

21.   Receive and acknowledge Work Authorization No. 1 under Williamson County Contract for Engineering
Services between Prime Strategies, Inc. and Williamson County dated May 16, 2017 to provide
engineering management services required for the Williamson County Long Range Transportation Plan
(L TP) Corridor Program including manage design consultants, agency reviews and approval,
construction lettings, and budget/contract control

 

22.   Discuss, consider and take any necessary action regarding Work Authorization No. 1 under Williamson
County Contract for Engineering Services between Kleinfelder Inc and Williamson County, dated
February 23, 2017, for On-Call Geotechnical Engineering and Materials Testing for Williamson County
Road and Bridge, and authorize County Judge to sign on behalf of Williamson County.

 

23.   Discuss, consider and take any necessary action regarding Supplemental Work Authorization No 1 to
Work Authorization No 1 under Williamson County Contract between Balcones Geotechnical PLLC and
Williamson County dated December 3, 2015 for Geotechnical Engineering Services for Williamson
County Georgetown Annex. This supplemental is to extend the expiration date to October 25, 2018
only. The current Work Authorization dollar amount will remain the same.

 

24.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat of Wm. J. Turner Subdivision
- Pct 3.

 

25.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the preliminary plat for the Sunset
Meadows subdivision - Pct 4.

 

26.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the L & D Acres
subdivision - Pct 3.

 

27.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the Scott & White at
Rancho Sienna subdivision - Pct 3.

 

28.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the revised preliminary plat for the Rancho
Sienna Section 19 subdivision - Pct 3.

 

REGULAR AGENDA
 

29.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a resolution honoring City of Taylor Mayor Jesse



29.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a resolution honoring City of Taylor Mayor Jesse
Ancira, Jr.

 

30.   Discuss and consider approving the week of May 15 - 21, 2017 as National Salvation Army Week.
 

31.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on proclamation recognizing May 2017 as "Drug Court
Month".

 

32.   Receive and acknowledge midyear Operations Summary Report for the Williamson
County Expo Center from General Manager Clint Chitsey .

 

33.   Discuss consider and take appropriate action on Texas A&M AgriLife Extension Quarterly
Interpretation of Programs to elected officials.

 

34.   10:00 Conduct public hearing relating to a request from the CCL #2 Office to increase the budgeted
salary amount for the position of Court Administrator I, Position #0701, in the CCL #2 Office and
discuss (1) the reason for the payment in excess of the budgeted amount is being offer to the
employee, including the public purpose that will be served by making the excess payment; and (2) the
exact amount of the excess payment, the sources of the payment, and the terms for distribution of the
payment that effect and maintain the public purpose to be served by making the excess payment.

 

35.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a request by the CCL #2 Office to increase the
budgeted salary amount for the position of Court Administrator I, position #0701, in the CCL #2 Office
from the budgeted annual salary amount of $51,874.94 to the increased salary amount of $55,683.15,
the top of the pay grade and approximately $1,379.28 as a lump sum.

 

36.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues
update.

 

37.   Receive and acknowledge the May 2017 Construction Summary Report for the Road Bond and Pass
Through Financing Programs.

 

38.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding an Antiquities Permit Application to the Texas
Historical Commission required as part of the Due Diligence Environmental Investigations for Bagdad
Road at CR 278, a project in Commissioner Pct. 2.

 

39.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding a TCEQ Agent Authorization Form for the
Edwards Aquifer Protection Program associated with Bagdad Road at CR 278, a project in
Commissioner Pct 2.

 

40.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding Change Order No. 1 in the amount of
-$92,621.70 for Pearson Ranch Road Extension, a Road Bond Project in Commissioner Pct. 1.

 

41.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding Change Order No. 2 in the amount of
$58,006.83 for Forest North Drainage Phase 1, a Road Bond Project in Commissioner Pct. 1.

 

42.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding Change Order No. 6 in the amount of
$23,780.00 for CR 258, a Road Bond Project in Commissioner Pct. 2.

 

43.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on new Agreement for Engineering Services with Prime



43.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on new Agreement for Engineering Services with Prime
Strategies, Inc. to provide General Engineering Consultant – Program Management and Planning &
Design Services for the Long Range Transportation Plan Corridor Program.

 

44.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an Interlocal Agreement between Williamson County
and the City of Hutto for the extension of CR 119 from Limmer Loop to Chandler Road. 

 

45.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on rescinding two line item transfers approved for the
Williamson County Sheriff’s Office under Item #6 of the March 28, 2017 Commissioners Court Session
and Item #7 of the May 2, 2017 Commissioners Court Session.

 

46.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on granting the Williamson County Master Gardeners
permission to place a non-permanent storage building and privacy fence within their current 5 acre
allotment at 3151 SE Inner Loop, Georgetown, TX 78626. 

 

47.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to
the Agreement for Landscape Architectural Services between Williamson County and
studio16.19, LLC to obtain additional landscape architecture services and landscape
development plans in relation to adding a birthday party pavilion, public restroom and
parking lot to Part 1 - Brushy Creek Regional Trail Section Repair Project (15RFQ105).

 

48.   Discuss, consider and take any appropriate action to approve the Finalized Lease
Schedule with Dell Financial Services through DIR-SDD-1951 and authorize the
execution of all necessary documentation (Note: Master Lease agreement and lease
of CradlePoint hardware and maintenance from vendor GTS Technology Solutions
under DIR-TSO-3653 was approved on March 21, 2017 Item 63).

 

49.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on the Unallocated Process and Policies.
 

50.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on awarding IFB 1704-156, Crack Seal, to the lowest
and best bidders Right Pointe , Crafco Texas Inc. and The Quikrete Companies LLC.

 

51.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the renewal of Roadside
Chemicals and Herbicides, Bid #15IFB116 for the term of June 1, 2017 – May 31, 2018,
with Red River Specialties, the Primary Vendor. This is the second extension of two (2)
possible, one (1) year renewal options.

 

52.   Discuss and consider approving a Line Item Transfer for the Debt Service Fund:
 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0600.0600.006900 Debt Defeasance $9,933,492.80

To 0600.0600.004098 Payment to Escrow Agent $9,908,747.80

To 0600.0600.004099 Bond Issuance Cost $24,745.00

 

53.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave



53.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge
additional revenues for the District Attorney's office from State Judiciary Apportionment Funds:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.335602 Dist Atty Salary Supplement $7,500.00

 

54.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge
additional expenditures for the District Attorney's office from State Judiciary Apportionment Funds:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0440.001940 Apportionment Supplement $6,197.30

0100.0440.002010 FICA $474.11

0100.0440.002020 Retirement $828.59

 

55.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment to acknowledge
additional revenues for Park Donations:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.367403 Park Donations $1,099.85

 

56.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge
additional expenditures for Park Donations:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0510.003670 Use of Donation $1,099.85

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION
"The Commissioners Court for Williamson County reserves the right to
adjourn into executive session at any time during the course of this
meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas
Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultations with Attorney), 551.072
(Deliberations regarding Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations regarding
Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations
regarding Security Devices) and 551.087 (Deliberations regarding
Economic Development Negotiations)."

 

57.   Discussion regarding economic development negotiations pursuant to Texas Government Code,



57.   Discussion regarding economic development negotiations pursuant to Texas Government Code,
Section 551.087:
a) Business prospect(s) that may locate or expand within Williamson County.
b) Discuss Pearson Road District.
c) Discuss North Woods Road District.
d) Project Columbus Balbo
e) Mega Site

 

58.   Discuss real estate matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.072
Deliberation Regarding Real Estate Property if deliberation in an open meeting would have a
detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with third person.)
A. Real Estate Owned by Third Parties
1. Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential purchase or lease of property owned by
third parties
a) Discuss the acquisition of real property for right-of-way for Mays St. Extension 
b) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop. 
c) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 176 at RM 2243
d) Discuss the acquisition of real property with endangered species for mitigation purposes.
e) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 101
f) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 111
g) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 278 at Bagdad Rd.
h) Discuss the acquisition of real property for proposed CR 110 project. (All sections)
i) Discuss the acquisition of real property for County Facilities.
j) Discuss the acquisition of real property on CR 305. 
k) Discuss the acquisition of Easement interests for the Brushy Creek Trail Project. 
l) Discuss acquisition of property located at NEC of Toll 130 and Gattis School Rd. 
m) Discuss the acquisition of a drainage easement for CR 108.
n) Discuss easement acquisitions from San Gabriel River Ranch Subdivision.
o) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 258.
p) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR Lakeline Blvd. 
q) Discuss the acquisition of real property for US 183.
r) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Hairy Man Rd. 
s) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW Bypass.
t) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Crossroad Acres.
u) Discuss proposed acquisition of real property on CR 138. 
v) Discuss proposed acquisition of real property at Highland Springs Lane. 

B. Property or Real Estate owned by Williamson County
1). Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential sale or lease of property owned by the
County
a) Discuss County owned real estate containing underground water rights and interests.
b) Discuss possible sale of 183 A excess right of way
c) Discuss proposed sale of real estate of Blue Springs Blvd
d) Discuss transfer of right of way for Westinghouse Rd. to the City of Georgetown.
e) Discuss wastewater easements in Berry Springs Park
f) Discuss Development Agreement with Ashby Capital Investments, LLC
g) Discuss sale of County property on Ronald Reagan Blvd.
h) Discuss abandonment of County property on CR 123. 
i) Discuss the improvements 175 CR 138 (Giesen tract).
j) Discuss an Interlocal Agreement with the City of Hutto for CR 119.

C. Consider intervention in lawsuit regarding de-listing of Bone Cave harvestman. 
 

59. Discuss pending or contemplated litigation, settlement matters and other confidential attorney-client legal



59. Discuss pending or contemplated litigation, settlement matters and other confidential attorney-client legal
matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.071 consultation with attorney.),
including the following:

a) Litigation or claims or potential litigation or claims against the County or by the County
b) Status Update-Pending Cases or Claims;
c) Civil Action No.1:13- CV- 505, Robert Lloyd v. Lisa Birkman, et al, In The United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas, Austin Division
d) Employee/personnel related matters
e) Other confidential attorney-client matters, including contracts and certain matters related to county
defense issues in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body within the attorney/client
relationship clearly conflicts with Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.
f) Cause No. 15-0064-C277, Gordon v. Dollahite et al, In The District Court of Williamson County, Texas,
277th District
g) County Road 241 utility and Right-of-Way Issues and matters;
h) Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-431; Herman Crisp v. Williamson County, et al; In the USDC-WD-Austin
Division
i) Carolyn Barnes, et al v. Texas Attorney General, et al; Cause # D-1-GN-15-000877, in the 419th
Judicial District Court of Travis County
j) Appeal of IRS Proposed Worker Classification Changes and Proposed Tax Adjustments 2011 -2013;
and Payment of Disputed Employment Taxes Pending Appeal
k) Potential claims and litigation against Volkswagen and Audi related to Volkswagen and Audi emission
control systems on diesel engine vehicles in the period 2009 – 2015
l) Discuss proposed acquisition of property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop
m) Claims of Texas Association for Children and Families
n) Civil Action; American Stewards of Liberty, et al. v. Sally Jewell, et al., In the Western District Court,
Western District of Texas, Austin Division
o) Legislative changes to firearms laws and possession of firearms on county property
p) SOAH Docket No. 473-16-4342; PUC Docket No. 45866 –Application of LCRA Transmission Services
Corporation to Amend its Certificate of Convenience and Necessity for the Proposed Leander to Round
Rock 138-KV Transmission Line Project
q) Notice of claim and demand of Morgan Lee Roach.
r) Labor and employment law review of Employee Policy Manual provisions and amendments.
s) Berry Springs Park and Preserve pipeline
t) Discuss subrogation claims related to medical claims incurred during the County’s contract with
Allegiance Benefit Plan Management (TPA).
u) Discuss requirements related to health benefit plan.
v) Case No. 1:16-cv-00505-LY, Saturn v. Barnett et al, In The United States District Court For The
Western District of Texas-Austin Division
w) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-1023 LY, Brian Carrier v. Lt. McKnight, et al, In The United States District
Court For The Western District Of Texas, Austin Division
x) Cause No. 1JC-16-1540; Roy Earl Briggs v. Lt. Doug Wheless, In The Justice Court Precinct 1,
Williamson County, Texas 
y) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-01185-SS-ML, Jose Refugio Fernandez-Madrid v. Keefe Commissary and the
Williamson County Sheriff, In the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas – Austin
Division
z) Law relating requests for the closure, abandonment or vacation of roadway(s) in the Woodland Park
Subdivision.
aa) Civil Action No. Case 1:17-cv-00068; Dennis Farmer & Linda Schlueter v. Williamson County and
Deputy Damon Grant; In The United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, Austin
Division

 

60. Deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline and/or dismissal of
Williamson County officers, directors, employees and/or positions, including but not limited to conducting
deliberation and discussion pertaining to annual reviews of department heads and appointed officials
(Executive Session as per Tex. Gov. Code Section 551.074 – Personnel Matters).

 

61. Discuss the deployment or specific occasions for implementation of security personnel or devices in



61. Discuss the deployment or specific occasions for implementation of security personnel or devices in
relation to the Williamson County Justice Center (Executive Session as per Texas Gov’t. Code § 551.076).

 

REGULAR AGENDA (continued)
 

62. Discuss and take appropriate action concerning economic development.
 

63. Discuss and take appropriate action concerning real estate.
 

64. Discuss and take appropriate action on pending or contemplated litigation, settlement matters and other
confidential attorney-client legal matters, including the following:

a) Litigation or claims or potential litigation or claims against the County or by the County
b) Status Update-Pending Cases or Claims;
c) Civil Action No.1:13- CV- 505, Robert Lloyd v. Lisa Birkman, et al, In The United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas, Austin Division
d) Employee/personnel related matters
e) Other confidential attorney-client matters, including contracts and certain matters related to county
defense issues in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body within the attorney/client
relationship clearly conflicts with Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.
f) Cause No. 15-0064-C277, Gordon v. Dollahite et al, In The District Court of Williamson County, Texas,
277th District
g) County Road 241 utility and Right-of-Way Issues and matters;
h) Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-431; Herman Crisp v. Williamson County, et al; In the USDC-WD-Austin
Division
i) Carolyn Barnes, et al v. Texas Attorney General, et al; Cause # D-1-GN-15-000877, in the 419th
Judicial District Court of Travis County
j) Discuss, consider and take appropriate action regarding possible appeal of IRS Proposed Worker
Classification Changes and Proposed Tax Adjustments 2011 -2013; and approval of payment of disputed
employment taxes pending appeal
k) Potential claims and litigation against Volkswagen and Audi related to Volkswagen and Audi emission
control systems on diesel engine vehicles in the period 2009 – 2015
l) Discuss proposed acquisition of property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop
m) Claims of Texas Association for Children and Families
n) Civil Action; American Stewards of Liberty, et al. v. Sally Jewell, et al., In the Western District Court,
Western District of Texas, Austin Division
o) Action regarding legislative changes to firearms laws, to include but not be limited to the adoption and
implementation of regulations and policies relating to the possession of firearms on and within Williamson
County property and facilities.
p) SOAH Docket No. 473-16-4342; PUC Docket No. 45866 –Application of LCRA Transmission Services
Corporation to Amend its Certificate of Convenience and Necessity for the Proposed Leander to Round
Rock 138-KV Transmission Line Project
q) Notice of claim and demand of Morgan Lee Roach.
r) Berry Springs Park and Preserve pipeline
s) Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding the handling, including but not limited to, the
negotiating and approval of settlement offers, of subrogation claims related to medical claims incurred
during the County’s contract with Allegiance Benefit Plan Management (TPA).
t) Discuss requirements related to health benefit plan.
u) Case No. 1:16-cv-00505-LY, Saturn v. Barnett et al, In The United States District Court For The
Western District of Texas-Austin Division
v) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-1023 LY, Brian Carrier v. Lt. McKnight, et al, In The United States District
Court For The Western District Of Texas, Austin Division
w) Cause No. 1JC-16-1540; Roy Earl Briggs v. Lt. Doug Wheless, In The Justice Court Precinct 1,
Williamson County, Texas 
x) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-01185-SS-ML, Jose Refugio Fernandez-Madrid v. Keefe Commissary and the
Williamson County Sheriff, In the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas – Austin
Division



y) Law relating requests for the closure, abandonment or vacation of roadway(s) in the Woodland Park
Subdivision.
z) Civil Action No. Case 1:17-cv-00068; Dennis Farmer & Linda Schlueter v. Williamson County and
Deputy Damon Grant; In The United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, Austin
Division

 

65. Discuss, consider and take appropriate action regarding the appointment, employment, evaluation,
reassignment, duties, discipline and/or dismissal of Williamson County officers, directors or employees,
including but not limited to any necessary action pertaining to conducting annual reviews of department
heads and appointed officials.

 

66. Comments from Commissioners.
 

67.   1:00 PM Discuss FY 18 Capital Requests.
 

_________________________ 
Dan A. Gattis, County Judge 

This notice of meeting was posted in the locked box located on the south side of the Williamson County Courthouse,
a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on the ______ day of ________, 2017 at ________ and
remained posted for at least 72 continuous hours preceding the scheduled time of said meeting.



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   5.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Line Item Transfer for County Sheriff
Submitted For: Robert Chody  Submitted By: Peggy Braun, Sheriff
Department: Sheriff
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on a line item transfer for the County Sheriff.

Background
This requested transfer is to provide funding for the purchase of K-9 Heat Alert Systems with Deployment and
remotes and vehicle inserts. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0100.0560.04703 MH/MR $11,416.00

To 0100.0560.04968 Care of Animals $11,416.00

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Budget Office Ashlie Koenig 05/11/2017 10:09 AM
Form Started By: Peggy Braun Started On: 05/11/2017 08:32 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   6.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Line Item Transfer for County Sheriff
Submitted For: Robert Chody  Submitted By: Peggy Braun, Sheriff
Department: Sheriff
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on a line item transfer for the County Sheriff.

Background
This requested transfer is to provide additional funding needed for installation of the electronic security/integrated
solution system in the Sheriff's Office Evidence Room.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0100.0560.04703 MH/MR $3,412.00

To 0100.0560.04500 Maintenance Contracts $3,412.00

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Budget Office Ashlie Koenig 05/11/2017 10:07 AM
Form Started By: Peggy Braun Started On: 05/10/2017 04:55 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   7.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on a line transfer for Road and Bridge Division
Submitted For: Terron Evertson  Submitted By: Daribel Texidor, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a line transfer for Road and Bridge Division.

Background
This transfer is necessary to continue providing ice, for drinking water, to Road and Bridge crews in the field.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From  0200-0210-005700 Vehicles > $5,000 $5,000.00

To 0200-0210-003110 Other Supplies $5,000.00

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 12:13 PM
Budget Office Ashlie Koenig 05/11/2017 10:04 AM
Form Started By: Daribel Texidor Started On: 05/10/2017 11:38 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   8.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on line item transfers for the Parks Department
Submitted For: Randy Bell  Submitted By: Randy Bell, Parks
Department: Parks
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on line item transfers for the Parks Department.

Background

Transfers necessary to accommodate previously unplanned and impending vehicle repairs and
maintenance.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0100.0510.004310 Advertising and Legal Notices $ 4,000.00

From 0100.0510.003115 Computer Supplies $550.00 

From 0100.0510.004621 Copier Rental and Supplies $675.00 

From 0100.0510.004350 Printed Materials and Binding $800.00 

From 0100.0510.004505 Software Maintenance  $1,440.00 

From 0100.0510.004964 Showbarn Maintenance $2000.00 

From 0100.0510.004620 Furniture and Equipment Rental $5,000.00 

To 0100.0510.004541 Vehicle Repair and Maintenance $14,465.00

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 12:13 PM
Form Started By: Randy Bell Started On: 05/10/2017 11:26 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   9.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Compensation Items
Submitted For: Tara Raymore  Submitted By: Kristy Sutton, Human Resources
Department: Human Resources
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving compensation changes, position titles changes,
position grade changes and any corresponding line item transfers.

Background
See attached documentation for details.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Comp Item

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Human Resources (Originator) Tara Raymore 05/11/2017 10:00 AM
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 10:08 AM
Form Started By: Kristy Sutton Started On: 05/11/2017 09:46 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



Department PCN EE ID

Budget 

Amount

*Requested 

Amount

Change 

Amount % Change Reason for Change

Available 

Funds

Earliest 

Oracle 

Effective 

Date

Purchasing 1219 12079 $59,505.68 $60,100.85 $595.17 1.00% Merit Unallocated 5/5/2017

Fleet Services 0917 13106 $35,521.20 $36,942.05 $1,420.85 4.00% Merit Unallocated 5/5/2017

Juvenile Services 1090 Vacant $35,831.24 $37,264.49 $1,433.25 4.00%

Increase vacant 

position salary Unallocated 5/5/2017

*Amount may vary slightly due to Oracle rounding



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   10.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Justice of the Peace 4 APRIL 2017 Monthly Report
Submitted By: Veronica Bolander, J.P. Pct. #4
Department: J.P. Pct. #4
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action to approve Justice of the Peace, Pct. 4, April 2017 Monthly
Report in compliance with Code of Crim. Proc. § 103.005.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
JP4 EOM APR 2017

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Veronica Bolander Started On: 05/05/2017 12:18 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 



IN COMPLIANCE WITH ARTICLE 103 
CODE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON 

Before me, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Judy Schier 
Hobbs, Justice of the Peace, Precinct 4, Williamson County, who, on her oath, stated that 
the attached report of money collected is a true and correct report for the month of 
April, 2017. 

~day of May, 2017 to certify which witness my hand and 
seal of office. 

IC in and for the State of Texas 
JESSICA SCHMIDT 


My Notary 10 # 5436361 

Expires October 3, 2020 




211 W. 6th St. Payment Register: Summary Section 
P.O. Box 588 Williamson County Justice of the Peace, Pet. 4 Date Printed: 4/2812017 
Taylor, Texas 76574 By Date 04/0112017-04/30/2017 Time Printed: 5:05:03PM 

I FEE CODE FEE DESC ITEMS TOT PAID TOT MONEY CASH CHECKS MO HB 2398 CC JT CSR OTlfER GL CODE ~ 

COPIES COPIES 5 24.75 24.75 14.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 10.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

COUNTER COUNTER-CLAIM FILING FE!:' 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

DCERT DEATH CERTIFICATE COPIES 3 61.00 61.00 0.00 61.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

EVICTiON EVICTION FILING FEE 42 1,050.00 1,050.00 150.00 625.00 0.00 0.00 275.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

INDIGENT CIVD. INDIGENT FEE 79 474.00 474.00 42.00 348.00 0.00 0.00 84.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208822 

SERVE 4 CONSTABLE PRECINCT 4 SE" 64 4,480.00 4,480.00 770.00 2,590.00 0.00 0.00 I, 120.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341904 

SMALLCLAM SMALL CLAIMS FILING FEE 6 150.00 150.00 25.00 75.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

WRIT EXEC WRIT OF EXECUTION 4 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

WRIT POSS WRIT OF POSSESSION 5 25.00 25.00 0.00 20.00 0.00 0.00 5.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

WSERVE I CONSTABLE PRECINCT I-WI 3 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341901 

WSERVE 3 CONSTABLE PRECINCT 3 - W 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341903 

WSERVE 4 CONSTABLE PRECINCT 4 - W 5 750.00 750.00 0.00 600.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341904 

"""'" The Following Fees Do Not Match Any Of The Column Definitions, Therefore Are Included In The "All Other" Column"""'" 

I FEE CODE FEE DESC ITEMS TOT PAID TOT MONEY CASH CHECKS MO HB2398 CC JAIL TIME CSR OTHER GL CODE 

AUTOPSY COPIES OF AUTOPSIES 5 25.00 25.00 10.00 5.00 0.00 0.00 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

CERTCOPIE CERTIFIED COPIES 12 24.00 24.00 12.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

DCOPIES DEATH CERTIFICATE COl 42.00 42.00 0.00 42.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

DEBTCLAIM DEBTCLAIM 29 725.00 725.00 0.00 725.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100.0000.341804 

EF E-F1L1NG STATE FEE 79 790.00 790.00 70.00 580.00 0.00 0.00 140.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 01-0399-0000-20802 

JURY FEE JUR Y TRIAL FEE 22.00 22.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 22.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

acc LlCENSIOCCUPATIONAL LlCENSI 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100.0000.341804 

TCF TRUANT CONDUCT FEE 21 1,100.00 1,100.00 450.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 650.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 01-0369-0000-34191 
_ _ "-"'T~7"'" 

TRUANCY CITRUANCY CONTEMPT FII 3 300.00 300.00 200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-351304 

VSPF VITAL STATISTICS PRESE 3 80.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 01-0385-0000-34140 

WRIT GARN WRIT OF GARNISHMENT 5.00 5.00 0.00 5.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

CIVilDetailed report has been sent to Auditor's Office. 

http:1,100.00
http:1,100.00
http:2,590.00
http:4,480.00
http:4,480.00
http:1,050.00
http:1,050.00


TOTALS SUMMAR\" 374 10,487.75 10,487.75 1,743.25 6,091.00 0.00 0.00 2,653.50 
U 

$OJ)O 0.00 0.00 

Direct Deposit $0.00 H82398 $0.00 

$1,743.25
Cash CSR Credit $0.00 
$6,091.00 Post for Refund $0.00Checks 

Jail Credit $0.00Money Orders $0.00 Over Payments $0.00Escrow Payments $0.00 Transaction Fee $0.00Credit Cards: $2,653.50 Non-MonetaI)' $0.00 

I TOTAL CURRENCY $10,487.75 ESCROW PAID $0.00 II TRAN. FEES $0.0011 TOTAL $0.00 II TOTAL PAID $0.00 

Detailed report has been sent to Auditors Office. CIVIL 

http:10,487.75
http:2,653.50
http:6,091.00
http:1,743.25
http:2,653.50
http:6,091.00
http:1,743.25
http:10,487.75
http:10,487.75


211 W. 6th St. Payment Register: GL Code Recap 
P.O. Box 588 Williamson County Justice of the Peace, Pct. 4 Date Printed: 4/2812017 
Taylor, Texas 76574 By Date 04/0112017-04/30/2017 Time Printed: 5:05:03PM 

GL CODE GL CODE DESCRIPTION CURRENCY CREDIT CARD OTHERS()IRECT DEPOSIT HB 2398 TOTALS] 
0100-0000-341804 1,079.25 384.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,463.75 
0100-0000-341901 150.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 
0100-0000-341903 150.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 
0100-0000-341904 3,960.00 1,270.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,230.00 
0100-0000-351304 200.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 300.00 
0100.0000.341804 725.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 750.00 
0399-0000-208822 390.00 84.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 474.00 
01-0399-0000-208022 E-FILING STATE FEE FOR CIVIL 650.00 140.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 790.00 
01-0369-0000-341917 TRUANT CONDUCT FEE 450.00 650.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,100.00 
01-0385-0000-341402 VITAL STATISTICS PRESERVATION 80.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 80.00 

[TOTALs: 7,834.25 2,653.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,487.75J 

CIVILDetailed report has been sent to Auditor's Office. 



211 W. 6th St. 
P.O. Box 588 
Taylor, Texas 76574 

Payment Register: Summary Section 
Williamson County Justice of the Peace, Pet. 4 

By Date 04/0112017-04/30/2017 
Date Printed: 
Time Printed: 

4/2812017 
5:03:2IPM 

I FEE CODE FEEDESC ITEMS TOT PAID TOT MONEY CASH CHECKS MO H82398 CC .IT CSR OTHER GLCODE 

AFCAF COUNTY ARREST FEE 90 320.79 300.79 86,87 0,00 43.47 0,00 170.45 20,00 0,00 0,00 0100-0000-341804 

AFDPS DPS ARREST FEE 132 515,80 510.80 76.45 0.00 52,83 0,00 381.52 5,00 0,00 0,00 0399-0000-208400 

AFPWA PARKS & WILDLIFE ARREST 25 125,00 125.00 10,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 115,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0399-0000-208400 

CAF COUNTY ARREST FEE 5 17,55 17.55 10,00 0,00 0.00 0,00 7.55 0,00 0,00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

CJP CRIMINAL JUSTICE PLANNIN 0,90 0,90 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,90 0,00 0,00 0,00 0399-0000-208100 

CS CHILD SAFETY IS 281.98 281.98 100,00 0,00 20,00 0,00 161.98 0,00 0,00 0,00 0100-0000-341804 

CVC CRIME VICTIMS FUND 6 35.40 35.40 0,00 0,00 0,00 0.00 35.40 0,00 0,00 0.00 0399-0000-208300 

DIS DISMISSAL FEE II 110,00 110.00 30.00 0,00 30.00 0,00 50,00 0.00 0,00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

DLQ DELINQUENT COLLECTIONS 36 2,838,75 2,838.75 397,51 0,00 939,25 0,00 1,501.99 0.00 0,00 0.00 01.0100.0000.20701 

DSC DEFENSIVE DRIVING 30 257.40 257,40 48,61 0.00 69,30 0.00 139.49 0,00 0.00 0,00 0100-0000-341804 

FINE FINE 428 47,393.57 43,393.57 9,325.50 0.00 5,102,97 0,00 28,965,10 4,000,00 0,00 0,00 0100-0000-351304 

OR GENERAL REVENUE 0.45 0.45 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0.45 0,00 0,00 0,00 0399-0000-208250 

JCPT JUDICIAL COURT PERSONNE 5 4,36 4.36 0.00 0,00 0,00 0.00 4.36 0,00 0,00 0,00 0399-0000-208500 

PWF PARKS AND WILDLIFE FINE 24 3,075,00 3,075,00 425,00 0,00 100,00 0,00 2,550,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0100-0000-209600 

TFC TRAFFIC 161 359,68 356,68 64.58 0.00 40.27 0,00 251.83 3,00 0,00 0,00 0100-0000-34 I 804 

*** The Following Fees Do Not Match Any Of The Column Definitions, Therefore Are Included In The ItAll Other" Column*** 

CRIMINALDetailed report has been sent to Auditor's Office, 



':m 

FEE CODE FEE DESC ITEMS TOT PAID TOT MONEY CASH -OIECKS MO H82398 CC JAIL TIME CSR OTHER GL CODE 

Mne eUMrtTK y 'Prlt*#'ftfH" 'Mnlrlf¥", 

ABSTRACT ABSTRACT OF JUDGMEN 4.80 4.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

AFC4. CONTABLE ARREST FEE 12 54.24 54.24 10.00 0.00 8.25 0.00 35.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341914 

C3W. CONSTABLE 3 WARRANl 5 173.22 173.22 0.00 0.00 63.50 0.00 109.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341913 

C4W CONSTABLE 4 WARRANl 2 59.04 59.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 59.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341914 

C4W. CONSTABLE 4 W ARRAN 1 65 2,023.38 2,023.38 407.91 0.00 444.38 0.00 1,171.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341914 

CCC CONSOLIDATED COURT ( 320 9,636.83 9,316.83 1,829.58 0.00 1.024.60 0.00 6,462.65 320.00 0.00 0.00 0399·0000-208160 

CHS COURTHOUSE SECURITY 320 726.66 702.66 13719 0.00 76.87 0.00 488.60 24.00 0.00 0.00 0360-0000-341150 

CHS2A COURTHOUSE SECURITY 314 239.04 23104 45.74 0.00 25.61 0.00 159.69 8.00 0.00 0.00 0361-0000-341 \54 

CMI CORRECTIONAL MANAG 2 0.59 0.59 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.59 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399·0000-208730 

COM COMMITMENT 29 97.92 62.92 7.34 0.00 31.45 0.00 24.13 35.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

CPWF CEDAR PARK POLICE DEi I 16.97 16.97 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16.97 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

CSF CHILD SAFETY FUND 3 50.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 19.25 0.00 30.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 0365.0000.341161 

CWF WILLIAMSON COUNTY \\ 7 135.01 135.01 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 85.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100·0000·341804 

FA FUGITIVE APPREHENSIOI 5 10.90 10.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 10.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399·0000-208170 

GTWF GEORGETOWN POLICE D 45.26 45.26 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 45.26 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

HWF HUTTO POLICE DEPARTl\ 13.75 13.75 0.00 0.00 13.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

IDF INDIGENT DEFENSE FEE 313 476.86 460.86 91.47 0.00 51.26 0.00 318.13 16.00 0.00 0.00 0399.0000.208703 

JCD JUVENILE CRIME & DELL 5 0.84 0.84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208180 

JCM JUVENILE CASE MANAGI 308 1,170.43 1,130.43 228.67 0.00 128.12 0.00 773.64 40.00 0.00 0.00 0103690000370000 

lCP JUDICIAL COURT PERsm I 0.18 0.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208500 

lCTF JUSTICE COURT TECHNO 317 964.88 932.88 182.94 0.00 102.50 0.00 647.44 32.00 0.00 0.00 0372-0000-341144 

lRF STATE JURY REiMBURSE 314 956.16 924.16 182.94 0.00 102.50 0.00 638.72 32.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000·208235 

lSF JUDICIAL SUPPORT FEE 314 1,433.01 1,385.D1 274.40 0.00 153.74 0.00 956.87 48.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208352 

LEO LEO 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399·0000·208200 

MISC REV MISCELLANIOUS REVENI 4 20.90 20.90 10.00 0.00 10.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-370500 

MV STATE CIVIL JUSTICE DA 170 13.10 13.00 2.61 0.00 1.61 0.00 8.78 0.10 0.00 0.00 0399·0000-208415 

OCL OPERATORS & CHAUFFE 1 12.74 12.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208600 

OGW OVER GROSS WEIGHT 2 298.00 298.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 298.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208850 

OVER OVER PAYMENT OF FINE 3 249.90 249.90 40.00 0.00 69.90 0.00 140.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100·0000-209700 

REL RELEASE 29 97.92 62.92 7.34 0.00 31.45 0.00 24.13 35.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000·341804 

RRWF ROUND ROCK POLICE Of 3 75.32 75.32 12.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 63.32 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

SPF SPECIAL PROCESSING FE 6 900.00 900.00 0.00 0.00 250.00 0.00 650.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341804 

STF STATE TRAFFIC FEE 161 3,596.74 3,566.74 645.86 0.00 402.66 0.00 2,518.22 30.00 0.00 0.00 0399·0000·208425 

SUB SUBPOENA FEE 10 12.85 12.85 5.20 0.00 3.25 0.00 4.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341914 

SUM SUMMONS FEE 34 152.88 152.88 60.00 0.00 10.00 0.00 82.88 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100-0000-341914 

TP TIME PAYMENT 105 1,605.46 1,580.46 342.99 0.00 164.30 0.00 1,073.17 25.00 0.00 0.00 0399-0000-208860 

TPDF TRUANCY PREVENTION. 273 431.89 419.89 87.33 0.00 39.83 0.00 292.73 12.00 0.00 0.00 01-0399-0000-20803 

TWF TAYLOR POLICE DEPARl 7 350.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 350.00 0.00 0.00 

TWFIN TOLLWAY ADMINISTRAl 13 499.95 499.95 0.00 0.00 201.80 0.00 298.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0100·0000-207027 

CRIMINALDetailed report has been sent to Auditor's Office. 



TOTALS SUMMARY 44~ 81,944.88 76,909.78 15,186.03 0.00 9,879.57 0.00 51,844.18 $5,035.10 0.00 0.00 

Direct Deposit $0.00 H82398 $0.00 

Cash 
Checks 
Money Orders 
Credit Cards: 

$15,186.03 
$0.00 

$9,879.57 
$51,844.18 Escrow Payments $0.00 Transaction Fee $0.00 

CSR Credit 

Jail Credit 

Non-Monetary 

$0.00 

$5,035.10 
$0.00 

Post for Refund 

Over Payments 

$0.00 

$0.00 

I TOTAL CURRENCY $76,909.7D ESCROWPAID $0.00 II TRAN.FEES $0.001 ITOTAL $5,035.10 II TOTAL PAID $0.00 

CRIMINALDetailed report has been sent to Auditor's Office. 



~~--------------------~~~----------------~~--------------------------------------------~--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

211 W. 6th St. Payment Register: GL Code Recap 
P.O. Box 588 Williamson County Justice of the Peace, Pet. 4 Date Printed: 4/2812017 
Taylor, Texas 76574 By Date 04/01/2017-04/30/2017 Time Printed: 5:03:2IPM 

GLCODE GL CODE DESCRIPTION CURRENCY CREDIT CARD OTHERS[)IRECT DEPOSIT HB2398 TOTALSi 
0100-0000-209600 525.00 2,550.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,075.00 
0100-0000-209700 109.90 140.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 249.90 
0100-0000-341804 946.43 1,694.92 443.00 0.00 0.00 3,084.35 
0100-0000-341913 63.50 109.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 173.22 
0100-0000-341914 948.99 1,353.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,302.39 
0100-0000-351304 14,428.4 7 28,965.10 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 47,393.57 
0100-0000-370500 20.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20.90 
0360-0000-341150 214.06 488.60 24.00 0.00 0.00 726.66 
0361-0000-341154 71.35 159.69 8.00 0.00 0.00 239.04 
0365.0000.341161 19.25 30.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 
0372-0000-341144 285.44 647.44 32.00 0.00 0.00 964.88 
0399-0000-208100 0.00 0.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.90 
0399-0000-208160 2,854.18 6,462.65 320.00 0.00 0.00 9,636.83 
0399-0000-208170 0.00 10.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 10.90 
0399-0000-208180 0.00 0.84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.84 
0399-0000-208200 0.00 0.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.63 
0399-0000-208235 285.44 638.72 32.00 0.00 0.00 956.16 
0399-0000-208250 0.00 0.45 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.45 
0399-0000-208300 0.00 35.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 35.40 
0399-0000-208352 428.14 956.87 48.00 0.00 0.00 1,433.01 
0399-0000-208400 139.28 496.52 5.00 0.00 0.00 640.80 
0399-0000-208425 1,048.52 2,518.22 30.00 0.00 0.00 3,596.74 
0399-0000-208500 0.00 4.54 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.54 
0399-0000-208600 0.00 12.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 12.74 
0399-0000-208730 0.00 0.59 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.59 
0399-0000-208850 0.00 298.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 298.00 
0399-0000-208860 507.29 1,073.17 25.00 0.00 0.00 1,605.46 
0399.0000.208703 142.73 318.13 16.00 0.00 0.00 476.86 
0399-0000-208415 4.22 8.78 0.10 0.00 0.00 13.10 
0100-0000-207027 201.80 298.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 499.95 
01.0100.0000.207017 DLQ FEE 1,336.76 1,501.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,838.75 
0103690000370000 JUVENILE CASE MANAGER FUND 356.79 773.64 40.00 0.00 0.00 1,170.43 
01-0399-0000-208034 TRUANCY PREVENTION AND DIVEI 127.16 292.73 12.00 0.00 0.00 431.89 

[TOTALS: 25,065.60 51,844.18 5,035.10 0.00 0.00 81 ,~881 

CRIMINALDetailed report has been sent to Auditor's Office. 

http:5,035.10
http:51,844.18
http:25,065.60


   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   11.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Asset Auction 5-16-2017
Submitted By: Jayme Jasso, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of various county assets through auction
including (1) HP Officejet color printer, (16) Pallets of fluorescent lighting, (2) Desks, (1) Storage unit, (2) Chairs
(see attached lists) pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't Code 263.152.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Asset Auction

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Jayme Jasso Started On: 05/08/2017 02:04 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 









   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   12.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Vehicle Reimbursement Agreements for County Sheriff
Submitted For: Robert Chody  Submitted By: Starla Hall, Sheriff
Department: Sheriff
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take any appropriate action regarding approval and receipt of Vehicle Reimbursement
Agreements regarding off-duty contracting of County Sheriff Deputies with:

a. T. G. Mercer Consulting Services, Inc. (Traffic control on Hwy 29 at Old Castle Materials in Liberty Hill)
b. Orenda Education (Security/Traffic control of campus at Gateway College Prep) 

Background
These agreements give permission for T.G. Mercer Consulting Services and Orenda Education to contract County
Deputies in a private capacity and the County to invoice them for deputies' vehicle usage. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
T.G. Mercer Consulting
Orenda Education

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Starla Hall Started On: 05/11/2017 09:55 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



















   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   13.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Selection of new WCCF board member
Submitted For: Gary Boyd  Submitted By: Gary Boyd, Parks
Department: Parks
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Acknowledge and consent to appointment of John Hesser, Councilman for City of Georgetown, to the Williamson
County Conservation Foundation board to fill an unexpired term ending in 2018.

Background
Mr. Hesser is in his second term as City Councilman for District 3 for the City of Georgetown. He serves or has
served on the following committees and boards for the City. 

Current Member of the Georgetown Transportation Enhancement Corporation
Current Member of the Georgetown Transportation Advisory Board
Current Member of the General Government and Finance Advisory Board
Former Member of the Georgetown Utility Systems Advisory Board
Former Chairman of the Georgetown Parks and Recreation Board

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Gary Boyd (Originator) Wendy Coco 05/12/2017 03:48 PM
Form Started By: Gary Boyd Started On: 05/11/2017 08:45 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   14.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

acknowledgement of WCCF board appointments
Submitted For: Gary Boyd  Submitted By: Gary Boyd, Parks
Department: Parks
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Acknowledge and consent to appointments to the Williamson County Conservation Foundation Board of Directors
for the terms ending April 2019 and recognize the election of officers for the term ending April 2018.

Background
At its May 3, 2017 Annual Meeting the Williamson County Conservation Foundation (WCCF) board consented to
seat the following individuals for board membership for two year terms (ending approximately April 24, 2019):
Valerie Covey - 2 year term
Cynthia Long - 2 year term
Karen Wind - 2 year term

Also, election of officers was held for position terms ending April 2018:
Valerie Covey - President
Cynthia Long - Vice-president
Gary Boyd - Secretary/Treasurer (non-voting position)

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Gary Boyd Started On: 05/05/2017 09:25 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   15.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Property Tax Refunds – Over 2500 – April 2017
Submitted For: Larry Gaddes 
Submitted By: Sandra Surratt, County Tax Assessor Collector
Department: County Tax Assessor Collector
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving property tax refunds over $2,500.00 for the month of
April 2017 for the Williamson County Tax Assessor/Collector.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
040117-043017 Refunds Over 2500

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Sandra Surratt Started On: 05/10/2017 04:56 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   16.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Property Tax Collections – April 2017
Submitted For: Larry Gaddes 
Submitted By: Sandra Surratt, County Tax Assessor Collector
Department: County Tax Assessor Collector
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving property tax collections for the month of April 2017 for
the Williamson County Tax Assessor/Collector.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
040117-043017 GWI-RFM
040117-043017 GWI-RFM Graph

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Sandra Surratt Started On: 05/10/2017 05:14 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



Williamson 
County 

General Fund Tax Roll Adjustments Adjusted Tax Roll
Current Tax 

Collected
Penalty & Interest 

Collected Variance
Uncollected 

Balance YTD Collected

YTD 
Percent 

Collected

YTD 
Percent 

Collected 
w/P & I

YTD 
Percent 

Collected 
w/P & I & 

Prior 
Years

2016 $226,223,062.05 $445,333.62 $226,668,395.67 $614,411.60 $57,886.35 $27.48 $3,362,490.79 $223,305,904.88 98.52% 98.66% 99.21%
2015 & Prior $2,047,458.40 ($327,695.87) $1,719,762.53 $53,619.07 $22,361.65 $1,871.48 $1,408,000.18 $311,762.35 18.13% 26.52%  

Rollbacks $468,099.22 $511,876.98 $979,976.20 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $179,239.48 $800,736.72 81.71% 82.25%
     

Total All $228,738,619.67 $629,514.73 $229,368,134.40 $668,030.67 $80,248.00 $1,898.96 $4,949,730.45 $224,418,403.95 97.84% 98.05%  

Williamson 
County RFM Tax Roll Adjustments Adjusted Tax Roll

Current Tax 
Collected

Penalty & Interest 
Collected Variance

Uncollected 
Balance YTD Collected

YTD 
Percent 

Collected

YTD 
Percent 

Collected 
w/P & I

YTD 
Percent 

Collected 
w/P & I & 

Prior 
Years

2016 $20,562,004.13 $45,351.89 $20,607,356.02 $55,765.08 $5,278.74 $2.52 $298,379.65 $20,308,976.37 98.55% 98.69% 99.21%
2015 & Prior $172,606.65 ($28,296.29) $144,310.36 $4,511.04 $1,930.38 $145.42 $116,268.36 $28,042.00 19.43% 28.31%  

Rollbacks $37,565.88 $41,884.94 $79,450.82 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $14,880.61 $64,570.21 81.27% 81.80%
    

Total All $20,772,176.66 $58,940.54 $20,831,117.20 $60,276.12 $7,209.12 $147.94 $429,528.62 $20,401,588.58 97.94% 98.14%  

$249,510,796.33 $688,455.27 $250,199,251.60 $728,306.79 $87,457.12 $2,046.90 $5,379,259.07 $244,819,992.53

Oct-16 $249,510,796.33 $174,087.04 $249,684,883.37 $9,479,071.82 $21,239.64 $1,658.11 $240,204,153.44 $9,480,729.93    
Nov-16 $249,684,883.37 $633,585.03 $250,318,468.40 $10,270,321.69 $30,038.80 $4,805.07 $230,562,611.71 $19,755,856.69
Dec-16 $250,318,468.40 ($278,681.38) $250,039,787.02 $132,850,048.98 $23,630.70 $593.98 $97,433,287.37 $152,606,499.65
Jan-17 $250,039,787.02 $148,420.90 $250,188,207.92 $85,802,448.75 $29,213.62 $289.79 $11,778,969.73 $238,409,238.19
Feb-17 $250,188,207.92 ($46,669.47) $250,141,538.45 $3,563,898.84 $196,390.69 ($30,865.31) $8,199,266.73 $241,942,271.72
Mar-17 $250,141,538.45 ($88,426.37) $250,053,112.08 $2,110,181.72 $123,515.82 $37,185.40 $5,963,473.24 $244,089,638.84
Apr-17 $250,053,112.08 $146,139.52 $250,199,251.60 $728,306.79 $87,457.12 $2,046.90 $5,379,259.07 $244,819,992.53

2016 COMBINED MONTHLY BREAKDOWN

YEAR TO DATE - COLLECTION REPORT
Williamson County - GWI/RFM Property Taxes

April 30, 2017

05/09/17 YTD Monthly Rpt 1:11 PM



98.52%

1.48%

Year to Date Collection Report
October 1, 2016 ‐ April 30, 2017

YTD Collected YTD Uncollected

98.55%

1.45%

Year to Date Collection Report
October 1, 2016 ‐ April 30, 2017

YTD Collected YTD Uncollected

RFMGWI

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Percent of Roll Collected Comparison
April  2013‐2017

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Percent of Roll Collected Comparison
April 2013‐2017

Tax Year Tax Year



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   17.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

TexPool Resolutions Amending Authorized Representatives 
Submitted For: Larry Gaddes  Submitted By: Judy Kocian, County Tax Assessor

Collector
Department: County Tax Assessor Collector
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Approve, consider and take appropriate action to approve the TexPool Resolutions
Amending Authorized Representatives fro the Tax Assessor/Collector's office. 

Background
TexPool Resolution authorizing the Chief Deputy, Matt Johnson to transmit or withdraw
investment funds in the TexPool and TexPool Prime and to take all other actions
deemed necessary or appropriate for the investment of local funds. In addition, the
Resolution also allows tax office employees, Peggy Hay and Kari Schroeder to be
inquiry only representatives on the TexPool and TexPool Prime accounts.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
TexPool Resolution
TexPool Resolution

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Tax Assessor (Originator) Judy Kocian 05/11/2017 10:21 AM
Form Started By: Judy Kocian Started On: 05/05/2017 10:29 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 











   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   18.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

TWC Data Exchange 
Submitted For: Cynthia Long  Submitted By: Kathy Pierce, Commissioner Pct. #2
Department: Commissioner Pct. #2
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on TWC Data Exchange Request and Safeguard Plan for Williamson
County Constable Precinct 2.

Background
This is the first phase of the renewal process for the TWC Data Exchange Request and Safeguard Plan contract.
This is a renewal to continue access to TWC data used to research work history on individuals with outstanding
warrants and to locate individuals to be served with civil papers.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
TWC Agreement 

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 09:01 AM
Form Started By: Kathy Pierce Started On: 05/09/2017 02:55 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 















   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   19.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Funding mod
Submitted For: Dan Gattis  Submitted By: Hal Hawes, County Judge
Department: County Judge
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a defunding modification to the Intergovernmental Services
Agreement between Williamson County and US Immigration and Customs Enforcement relating the T. Don Hutto
Residential Facility in relation to funding of a medical trailer installation project. 

Background
This modification is to de-obligate funds from task order HSCEDM-15F-IG004 in the amount of $29K that was
originally made available for a medical trailer installation project. CCA has completed the project at the facility and
has already been paid for the work so the funds are no longer needed. CCA has approved the modification.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Trailer Project Defunding

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Hal Hawes Started On: 05/08/2017 10:42 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   20.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Phone System Mod
Submitted For: Dan Gattis  Submitted By: Hal Hawes, County Judge
Department: County Judge
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a modification to the Intergovernmental Services Agreement
between Williamson County and US Immigration and Customs Enforcement in relation to installation and use of the
ICE Detainee Telephone System at the T. Don Hutto Residential Facility. 

Background
The purpose of this $0 modification to DROIGSA-10-0002 is to incorporate the ICE Detainee Telephone System
(DTS) into the Agreement for use at the T. Don Hutto Correction Center in Taylor, TX beginning June 1st, 2017.
CCA has approved the modification.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Phone Syst T Don Hutto Mod

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Hal Hawes Started On: 05/08/2017 10:43 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 



 ___________

(x)

x DROIGSA-10-0002

copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledging receipt of this amendment on each copy of the offer submitted ; or (c) By 

separate letter or telegram which includes a reference to the solicitation and amendment numbers.  FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT 

THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER.  If by 

virtue of this amendment you desire to change an offer already submitted , such change may be made by telegram or letter, provided each telegram or letter makes 

reference to the solicitation and this amendment, and is received prior to the opening hour and date specified.

See Schedule

0769300490000

WILLIAMSON COUNTY OF

Washington DC 20536

ICE/DCR

801 I Street NW, suite 930
Office of Acquisition Management
Immigration and Customs Enforcement
ICE/Detention Compliance & Removals

WASHINGTON DC 20536

ICE/DCR

801 I Street, NW Suite 930
Office of Acquisition Management
Immigration and Customs Enforcement
ICE/Detention Compliance & Removals

See Block 16CP00020

 41

13. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO MODIFICATION OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS.  IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (If required)

is not extended.is extended, 

Items 8 and 15, and returning

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended , by one of the following methods: (a) By completing

The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14.  The hour and date specified for receipt of Offers

11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS

FACILITY CODE CODE 

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)

10A. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ORDER NO.

9B. DATED (SEE ITEM 11)

9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.

CODE 

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., street, county, State and ZIP Code)

7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 6)CODE 6. ISSUED BY

PAGE   OF  PAGES

4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO.3. EFFECTIVE DATE2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION  NO. 5. PROJECT NO. (If applicable)

1.  CONTRACT ID CODE
AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT

01/28/2010

710 S MAIN STREET SUITE 301
GEORGETOWN TX 786265703

CHECK ONE A. THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: (Specify authority)  THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE CONTRACT

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES (such as changes in paying office, 

C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO AUTHORITY OF:

D. OTHER (Specify type of modification and authority)

 appropriation date, etc.)  SET FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF FAR 43.103(b).

E. IMPORTANT: Contractor is not, is required to sign this document and return    __________________ copies to the issuing office.

 ORDER NO. IN ITEM 10A.

Bilateral Modification

x

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION (Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible.)

X

DUNS Number:  076930049

Program POC: Nancy Kennamer

Phone: 210-283-4479

Email: Nancy.Kennamer@ice.dhs.gov

COR: John Stockley

Phone: 512-218-3131

Email: John.A.Stockley@ice.dhs.gov

Contracting Officer: Benjamin Golway

Phone: 202-732-2562

Continued ...

16A. NAME  AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER (Type or print)15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Type or print)

15C. DATE SIGNED 16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 16C. DATE SIGNED

(Signature of person authorized to sign) (Signature of Contracting Officer)

Benjamin Golway

STANDARD FORM 30 (REV. 10-83)

Prescribed by GSA

FAR (48 CFR) 53.243

NSN 7540-01-152-8070

Previous edition unusable

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions of the document referenced in Item 9 A or 10A, as heretofore changed, remains unchanged and in full force and effect .



ITEM NO. SUPPLIES/SERVICES QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

NAME OF OFFEROR OR CONTRACTOR

 2  4
CONTINUATION SHEET

REFERENCE NO. OF DOCUMENT BEING CONTINUED PAGE OF

WILLIAMSON COUNTY OF

(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F)

DROIGSA-10-0002/P00020

        Email: Benjamin.Golway@ice.dhs.gov

        The purpose of this $0 modification to

        DROIGSA-10-0002 is to incorporate the ICE

        Detainee Telephone System (DTS) into the

        Agreement for use at the T. Don Hutto Correction

        Center in Taylor, TX beginning June 1st, 2017.

        The provisions of the ICE DTS as detailed in

        Attachment 1 to this modification P00020 are

        hereby incorporated into the Agreement.

        All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

        Exempt Action: Y Sensitive Award: SPII

        Period of Performance: 02/01/2010 to 01/31/2020

        All other terms and conditions of DROIGSA-10-0002

        shall remain the same.

NSN 7540-01-152-8067 OPTIONAL FORM 336 (4-86)

Sponsored by GSA

FAR (48 CFR) 53.110



Attachment 1 

DROIGSA-10-0002, Modification P00020 

3 

 

DROIGSA-10-0002, Modification P00020 

Detainee Telephone Services (DTS) 
 

A. The Service Provider shall provide detainees with reasonable and equitable access to 

telephones as specified in the ICE 2011 Performance-Based National Detention 

Standard on Telephone Access.  Telephones shall be located in an area that provides 

for a reasonable degree of privacy and a minimal amount of environmental noise 

during phone calls.   

 

B. If authorized to do so under applicable law, the Service Provider shall monitor and 

record detainee conversations.  If detainee telephone conversations can be monitored 

under applicable law, the Service Provider shall provide notice to detainees of the 

potential for monitoring.  However, the Service Provider shall also provide 

procedures at the facility for detainees to be able to place unmonitored telephone calls 

to their attorneys.   

 

C. Telephone rates shall not exceed the FCC rates for inmate telephone service, as well 

as State established rates where applicable, and shall conform to all applicable 

federal, state, and local telephone regulations. 

 

D. Not applicable.   

 

E. Not applicable.  

 

F. The ICE designated DTS Contractor shall be the exclusive provider of detainee 

telephones for this facility. This will occur at the expiration of any current contract 

with a Telecommunications Company.  The Service Provider shall make all 

arrangements with the DTS Contractor per the DTS Contract.  The DTS Contractor 

shall be allowed to install vending debit machines and shall receive 100 percent of all 

revenues collected by sale of prepaid debit services.  The DTS Contractor shall be 

responsible for furnishing all inventory and supply of all DTS calling services to the 

Service Provider.  The DTS Contractor shall be responsible for the costs incurred for 

installation of the equipment, any monthly telephone charges incurred from the 

operation of DTS, and the maintenance and operation of the system.  The Service 

Provider shall not be entitled to any commissions, fees, or revenues generated by the 

use of the DTS or the detainee telephones. 

 

G. The Service Provider shall inspect telephones for serviceability, in accordance with 

ICE 2011 Performance-Based National Detention Standards and ICE policies and 

procedures.  The Service Provider shall notify the COR or ICE designee of any 

inoperable telephones. 

 

CC. DTS Contractor Information: 

Talton Communications 

910 Ravenwood Dr. 

Selma, AL  36701 



Attachment 1 

DROIGSA-10-0002, Modification P00020 

4 

 

 

Robin Hall     Mike Oslund 

Customer Relations Manager  Operations Manager 

(334) 375-7842    (334) 375-4200 

robin@taltoncommunications.com michael@taltoncommunications.com 

mailto:robin@taltoncommunications.com
mailto:michael@taltoncommunications.com


   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   21.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Prime Strategies WA 1 for the Long Range Transportation Plan Corridor Program
Submitted For: Robert Daigh  Submitted By: Sarah Ramos, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Receive and acknowledge Work Authorization No. 1 under Williamson County Contract for Engineering Services
between Prime Strategies, Inc. and Williamson County dated May 16, 2017 to provide engineering management
services required for the Williamson County Long Range Transportation Plan (L TP) Corridor Program including
manage design consultants, agency reviews and approval, construction lettings, and budget/contract control

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
PSI-WA1-LTPCorridorProgram

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Sarah Ramos Started On: 05/11/2017 11:07 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



















   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   22.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Kleinfelder Inc On Call WA No 1 
Submitted For: Robert Daigh  Submitted By: Vicky Edwards, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take any necessary action regarding Work Authorization No. 1 under Williamson County
Contract for Engineering Services between Kleinfelder Inc and Williamson County, dated February 23, 2017, for
On-Call Geotechnical Engineering and Materials Testing for Williamson County Road and Bridge, and authorize
County Judge to sign on behalf of Williamson County.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Kleinfeld WA No 1

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Hal Hawes Hal Hawes 05/08/2017 03:57 PM
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Vicky Edwards Started On: 05/08/2017 01:31 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 





























   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   23.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Balcones Geotechnical Supp WA 1 to WA 1 GT Annex
Submitted For: Robert Daigh  Submitted By: Vicky Edwards, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take any necessary action regarding Supplemental Work Authorization No 1 to Work
Authorization No 1 under Williamson County Contract between Balcones Geotechnical PLLC and Williamson
County dated December 3, 2015 for Geotechnical Engineering Services for Williamson County Georgetown Annex.
This supplemental is to extend the expiration date to October 25, 2018 only. The current Work Authorization dollar
amount will remain the same.

Background
This supplemental is to extend the expiration date to October 25, 2018 only. The current Work Authorization dollar
amount will remain the same.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Balcones Geotechnical PLLC Supp WA 1 to WA 1 Geotechnical Engineering Services for GT Annex

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Hal Hawes Hal Hawes 05/09/2017 02:19 PM
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 09:01 AM
Form Started By: Vicky Edwards Started On: 05/09/2017 12:59 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 









   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   24.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat of Wm J Turner Subdivision - Pct 3
Submitted For: Terron Evertson  Submitted By: Patrick Hughes, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat of Wm. J. Turner Subdivision - Pct 3.

Background
This is a small rural 2-lot subdivision located off CR 282. Final plat review fees have been paid. The preliminary plat
was approved by the Commissioners Court on December 8, 2015.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Final Plat - Wm J Turner Subdivision

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Patrick Hughes Started On: 05/05/2017 01:45 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   25.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the preliminary plat for the Sunset Meadows subdivision -
Pct 4
Submitted For: Terron Evertson  Submitted By: Patrick Hughes, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the preliminary plat for the Sunset Meadows
subdivision - Pct 4.

Background
This is a rural subdivision consisting of 16, two-acre parcels along the west side of CR 405 approximately 3/4-mile
north of FM 1660. An additional 33.5 feet of right-of-way is being dedicated along CR 405 to accommodate its
future widening to an arterial road.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Prelim Plat - Sunset Meadows

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Patrick Hughes Started On: 05/08/2017 10:48 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 



BRYAN TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC.

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUNSET MEADOWS






















BRYAN TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC.

’

’

These notes describe that certain tract of  land located in the J. A. CROSBY SURVEY, ABSTRACT No. 149, situated in Williamson County,
Texas; subject tract being all of  a called “32.791 acres” being conveyed in a Warranty Deed with Vendor's Lien from Wayne Finch, et ux Kay
Finch to CR 405 Series, A SERIES OF CARACARA RANCHES LLC dated 01-13-2017 and recorded in Document No. 2017004846 , Official
Public Records of  Williamson County (OPRWC); being surveyed on the ground under the direct supervision of  Bruce Lane Bryan, Registered
Professional Land Surveyor No. 4249, during the month of December, 2016 and being more fully described as follows :

BEGINNING at a found ½” iron rod at the Southeast corner of  said “32.469 Acres”, same being the Southeast corner of  a called “64.64 Acres” as
conveyed to Viola Kriedel,  and Wayne Finch, et ux, Kay Finch dated 12-15-1980 and recorded in Volume 822, Page 756, Deed Records of
Williamson County (DRWC), said “64.64 Acres” being the parent tract from which said “32.469 Acres” was created, and the Northeast corner of  a
called “0.452 Acre” Easement as recorded in Document No. 2002052698, OPRWC in the West line of  County Road No. 405; found a ½” iron rod
at the Southeast corner of  said “0.452 Acre” Easement bearing South 06° 52' 00” West, a distance of  30.24 feet, same being the Northeast corner
of  Lot 1 of  Hilltop Acres Subdivision, a dedicated subdivision plat of  which is recorded in Cabinet “I”, Slide 181, Plat Records of  Williamson
County (PRWC) from which a ½” iron rod found at the Southeast corner of  said Lot 1 bears South 07° 17' 43” West, 156.15 feet (called 156.73
feet);

THENCE North 80° 59' 24” West with the non-fenced common line of  aforementioned “32.469 Acres”, “64.64 Acres” and “0.452 Acre”
Easement, along the North side of  a gravel roadway, a distance of  655.34 feet to a found ½” iron rod at the Southwest corner of  said “32.469
Acres” and “64.64 Acres”, same being the Northwest corner of  said “0.452 Acre” Easement, the Northeast corner of  a called “5.691 Acres”
conveyed to Jeffery A. Snyder dated 4-9-2003 and recorded in Document No. 2003033761, OPRWC and an exterior corner of  a called “92.162
Acres” conveyed to Jay Mikulencak dated 1-9-2003 and recorded in Document No. 2003005230, OPRWC; a cotton spindle gear found near a
fence corner at the Southwest corner of  said “0.452 Acre” Easement, same being the Northwest corner of  Lot 1A of  aforementioned Hilltop Acres
Subdivision, bears South 07° 28' 37” West, 30.25 feet;

THENCE North 07° 50' 55” East with the non-fenced common line of  aforementioned “32.469 Acres”, “64.64 Acres” and “92.162 Acres”, a
distance of  2202.48 feet (called 2208.48 feet per description of  “32.469 Acres”) to a set ½” iron rod (12” below surface, capped BRYAN
TECHNICAL SERVICE) at the Northwest corner of  said “32.469 Acres”, same being the Southwest corner of  an additional “32.469 Acres” as
conveyed in a Partition Deed from Wayne Finch, et ux, Kay finch to Viola Kriedel dated 10-25-2000 and recorded in Document No. 2000075215,
OPRWC; found a ½” iron rod at an interior corner of  said “92.162 Acres” bearing North 07° 50' 55” East, 727.39 feet (called 727.85 feet per
“92.162 Acres” description); in addition, found a ½” iron rod found destroyed by farming activities nearby (did not honor);

THENCE South 81° 28' 35” East with the non-fenced common line of  both “32.469 Acre” tracts, a distance of  642.97 feet (called 640.10 feet per
description of  “32.469 Acres”) to a found ½” iron rod at the Northeast corner of  said “32.469 Acres - Finch”, same being the Southeast corner of
said “32.469 Acres - Kriedel” in the East line of  aforementioned “64.64 Acres” in the said West line of  County Road No. 405; found a ½” iron rod
at the Easternmost corner of  said “92.162 Acres” bearing North 07° 32' 17” East, a distance of  738.16 feet; found a ½” iron rod at the Northeast
corner of  said “32.469 Acres - Kriedel”, same being the Northeast corner of  said “64.64 Acres” bearing North 07° 29' 34"'East, a distance of
2218.15 feet (called 2218.43 feet per “64.64 Acre” description);

THENCE South 07° 49' 23” West with the East lines of  said “32.469 Acres - Finch” and “64.64 Acres”, same being the West line of  County
Road No. 405, a distance of  522.35 feet to a set ½” iron rod (6” below surface, capped BRYAN TECHNICAL SERVICE) at an interior corner of
said “64.64 Acres” and “32.469 Acres - Finch”;

THENCE South 07° 26' 21” West continuing with the East lines of  said “32.469 Acres - Finch” and “64.64 Acres”, same being the West line of
County Road No. 405, a distance of  1685.88 feet (called 1685.88 feet per “64.64 Acre” description) to the PLACE OF BEGINNING containing
according to the dimensions herein stated an area of 32.791 Acres of Land.

NOTE: Bearings and coordinates recited herein based on Texas Plane Coordinate System (central zone) NAD 83/93 adjustment and are grid
values.

’

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF
SUNSET MEADOWS



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   26.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the L and D Acres subdivision - Pct 3
Submitted For: Terron Evertson  Submitted By: Patrick Hughes, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the L & D Acres subdivision - Pct 3.

Background
This is a rural, single-lot plat located along the north side of CR 316 approximately 1/4 mile east of CR 317.
Additional right-of-way has been dedicated along the north side of CR 317. The final plat review fee has been paid.
The preliminary plat was approved on May 2, 2017.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Final Plat - L & D Acres

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 09:01 AM
Form Started By: Patrick Hughes Started On: 05/10/2017 08:09 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



BRYAN TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC.

L & D ACRES
FINAL PLAT
PLAN VIEW

SHEET 1 OF 2



















LOT 1
BLOCK 1

ADDITIONAL R.O.W. DEDICATION





   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   27.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the Scott and White at Rancho Sienna
subdivision - Pct 3
Submitted For: Terron Evertson  Submitted By: Patrick Hughes, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the Scott & White at Rancho Sienna
subdivision - Pct 3.

Background
This is a single-lot commercial subdivision located along the south side of SH 29 in the Rancho Sienna
development. No additional right-of-way was acquired as part of this plat because all right-of-way for the future SH
29 widening will occur along the north side of SH 29 at this location. The plat review fee has been paid.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Final Plat - Scott & White at Rancho Sienna

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 12:13 PM
Form Started By: Patrick Hughes Started On: 05/10/2017 10:44 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   28.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the revised preliminary plat for the Rancho Sienna Sec 19
subdivision - Pct 3
Submitted For: Terron Evertson  Submitted By: Patrick Hughes, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approval of the revised preliminary plat for the Rancho
Sienna Section 19 subdivision - Pct 3.

Background
This is a revision to Section 19 of the Rancho Sienna development. A portion of this section will now be
developed as a condominium regime. The public roads will now terminate as shown on this plat.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Revised Prelim Plat - Rancho Sienna Sec 19

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Form Started By: Patrick Hughes Started On: 05/11/2017 08:44 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 













   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   29.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Proclamation
Submitted For: Larry Madsen  Submitted By: Julia Cooper, Commissioner Pct. #4
Department: Commissioner Pct. #4
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a resolution honoring City of Taylor Mayor Jesse Ancira, Jr.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Resolution

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Julia Cooper Started On: 05/08/2017 01:53 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 



State of Texas 
County of Williamson 

Know all men by these presents: 
 

That on the 16th day of May, 2017 the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas met in the duly 

called session at the Williamson County Courthouse, 710 Main Street, Georgetown, Texas, with the 

following members present: 

Dan A. Gattis, County Judge 

Terry Cook, Commissioner Precinct One 

Cynthia Long, Commissioner Precinct Two 

Valery Covey, Commissioner Precinct Three 

Larry Madsen, Commissioner Precinct Four 

 

And at said meeting, among other business, the Court considered the following: 

 

PROCLAMATION 

WHEREAS, Jesse Ancira, Jr. is a lifetime resident of Taylor, Texas and graduated from 

Taylor High school. He received his Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting 

from Southwest Texas State University in 1987 and his Juris Doctor from the University 

of Texas School of Law in 1995; and 

WHEREAS, after college, Mr. Ancira was recruited to fight white-collar crime as a 

special agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation; and 

WHEREAS, after leaving the FBI to better take care of his family, Mr. Ancira went to 

work for the State of Texas and served as Associate Deputy Comptroller, Assistant State 

Auditor and was hired in 2009 as general counsel, senior tax advisor and Economic 

Development Adviser to the Texas Speaker of the House of Representatives Joe Straus; 

and 

WHEREAS, in 2012 Mr. Ancira was promoted to the Speaker’s Chief of Staff, running 

day-to-day operations of Straus’ office. He advised Straus and members of the House on 

a range of policy, legal and ethical issues. He also served as the Speaker’s liaison with the 

office of the Governor, the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Texas Legislative Council, 

Texas State Auditor’s Office and Texas Sunset Commission; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Ancira retired in March of 2016 from his position as Chief of Staff and 

currently operates a legislative advocacy and tax consulting business; and 

 



WHEREAS, Mr. Ancira has spent countless hours and energy serving his community in 

various organizations: He served on the boards of the Temple College at Taylor 

Foundation, the Lone Star Circle of Care and the Taylor YMCA. He was also on the 

Taylor Independent School District board of trustees for six years, half of which were 

spent as President. He also served as President of the Literacy Council of Williamson 

County; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Ancira was inducted into the Taylor Duck Hall of Fame in 2012 and is 

a recipient of the Taylor Rotary Club’s 2012 Citizen of the Year; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Ancira was elected to the City of Taylor City Council in 2011 as the At 

Large Representative and reelected in 2014. He served as Mayor of Taylor for 4 of his 6 

years he was on the Council; and 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED; that the Williamson County Commissioners 

Court would like to honor and extend its appreciation to Jesse Ancira, Jr., for over 20 

years of public service and leadership to his community and for making Taylor’s 

economic growth a priority. 

RESOLVED THIS 16TH DAY OF MAY, 2017. 

 

__________________________________ 

Dan A. Gattis 

County Judge 

      _______________________________ 

      Larry Madsen 

      Commissioner Precinct Four 

 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   30.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Proclamation
Submitted By: Wendy Coco, County Judge
Department: County Judge
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss and consider approving the week of May 15 - 21, 2017 as National Salvation Army Week.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Proclamation

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. (Originator) Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 04:51 PM
Form Started By: Wendy Coco Started On: 05/10/2017 04:45 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 





   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   31.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Drug Court Month 
Submitted For: Cynthia Long  Submitted By: Kathy Pierce, Commissioner Pct. #2
Department: Commissioner Pct. #2
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on proclamation recognizing May 2017 as "Drug Court Month".

Background
Judge Laura Barker precedes over both the DWI//Drug Court and the Williamson County Veterans Treatment
Court. Both specialty court dockets are funded by grants through the Governor's Office. A similar proclamation was
signed by Governor Greg Abbot on April 12, 2017.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Proclamation 

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 09:01 AM
Form Started By: Kathy Pierce Started On: 05/09/2017 04:17 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 





   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   32.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Williamson County Expo Center
Submitted For: Randy Bell  Submitted By: Randy Bell, Parks
Department: Parks
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item

Receive and acknowledge midyear Operations Summary Report for the Williamson County Expo
Center from General Manager Clint Chitsey .

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 12:13 PM
Form Started By: Randy Bell Started On: 05/10/2017 10:45 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   33.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on Texas A&M AgriLife Extension Quarterly Interpretation of Programs to
elected officials
Submitted By: Angela Dismukes, Ag Extension
Department: Ag Extension
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss consider and take appropriate action on Texas A&M AgriLife Extension Quarterly Interpretation of
Programs to elected officials.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Angela Dismukes Started On: 05/05/2017 09:08 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   34.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Retention Request Court Administrator 
Submitted By: Tara Raymore, Human Resources
Department: County Court At Law #2
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
10:00 Conduct public hearing relating to a request from the CCL #2 Office to increase the budgeted salary amount
for the position of Court Administrator I, Position #0701, in the CCL #2 Office and discuss (1) the reason for the
payment in excess of the budgeted amount is being offer to the employee, including the public purpose that will be
served by making the excess payment; and (2) the exact amount of the excess payment, the sources of the
payment, and the terms for distribution of the payment that effect and maintain the public purpose to be served by
making the excess payment.

Background
The retention policy allows a Department Head or Elected Official to increase the salary of a position up to 10% for
retention if approved by Commissioner's Court following a public hearing.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Retention Request CCL2

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:35 AM
Form Started By: Tara Raymore Started On: 05/10/2017 02:38 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



 
An increase in pay that is awarded to an employee as an incentive to retain them in their current position 
when the employee has received a bona-fide job offer from another department or employer or there is a 

high risk that the employee will be recruited or seek employment for a similar position with another 
employer/department with a higher salary.  

 

Position Number 
 Commissioners Court 

Date 
 

Position Title    

Department 
Head/Elected 
Official 

 Department/Office  

Budgeted Salary    

Requested 
Salary 

   

Total Increase    

Total Percent 
Increase 

   

Source of 
Payment 

   

Terms of 
Distribution 

   

 

REASON THE PAYMENT IN EXCESS OF THE BUDGETED AMOUNT IS BEING OFFERED TO THE 
EMPLOYEE, INCLUDING THE PUBLIC PURPOSE THAT WILL BE SERVED BY MAKING THE EXCESS 
PAYMENT 

                                            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

kaylan.diederich
Typewritten Text
Retention Request

kaylan.diederich
Typewritten Text



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   35.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Retention Request Court Administrator 
Submitted By: Tara Raymore, Human Resources
Department: County Court At Law #2
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a request by the CCL #2 Office to increase the budgeted salary
amount for the position of Court Administrator I, position #0701, in the CCL #2 Office from the budgeted annual
salary amount of $51,874.94 to the increased salary amount of $55,683.15, the top of the pay grade and
approximately $1,379.28 as a lump sum.

Background
The retention policy allows a Department Head or Elected Official to increase the salary of a position up to 10% for
retention if approved by Commissioner's Court following a public hearing. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Retention Request CCL2

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:35 AM
Form Started By: Tara Raymore Started On: 05/10/2017 02:45 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



 
An increase in pay that is awarded to an employee as an incentive to retain them in their current position 
when the employee has received a bona-fide job offer from another department or employer or there is a 

high risk that the employee will be recruited or seek employment for a similar position with another 
employer/department with a higher salary.  

 

Position Number 
 Commissioners Court 

Date 
 

Position Title    

Department 
Head/Elected 
Official 

 Department/Office  

Budgeted Salary    

Requested 
Salary 

   

Total Increase    

Total Percent 
Increase 

   

Source of 
Payment 

   

Terms of 
Distribution 

   

 

REASON THE PAYMENT IN EXCESS OF THE BUDGETED AMOUNT IS BEING OFFERED TO THE 
EMPLOYEE, INCLUDING THE PUBLIC PURPOSE THAT WILL BE SERVED BY MAKING THE EXCESS 
PAYMENT 

                                            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

kaylan.diederich
Typewritten Text
Retention Request

kaylan.diederich
Typewritten Text



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   36.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues update
Submitted For: Robert Daigh  Submitted By: Lydia Linden, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues update.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/18/2017 11:05 AM
Form Started By: Lydia Linden Started On: 04/18/2017 11:02 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/18/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   37.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Road Bond and Pass Through Financing Construction Summary Report
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Receive and acknowledge the May 2017 Construction Summary Report for the Road Bond and Pass Through
Financing Programs.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
May 2017 CSR

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 05/10/2017 04:24 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



ROAD BOND & 
PASS THROUGH FINANCING

Construction Summary Report

WWW.ROADBOND.ORG

May 2017

Volume XVI - Issue No.05

County Judge
Dan Gattis

Commissioners
Terry Cook

Cynthia Long
Valerie Covey
Larry Madsen

Presented By:



i 

 

Table of  Contents 

 

 
 

Completed Projects ........................................................................................................ 1 

PRECINCT No. 1 – Commissioner Terry Cook .......................................................... 4 

Forest North Drainage Phase 1  ................................................................................ 6 

Pearson Ranch Road (Iveans to SH 45 ROW)  ......................................................... 8 

RM 620 Phase 2 (Wyoming Springs to Deep Wood) ............................................... 10 

PRECINCT No. 2 – Commissioner Cynthia Long .................................................... 12 

CR 258 (Sunset Ridge to Ronald Reagan Blvd) ...................................................... 14 

PRECINCT No. 3 – Commissioner Valerie Covey .................................................... 16 

CR 245 (North of FM 2338) ..................................................................................... 18 

Arterial H Ph 1 (Sam Bass Road to existing Arterial H) ......................................... 19 

PRECINCT No. 4 – Commissioner Larry Madsen .................................................... 20 

Multi Site Traffic Signals (CR 110/University & Gattis School/Winterfield) ......... 22 

Bill Pickett Trail (East Williamson County Event Center Access Rd) ................... 23 

CR 110 South (US 79 to Limmer Loop) ................................................................... 24 

 
 
 

 



WWIILLLLIIAAMMSSOONN  CCOOUUNNTTYY  
RROOAADD  BBOONNDD  PPRROOGGRRAAMM  

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEEDD  PPRROOJJEECCTTSS  
CCOONNSSTTRRUUCCTTIIOONN  SSUUBBSSTTAANNTTIIAALLLLYY  CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE//OOPPEENN  TTOO  TTRRAAFFFFIICC  --  AASS  OOFF  AAPPRRIILL  22001177

PPrreecciinncctt  11
 PPoonndd  SSpprriinnggss  RRooaadd  ((ssiiggnnaall))  ––  AApprr  22000022
 MMccNNeeiill  RRooaadd,,  PPhhaassee  11  ––  JJaann  22000055
 MMccNNeeiill  RRooaadd,,  PPhhaassee  22  ––  FFeebb  22000077
 RRMM  662200,,  PPhhaassee  11  ––  JJaann  22000099
 PPoonndd  SSpprriinnggss  RRooaadd  ––  SSeepp  22001100
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117744  aatt  BBrruusshhyy  CCrreeeekk  ––  JJuunn  22001111
 OO’’CCoonnnnoorr  DDrriivvee  EExxtteennssiioonn  ––  AApprr  22001122
 KKiinngg  ooff  KKiinnggss  CCrroossssiinngg  ––  AAuugg  22001122
 RRMM  662200  SSaaffeettyy  IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ––  DDeecc  22001144

PPrreecciinncctt  22
 RRMM  11886699  aatt  SSHH  2299  ((ssiiggnnaall))  ––  AAuugg  22000022
 RRiivveerr  BBeenndd  OOaakkss  ––  FFeebb  22000033
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117755  ––  JJuunn  22000033
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  220000  ––  SSeepp  22000033
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd,,  SSoouutthh  PPhh..  11  ––  DDeecc  22000044
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  221144  ––  FFeebb  22000055
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  225588  ––  SSeepp  22000066
 SSaann  GGaabbrriieell  PPkkwwyy,,  PPhh..  11  ––  FFeebb  22000077
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd  NNoorrtthh  PPhh..  11  ––  MMaarr  22000077
 LLaakkeelliinnee  BBllvvdd  ––  JJuull  22000077
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd  SSoouutthh  PPhh..  22  ––  FFeebb  22000088
 UUSS  118833  aatt  CCRR  227744  ––  FFeebb  22000088
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117755  PPhhaassee  22AA  ––  JJaann  22001100
 UUSS  118833  aatt  FFMM  33440055  TTrraaffffiicc  SSiiggnnaall  ––  MMaarr  22001100
 UUSS  118833  aatt  FFMM  33440055  LLeefftt  TTuurrnn  LLaanneess  ––  MMaayy  22001100
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  221144  PPhhaassee  22AA  ––  JJaann  22001111
 SSaann  GGaabbrriieell  PPaarrkkwwaayy  PPhh..  22  ––  OOcctt  22001111
 UUSS  118833  ((PPTTFF))  ––  AApprr  22001122
 SSHH  2299  TTWWLLTTLL  LLiibbeerrttyy  HHiillll  ––  DDeecc  22001122
 HHeerroo  WWaayy  ––  FFeebb  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaaddss  226600//226666  ––  AApprr  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  227777  ––  JJuull  22001144
 LLaakkeelliinnee  BBllvvdd  aatt  UUSS  118833  ––  NNoovv  22001144
 LLaakkeelliinnee  BBllvvdd  PPhh..  22  ––  AApprr  22001155

1



WWIILLLLIIAAMMSSOONN  CCOOUUNNTTYY  
RROOAADD  BBOONNDD  PPRROOGGRRAAMM  

  

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEEDD  PPRROOJJEECCTTSS  
CCOONNSSTTRRUUCCTTIIOONN  SSUUBBSSTTAANNTTIIAALLLLYY  CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE//OOPPEENN  TTOO  TTRRAAFFFFIICC  --  AASS  OOFF  AAPPRRIILL  22001177 

 

PPrreecciinncctt  33  

  CCeeddaarr  HHoollllooww  aatt  SSHH  2299  ((ssiiggnnaall))  ––  AAuugg  22000022  
  GGeeoorrggeettoowwnn  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  PPrroojjeecctt  22  ––  AAuugg  22000033  
  GGeeoorrggeettoowwnn  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  PPrroojjeecctt  11  ––  JJuunn  22000044  
  GGeeoorrggeettoowwnn  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  EEaasstt  EExxtteennssiioonn  ––  SSeepp  22000044  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  115522  BBrriiddggee  RReeppllaacceemmeenntt  ––  SSeepp  22000044  
  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  EEaasstt  ((CCRR  115511  ttoo  BBuuss  3355))  ––  OOcctt  22000055  
  RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd  NNoorrtthh,,  PPhh..  22  ––  MMaayy  22000088  
  1122””  WWaatteerr  MMaaiinn  RReellooccaattiioonn  ffoorr  SSHH  2299  WWiiddeenniinngg  ––  JJuunn  22000088  
  SSHH  2299  //  CCRR  110044,,  PPhh..  11  ––  JJuull  22000088  
  IIHH  3355  aatt  SSHH  2299  TTuurrnnaarroouunnddss  ((PPTTFF))  ––  AAuugg  22000088  
  SSEE  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  aatt  FFMM  11446600  ––  NNoovv  22000099  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  111111  ((WWeessttiinngghhoouussee  RRooaadd))  ––  JJuunn  22001100  
  WWiilllliiaammss  DDrriivvee  ––  AApprr  22001111  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  110044,,  PPhhaassee  22  ––  MMaayy  22001111  
  RRMM  22333388  ((PPTTFF))  ––  JJuull  22001111  
  SSHH  2299  aatt  PPaarrkk  PPll  aanndd  JJaacckk  NNiicckkllaauuss  ––  MMaayy  22001122  
  RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd..  NNoorrtthh  PPhhaassee  33  ––  JJuunn  22001133  
  RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd..  NNoorrtthh  PPhhaassee  44  ––  MMaarr  22001144  
  MMaaddrriidd  DDrriivvee  EExxtteennssiioonn  ––  SSeepp  22001144  
  CCRR  224455  ––  SSeepp  22001155  
  IIHH  3355  NNoorrtthhbboouunndd  FFrroonnttaaggee  RRooaadd  ((PPTTFF))  ––  OOcctt  22001155  
  RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  NNoorrtthh  PPhhaassee  44  FFeenncciinngg  ––  JJaann  22001166  
  IIHH  3355  NNoorrtthhbboouunndd  FFrroonnttaaggee  RRooaadd  DDrriivveewwaayy  ((PPTTFF))  ––  MMaarr  22001166  
  SSoouutthhwweesstt  BByyppaassss  DDrriivveewwaayyss  ––  AAuugg  22001166  
  RRMM  22224433  aatt  EEssccaalleerraa  RRiigghhtt  TTuurrnn  LLaannee  ––  AAuugg  22001166  
  SSHH  2299  aatt  CCeeddaarr  HHoollllooww  RRiigghhtt  TTuurrnn  LLaannee  ––  AAuugg  22001166  

2



WWIILLLLIIAAMMSSOONN  CCOOUUNNTTYY  
RROOAADD  BBOONNDD  PPRROOGGRRAAMM  

  

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEEDD  PPRROOJJEECCTTSS  
CCOONNSSTTRRUUCCTTIIOONN  SSUUBBSSTTAANNTTIIAALLLLYY  CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE//OOPPEENN  TTOO  TTRRAAFFFFIICC  --  AASS  OOFF  AAPPRRIILL  22001177 

 

PPrreecciinncctt  44  

  BBrriiddggee  RReeppllaacceemmeennttss  ((CCRR  339900,,  440066  &&  442277))  ––  NNoovv  22000022  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  336688  aanndd  336699  ––  NNoovv  22000022  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  441122  ––  AAuugg  22000033  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  330000  aanndd  330011  ––  DDeecc  22000033  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  442244  BBrriiddggee  RReeppllaacceemmeenntt  ––  JJaann  22000044  
  CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd..  EExxtteennssiioonn,,  PPhh..  11  ––  MMaarr  22000055  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  111122,,  PPhh..  11  ––  AAuugg  22000055  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  113377  ––  OOcctt  22000055  
  LLiimmmmeerr  LLoooopp,,  PPhh..  11AA  ––  JJuull  22000066  
  CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd,,  PPhh..  22  ––  DDeecc  22000077  
  LLiimmmmeerr  LLoooopp,,  PPhh..  11BB  ––  MMaarr  22000088  
  LLiimmmmeerr  LLoooopp,,  PPhh..  11CC  ––  OOcctt  22000088  
  UUSS  7799,,  SSeeccttiioonn  55BB  ((PPTTFF))  ––  AAuugg  22001100  
  CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd,,  PPhh..  33BB  ––  OOcctt  22001100  
  UUSS  7799,,  SSeeccttiioonn  55AA  ((PPTTFF))  ––  MMaayy  22001111  
  FFMM11666600  aatt  LLaannddffiillll  RRdd..  ––  SSeepp  22001111  
  SSeeccoonndd  SSttrreeeett  DDrraaiinnaaggee  IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ––  DDeecc  22001111  
  UUSS  7799  SSeeccttiioonn  33  ((PPTTFF))  ––  JJuull  22001122  
  CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd,,  PPhh..  33AA  ––  DDeecc  22001122  
  SSeeccoonndd  SSttrreeeett  RRooaaddwwaayy  IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ––  FFeebb  22001133  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  113388  ––  JJuunn  22001133  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  110088  ––  NNoovv  22001133  
  CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117700  ––  FFeebb  22001155  
  MMuullttii  SSiittee  TTrraaffffiicc  SSiiggnnaallss  ––  JJuunn  22001166  
  BBiillll  PPiicckkeetttt  TTrraaiill  ((EEaasstt  WWiilllliiaammssoonn  CCoouunnttyy  EExxppoo  CCeenntteerr  AAcccceessss  RRooaadd))  ––  NNoovv  22001166  
  

3



183

PARMER

NEENA
HAVE

LAKE
LINEB

LVD
AVERY

RANC
HBLVD

P ARMERLN

UNIVE
RSITY

ANDE
RSON

 MILL 
RD

Åõ620

O'CONNOR DR

SAMBASSRD

MC
NIE
LR
D

UV1.25

UV1.08

UV1.18

UV1.21

UV1.01

UV1.04

UV1.20

UV1.11

UV1.17

UV1.09

UV1.02

UV1.06

UV1.14UV1.19

UV1.07
UV1.03

UV1.10

UV1.29

UV1.30

UV1.26

UV1.28

UV1.24

UV1.31

UV1.23 UV1.31

!"#$35

CR
17
2

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 1 - RECINCT 1 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOOKOOK

In Design
1.28   IH 35 Opera tiona l Ana lysis
1.29   RM 620 (IH 35 to Deep Wood Dr.)
1.30   Grea t Oa ks a t Brush y Creek
1.31   Forest North  Dra ina g e Im provem ents - P h a se 2

Completed/
Open to Traffic 
1.01   Anderson Mill Rd. 
1.02   Avery Ra nch  Blvd. (183 to P a rm er La ne) 
1.03   La ke Creek Dra ina g e – P h a se 1 
1.04   La ke Creek Dra ina g e – P h a se 2 
1.06   McNeil Road - P h a se 1 
1.07   McNeil Road - P h a se 2  
1.08   P ond Spring s a t Turtle Rock Sig na l 
1.09   RM 620 Fea sib ility Study 
1.10   Wyom ing  Spring s North  Study 
1.11   RM 620 Interim  Im provem ents – P h a se 1 
1.14   O’Connor Extension
1.17   P ond Spring s Road 
1.18   O’Connor Overpa ss a t SH 45 
1.19   RM 620 (Cornerwood Dr. to Wyom ing  Spring s) 
1.20   Wyom ing  Spring s (620 to Brig h twa ter Blvd.) 
1.21   CR 174 (Ha iry Ma n Rd.) Bridg e Ra il Reh a b  
1.23   Forest North  Dra ina g e Study
1.25   King  of King s Crossing
1.26   P ea rson Ra nch  Road (Desig n)
1.24   P ea rson Ra nch  Underpa ss a t SH 45/ RM 620
1.31   Forest North  Dra ina g e Im provem ents - P h a se 1 (desig n)



UV281

LAKELINE BLVD

AVERY RAN CH BLV D

O'CONNO R DR

SAM BASS RD

PARMER LN

MCN
IEL

RD

UNIVERSITY

UV221UV278

UV224

UV235

UV284

UV227

UV225

!"#$35

CR
17

2

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 1 - RECINCT 1 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOOKOOK

In Design
224   North Mays Street Extension (La Paloma to Oakmont Dr.)
227   University Blvd Widening (IH 35 to Sunrise Rd.)
278   Neenah Avenue Widening (Olive Hill Drive to end)
281   O'Connor Drive North of RM 620 (Traffic Study)
284   Hairy Man Rd/Brushy Creek Rd Safety Improvements (Arrowhead Trail to Sam Bass Road)

Åõ3406

Åõ620

Under Construction/Bidding
221   Pearson Ranch Road
225   Forest North Drainage Improvements - Phase 1
235   RM 620 Phase 2 (Wyoming Springs to Deep Wood Drive)



Project Location 

Forest North Drainage Ph 1
(Residential Drainage of the Forest North Subdivision)

Project Length: Residential Neighborhood
Roadway Classification: Drainage Improvements

Project Schedule: August 2016 - April 2018
Estimated Construction Cost: $3.6 Million

APRIL 2017 IN REVIEW

4/7/2017: DeNucci continued installing concrete pipe culverts, grading 
channels and ditches, and lowering water services in the Braeburn Zone. 
Concrete crews formed and poured aprons around various area inlets. 
Demolition of existing driveways and the forming and pouring of new concrete 
driveways continued on Braeburn Glen and Moorberry Streets. Subcontractor 
Fuquay installed tree protection in the Stillforest Zone.

4/14/2017: Concrete pipe culverts installation was completed as well as 
lowering of water services in the Braeburn Zone. An existing City of Austin 
(COA) 8” water line was also relocated in order to complete the installation of 
a storm sewer in ditch BB 108 in the Braeburn Glen zone.

4/21/2017: Water line relocation work began in the Stillforest Zone. Fine 
grading and placing topsoil began throughout the Braeburn Glen Zone.

4/28/2017: Water line relocation work was completed and started installation 
of the 36” storm pipe installation in the Fisher/Tyrone easement in the 
Stillforest zone. Fine grading and placing topsoil was completed throughout 
the Braeburn Glen Zone.

Design Engineer: K Friese and Cobb 
Fendley
Contractor: DeNucci Constructors
Construction Observation:
Ryan Rivera, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

6



Forest North Drainage Ph 1
Project No. 1604-068 Original Contract Price = $3,556,659.50

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

6/9/2016 7/1/2016 8/1/2016 8/11/2016 600 0 600

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 8/11/2016 8/31/2016 21 $152,734.50 $152,734.50 $16,970.50 $16,970.50 5 4
2 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 30 $208,685.70 $361,420.20 $23,187.30 $40,157.80 11 9
3 10/1/2016 10/31/2016 31 $266,921.68 $628,341.88 $29,657.96 $69,815.76 19 14
4 11/1/2016 12/2/2016 32 $182,471.22 $810,813.10 $20,274.58 $90,090.34 25 19
5 12/3/2016 12/31/2016 29 $177,314.97 $988,128.07 $19,701.67 $109,792.01 31 24
6 1/1/2017 1/31/2017 31 $231,302.70 $1,219,430.77 $25,700.30 $135,492.31 38 29
7 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $304,664.67 $1,524,095.44 $33,851.63 $169,343.94 47 34
8 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $191,005.20 $1,715,100.64 $21,222.80 $190,566.74 53 39
9 4/1/2017 4/30/2017 30 $197,390.12 $1,912,490.76 $21,932.23 $212,498.97 59 44

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 3/21/2017 31,806.00 31,806.00

Adjusted Price = $3,588,465.50

1A: Design Error or Omission. Incorrect PS&E . This Change Order revises work along Broadmeade Ave., between Sherbrooke St. and Meadowheath Dr in the 
Sherbrooke zone.  The original plans called for a ditch in this location but, due to the depth of the original planned ditch, which created slopes steeper than 3:1, the 
ditch was replaced with an underground storm sewer system with inlets.  2E: Miscellaneous difference in site conditions. Add new pay items to reimburse the 
contractor for removal of trees larger than what was called out in the original contract.

7



Project Location 

Pearson Ranch Road
(Iveans Way to SH 45 ROW)

Project Length: 1.3 Miles
Roadway Classification: Minor Arterial

Project Schedule: November 2016 - October 2017
Estimated Construction Cost: $4.5 Million

APRIL 2017 IN REVIEW

4/7/2017: Jimmy Evans continued with sidewalk prep from the Round Rock 
Bus Garage (RRBG) to the north end of the project. Manhole adjustments 
continued between the RRBG and the north end of the project. Excavation 
continued for the water quality detention pond on the TxDOT ROW. 

4/14/2017: Flexbase processing began at the south end of the project. 
Excavation continued for the water quality detention pond on the TxDOT ROW. 
Subcontractor Greater Austin Development continued to prep and pour the 
sidewalk from the Round Rock Bus Garage to the north end of the project.

4/21/2017: Excavation continued for the water quality detention pond on the 
TxDOT ROW. Subcontractor Greater Austin Development finished concrete 
placement for the sidewalk from the RRBG to the north end of the project.

4/28/2017: Flexbase was placed and processed for the northbound lanes at 
the south end of the project. The water quality detention pond excavation was 
completed and subcontractor Greater Austin began setting forms. Greater 
Austin placed concrete for curb at the Neenah intersection and along the 
southbound lanes from the RRBG south. The outside lanes of Neenah at 
Pearson Ranch were closed to facilitate the construction of the intersection.

Design Engineer: Cunningham-Allen
Contractor: Jimmy Evans
Construction Observation:
Seth Turvey, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

8



Pearson Ranch Road (Iveans Way to RM 620)
Project No. 1607-102 Original Contract Price = $4,516,178.77

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

9/20/2016 10/11/2016 11/18/2016 11/28/2016 330 0 330

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 11/28/2016 11/30/2016 3 $195,710.04 $195,710.04 $21,745.56 $21,745.56 5 1
2 12/1/2016 12/31/2016 31 $243,555.13 $439,265.17 $27,061.68 $48,807.24 11 10
3 1/1/2017 1/31/2017 31 $202,139.71 $641,404.88 $22,459.97 $71,267.21 16 20
4 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $508,271.85 $1,149,676.73 $56,474.65 $127,741.86 28 28
5 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $369,038.84 $1,518,715.57 $41,004.32 $168,746.18 37 38
6 4/1/2017 4/30/2017 30 $330,336.72 $1,849,052.29 $36,704.08 $205,450.26 45 47

Adjusted Price = $4,516,178.77

9



Project Location 

RM 620 Phase 2
(Wyoming Springs to Deep Wood Drive)

Project Length: .9 Miles
Roadway Classification: Urban Principal Arterial

Project Schedule: January 2017-March 2018
Estimated Construction Cost: $6.1 Million

APRIL 2017 IN REVIEW

4/7/2017: Cox Commercial Construction installed box culvert across RM 620.  
Crews excavated the tie-in on the north side of the roadway to confirm 
elevation and location of the existing box culvert and to identify location of 
City of Round Rock waterline and Atmos gas line.  The utilities were not in 
conflict with the box culvert.   

4/14/2017: The junction box was installed and the box culvert on north side of 
RM 620 was completed.  Crews excavated and installed remaining curb inlet 
and storm sewer pipe on the west end of the project.  

4/21/2017: Curb inlet and storm sewer pipe on the west end of the project 
were installed. Grading and compaction of subgrade were completed. Flexbase 
was placed on the eastern third of the project.  

4/28/2017: Storm Trooper water treatment devices were installed along the 
curb line of the south ROW. Dirt crews placed additional lifts of flexbase on 
completed subgrade on the east end.  Subcontractor Austin Traffic Signal 
installed temporary sign elements at Oakwood Drive.  

Design Engineer: Halff Associates
Contractor: Cox Commercial 
Construction
Construction Observation:
Clayton Weber, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

10



RM 620 Safety Improvements (Cornerwood to Wyoming Springs)
Project No.  1608-108 Original Contract Price = $6,082,225.70

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantially Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Complete Accepted Days Added Days

9/28/2016 11/30/2016 1/3/2017 1/13/2017 425 0 425

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Used Used

1 1/13/2017 1/31/2017 19 $459,169.50 $459,169.50 8 4
2 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $280,194.00 $739,363.50 12 11
3 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $392,444.00 $1,131,807.50 19 18

Adjusted Price = $6,082,225.70

11



Åõ279

BAGDADRD

LAKE
LINE

BLVD
AVERY

RANC
HBL
VD

SAMBASSRDP ARMER
LN

RONALD
W
REAGAN

LAKELINEBLVD

UV2.07
UV2.15

UV2.45

UV2.42

UV2.48

UV2.41

UV2.05

UV2.31

UV2.11

UV2.14

UV2.03

UV2.13

UV2.24

UV2.16

UV2.34

UV2.06

UV2.23

UV2.17

UV2.37

UV2.08

UV2.26

UV2.01

UV2.27

UV2.25UV2.12

UV2.38

UV2.50

UV2.26

UV2.49

UV2.44

UV2.52

UV2.20

UV2.40
UV2.47

UV2.32

UV2.28

UV2.10

UV2.09

UV2.22UV2.21

UV2.18

UV2.19

UV2.36

UV2.35
UV2.51

UV2.55
UV2.57

UV2.53

UV2.56

UV2.54

UV2.46

CR
207

CR
279

CR 288

CR 281

CR 2
76

CR280

CR

260

CR 25
8

CR
21
2

ANNVILLE DR

BURBA LNCR 28
4

CR 201

CR 23
6

CR 2
04

CR

283

MELMATHISAVE

CR209

CR 269

WCR202

CR 20
5

CR 286

CR 206

CR208
E CR 

202

CR
200

CR 282

CR

287

CR

28
7

CR285

DO
UB
LE

FILETRCE

CR 203

CR
21
4

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 2 - RECINCT 2 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  LLONGONG

In Design
2.49   La keline Blvd. Rig ht Turn La nes

UU29

2.01   Vista Ridg e Blvd. 
2.03   Brushy Creek Road 
2.05   Cypress Creek Road 
2.06   La keline Blvd. (Crysta l Fa lls P kwy to New Hope Dr) 
2.07   River Bend Oa ks Subdivision
2.08   Rona ld W. Rea g a n South – P ha se 1 
2.09   Rona ld W. Rea g a n North – P ha se 1 
2.10   CR 175 (RM 1431 to Reg iona l P a rk)
2.11   CR 185 
2.12   CR 200 (CR 201 to Lackey Creek) 
2.13   CR 214 (SH 29 to Rolling  Hills Dr.)
2.14   CR 258 (US 183 to Sunset Ridg e) 
2.15   RM 1869 at SH 29  
2.16   La keline Blvd. (Lyndhurst to P a rm er)
2.17   Sa n Gabriel P a rkway – P ha se 1 
2.18   US 183 Widening  at CR 274 
2.19   Rona ld W. Rea g a n South – P ha se 2 
2.20   Kauffm a n Loop 
2.21   CR 175 Extension – P ha se 2A 
2.22   CR 179 
2.23   Sa n Gabriel P a rkway – P ha se 2  
2.24   CR 214 – P ha se 2A 
2.25   CR 214 – P ha se 2B
          Schem atic 
2.26   SH 29 Im provem ents 
          Study & Schem atic 
2.27   US 183 (P TF) 
2.28   CR 272 
2.31   Brushy Creek Road 
2.32   RM 1431 
2.34   Hero Way 
2.35   US 183 at FM 3405 Tra ffic Sig na l 
2.36   US 183 at FM 3405 Left Turn La ne 
2.37   SH 29 TWLTL in Liberty Hill 
2.38   CR 260 / CR 266 at SH 29 
2.40   La keline Blvd. P ha se 2  (Old Qua rry Rd. to Old 2243)
2.41   Sewa rd Junction Im provem ents Study 
2.42   Sa n Gabriel P a rkway West 
2.44   US 183 at RM 1869
2.45   La keline Blvd. at US 183
2.46   CR 258 (Sunset Ridg e to Rea g a n Blvd) (Desig n)
2.47   La keline Blvd. P ha se 3 (Crysta l Fa lls P kwy. to Old Qua rry Rd.) 
2.48   Sewa rd Junction Schem atic (SE a nd SW) 
2.50   Ba g dad Rd. North P ha se 2 Schem a tic  (CR 280 to SH 29)
2.52   RM 1431 at P a rm er/ Rea g a n CFI
2.53   Cypress Creek Road at US 183
2.54   CR 272 Overla y
2.55   Brushy Creek Ea st Overla y
2.56   Cypress Creek Road at La keline
2.57   Brushy Creek Road at P a rm er La ne

Completed/Open to Traffic



BAGDAD RD

LAKELINE BLVDAVERY R ANCH BLVD

SAM B A SS RD

PARMER
LN

RONALD
W

REAGAN

LAKELINE BLVD

UV285

UV274

UV271

UV242

UV229

UV314

UV317

UV282

UV318

UV438

UV256
ab183

¿À29

CR272

CR
207

CR
279

CR 270

CR 266

CR 288

CR 281

CR 276
CR 280

CR
260

CR 175

CR 257

CR
21

2

ANNVILLE DR

CR 284
CR 201

CR 236

CR 204

CR 180

CR

283

MELMATHIS AVE

CR 209

CR 269

WCR 202

CR 205
CR

 27
7

CR 278

CR 286

CR 206

CR 208

E CR 202

CR
26

7

CR 282

CR

287

CR

28
7

RONALD
W

REAGAN
BLVD

CR
 17

8

CR 285

DO
UB

LE

FILE TRCE

CR 213

CR 203

CR 211
CR

214

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 2 - RECINCT 2 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  LLONGONG

In Design
271   Seward Junction Southeast (US 183 at CR 259 to SH 29 at CR 266)
274   Seward Junction Southwest (SH 29 at CR 213 to US 183 at CR 259)
282   New Hope Drive Phase 1 (Cottonwood Creek Trail to Ronald Reagan Blvd)
285   CR 200 - Preliminary Design (SH 29 to CR 236)
438   Bagdad Road at CR 278

Under Construction/Bidding
256   CR 258 (Sunset Ridge to Reagan Blvd)
314   Old 2243/Hero Way West (Lakeline Blvd to W of US 183)
317   Bagdad Rd. North (CR 280 to RM 2243)
318   Anderson Mill Rd. (RM 1431 to Lime Creek, Zeppelin Dr. to Cypress Creek)

Completed/Open to Traffic
229   RM 1431 (Cottonwood Creek Tr. to Market St.)
242   Little Elm Trail (Lakeline Blvd to US 183)



Project Location 

CR 258
(Sunset Ridge to Ronald Reagan Blvd.)

Project Length: 1.75 Miles
Roadway Classification: Suburban Collector

Project Schedule: July 2016 - July 2017
Estimated Construction Cost: $6 Million

APRIL 2017 IN REVIEW

4/7/2017: Chasco is processing flexbase from east of Culvert 2 to the Ronald 
Reagan tie-in. Excavation and embankment to subgrade continues between 
Sunny Slope and San Gabriel Oaks. The remaining boxes were excavated and 
installed on the north half of Culvert 1.   

4/14/2017: Flexbase was fine graded from east of Culvert 2 to the Ronald 
Reagan tie-in. Topsoil placement was completed. Excavation and embankment 
to subgrade continued between Sunny Slope and Rock House Dr. 

4/21/2017: Excavation to subgrade continued between the west end of the 
project and Culvert 1. The downstream headwall footing was excavated at 
Culvert 1. Subcontractor Roadway Specialties installed the Flexamat in the 
ditch from Craigen to just east of Culvert 2 along the south side of the project. 

4/28/2017: After subcontractor Wheeler placed 2” of asphalt on the 
eastbound roadway from San Gabriel Oaks to Ronald Reagan, Chasco switched 
traffic onto the new roadway. Flexbase was placed from Culvert 1 to San 
Gabriel Oaks. Concrete for the downstream headwall footing and the riprap 
apron were placed at Culvert 1. Chasco tied steel and forming for the headwall 
at Culvert 1 and the remaining 8’x4’ boxes for Culvert 2 were installed. 

Design Engineer: Civil Engineering 
Consultants and Cobb Fendley
Contractor: Chasco Constructors
Construction Observation:
Steven Shull, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

14



CR 258 (Sunset Ridge to Ronald Reagan North)
Project No.  1603-062 Original Contract Price = $5,808,856.58

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

4/20/2016 5/10/2016 7/29/2016 8/8/2016 360 0 360

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 7/1/2016 7/31/2016 0 $204,692.63 $204,692.63 $22,743.63 $22,743.63 4 0
2 8/8/2016 8/31/2016 24 $647,625.15 $852,317.78 $71,958.35 $94,701.98 16 7
3 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 30 $768,046.95 $1,620,364.73 $85,338.55 $180,040.53 30 15
4 10/1/2016 10/31/2016 31 $523,476.94 $2,143,841.67 $58,164.10 $238,204.63 40 24
5 11/1/2016 11/30/2016 30 $98,689.54 $2,242,531.21 $10,965.50 $249,170.13 42 32
6 12/1/2016 12/31/2016 31 $38,127.37 $2,280,658.58 $4,236.38 $253,406.51 43 41
7 1/1/2017 1/31/2017 31 $636,301.80 $2,916,960.38 $70,700.20 $324,106.71 54 49
8 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $395,763.89 $3,312,724.27 $43,973.76 $368,080.47 62 57
9 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $456,281.18 $3,769,005.45 $50,697.91 $418,778.38 70 66

10 4/1/2017 4/30/2017 30 $305,919.85 $4,074,925.30 $33,991.09 $452,769.47 76 74

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 10/4/2016 9,660.00 9,660.00

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
02 1/31/2017 33,848.00 43,508.00

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
03 2/28/2017 38,765.00 82,273.00

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
04 3/21/2017 14,907.69 97,180.69

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
05 3/21/2017 51,199.00 148,379.69

Adjusted Price = $5,957,236.27

 4B: Third Party Accommodation. Third Party Requested Work.  This Change Order adds an encasement pipe crossing for a future waterline under CR 258 at 
Station 160+50.  The installation of the additional encasement pipe was requested by the Property owner for future water service.  The additional cost of the 
encasement pipe will be deducted from the Right of Way acquisition agreement with the property owner.  

3B: County Convenience.  Public relations improvement. 3F: County Convenience.  Additional work desired by the County.  This Change Order changes the hot 
mix pavement section on CR 258 from one 3" lift of Type C HMAC PG 70-22 to one 2" lift of Type C HMAC PG 64-22 and one 1.5" lift of Type D HMAC PG 64-
22 and deletes the one course surface treatment on Ronald Reagan.   

2C: Differing Site Conditions (Unforseeable).  New development (conditions changing after PS&E completed).  4B: Third Party Accommodation.  Third part 
requested work.   This change order reflects multiple driveway changes including, extending a driveway culvert to accommodate a new driveway location, 
relocating a proposed driveway, extending a driveway culvert to save a heritage oak tree, adding a driveway to the project and shortening the guardrail at a 
proposed driveway location.

6C: Untimely ROW/Utilities Utilities Not Clear: This Change Order compensates the Contractor for additional costs to locate and avoid impacts to the AT&T line 
and to ensure uninterrupted service to adjacent properties. Utilities AT&T and PEC were scheduled to be clear by August 31, 2016, but were not clear until 
February 2017. The Contractor worked to avoid impacts to the existing AT&T line during the installation of the new City of Georgetown water line.  

2J: Differing Site Conditions. (unforeseeable) Other. This change order revises various erosion control measures on the project, including the addition of soil 
retention blanket to the contract to prevent erosion and help to establish vegetation quicker on the slopes and in the ditches. 3H: County Convenience. Cost savings 
opportunity discovered during construction. This change order replaces the 12" Gabion mattresses with Flexamat. The use of this product was approved by the 
County Road and Bridge Department.   The 3' x 3' gabions were deleted due to changes at the downstream end of Culvert #2.  

15



RED
BUD

LN

LAKELIN EBLVD
UV3.04

UV3.47

UV1.16

UV3.03

UV3.10

UV1.12

UV3.07

UV3.15

UV3.05
UV3.23

UV3.06

UV3.28

UV3.40

UV3.08

UV3.11

UV3.24

UV3.02

UV3.30

UV3.17

UV3.31

UV3.34

UV3.37

UV3.09

UV3.21

UV3.18

UV3.29

UV3.16

UV3.27

UV3.36

UV3.46

UV3.39

UV3.42

UV3.44
UV3.41

UV3.35

UV3.25
UV3.22

UV3.12

UV2.04

UV3.20

UV3.13

UV3.14

UV2.09

UV2.08

UV3.26
UV3.43
UV3.45

UV3.01

UV3.48

!"#$35

¿À29

¿À138

¿À195

CR

262
CR
261

CR 146

CR 15
0

CR 23
9

CR227

CR 31
4

CR175

CR 31
1

CR
105

CR 12
4

CR 31
0

CR 2
28

W  CR 304

CR 237

SHE
LLR

D CR 19
6

CR 372

CR 226

CR

145

CR 30
9

CR 252

CR 14
9

CR 24
1CR 241

CR 25
4

CR
316

CR 306

CR 230

CR 311

CR 257

CR

317

CR155

CR 375

CR 223

CR 10
7

CR1
62

CR 313

CR 154

CR 12
1

CR

224

CR 21
7

RAE LN

CR

248

CR222

SCR289

CR 3001

CR 37
0

CR 25
3

HID
DE
N L
N

CR 24
3

CR250

CR 18
9

CR 24
0

CR147

RAMMS DR

CR 141

CR
303

CR148

CR2
38

CR
244

CR
32
8

CR 22
1

CR 315

CR 22
0

CR 2
19 CR

233

CR 234

CR
12
0

CR 30
5

RON ALDW REAGAN
BLVD

CR 245
CR

15
3

CR

176

CR 215

CR
194

CR 14
4

CR 251

CR 126

CR

25
5

CR 22
9 CR 307

CR 216

CR
303

CR 231

CR232 CR
34
4

CR

22
5

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 3 - RECINCT 3 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOVEYOVEY

In Design
3.41   CR 110 / Arte ria l A Study
3.42   CR 111 / CR 105 W esting house Rd. 
          (FM 1460 to SH 130)
3.45   CR 110 Middle  (N orth of Lim m e r Loop to CR 107)

Under Construction/Bidding
3.46   FM 1460 N orth

3.28   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth - P ha se 3 
3.29   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth - P ha se 4 
3.30   RM 2338 (P TF) 
3.31   SH 29 Im prove m e nts Study & Sche m a tic
3.34   SH 195 P roje ct 1  
3.35   SH 29 at P a rk P la ce Dr. & Ja ck N ickla us Blvd. 
3.36   SH 195 P roje ct 2 
3.37   SH 195 P roje ct 3
3.39   CR 245 Re a lig nm e nt  
3.40   CR 179  
3.43   Unive rsity Blvd. (Cha ndle r Rd) Expa nsion (De sig n)
3.44   CR 110 N orth
          (N orth of CR 107 to N orth of Sa m  Houston) (Desig n)
3.47   Madrid Drive Exte nsion

Completed/Open to Traffic
1.12   W esting house Rd. (CR 111)
1.16   SE Inne r Loop a t FM 1460 
2.04   Ceda r Hollow a t SH 29 
2.08   Rona ld W . Re a g a n South – P h. 1 
2.09   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth – P h. 1
3.01   FM 1460 to CR 110 
3.02   Ge org e town Inne r Loop Ea st 
3.03   Ge org e town Inne r Loop Ea st Exte nsion 
3.04   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – P roje ct 1 
3.05   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – P roje ct 2 
3.06   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – 
          P roje ct 3 Study 
3.07   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – 
          P roje ct 4 Study 
3.08   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – 
          P roje ct 5 Study 
3.09   CR 124  
3.10   CR 142
3.11   CR 145 
3.12   CR 152 Bridg e  Re pla ce m e nt 
3.13   CR 157 
3.14   CR 175
3.15   CR 234 
3.16   CR 245 
3.17   CR 311 
3.18   CR 314
3.20   Rona ld W . Re a g a n South - P ha se 2 
3.21   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth - P ha se 2 
3.22   IH-35 a t SH 29 Turna rounds (P TF) 
3.48   SH 29 W ide ning  - 12" W a te r Ma in Re location
3.23   SH 29/CR 104 – P ha se  1
3.24   W illia m s Drive  (RM 2338)  
3.25   CR 104 – P ha se  2 
3.26   CR 175 Exte nsion - P ha se 2A
3.27   IH 35 N orthbound Fronta g e  Rd. a nd Ra m ps



B
A

G
D

A
D

R
D

SAM
B ASS RD

C
R

110

CR 112

R
E

D
B

U
D

LN

C
R

11
9

SE

IN
NE

R
LO

O
P

D
B

W
O

O
D

R
D

R
O

N
A

L
D

W
R

E
AG

A
N

LA
K

E
LIN

E
B

LV
D

UV251

UV306

UV276

UV293

UV237
UV226

UV231

UV243

UV243

UV241

UV234

UV291

UV243

!"#$35

¿À29

¿À138

¿À195

C
R

262

WESTINGHOUSE RD

C
R

 2
6

1

CR 146

UNIVERSITY BLVD

CR
177

CR 150

CR 239

C
R

227

CR 314

C
R

175

CR 311

CR 105

C
R

312

CR 124

CR 310

C
R

106

CR 228

C
R

 140

CR 313

PA
TR

IO
T

W
AY

C
R

 3
8

8

SHELL

RD CR 196

C
R

 372

CR 143

STADIUM DR

C
R

 2
2

6

C
R

 145

CR 309

CR 252

CR 149

CR 241

JOURNEY PKWY

C
R

 2
4

1

C
R

 237

CR 254 C
R

31
6

CR 289

C
R

 306

C
R

 2
3

0

P
O

LO
 B

N
D

CR

31
7

CR 191

CR 147

C
R

155

CR 100

CR 186

C
R

 375

C
R

 2
2

3

CR 107

C
R

249

CR 162

CR 313

R
A

B
B

IT
H

ILL
R

D

CR 154

C
R

 2
3

5

C
A

R
D

IN
A

L L
N

CR 121

R
U

N
D

B
E

R
G

 D
R

PA
LO

M
IN

O
C

V

C
R

 2
5

6

C
R

224

CR 217

R
A

E
 LN

C
R

 3
0

8C
R

 3
9

6

C
R

 3
3

1

C
R

 248

CR 222

SC
R

289

C
R

 3001

CR 370

C
R

15
6

CR 242
CR 253

SPEARSRANCH RD

H
ID

D
EN

LN

CR 243

CR 166

CR

250

CR 189

BUCKSKINCV

CR 247

CR 246

CR 240

CR 147

W
HITAKERR

D

R
A

M
M

S
 D

R

R
E

D
B

IR
D

R
D

C
R

127

C
R

 1
4

1
C

R
 148

CR
244

C
R

32
8

CR 221

CR 315

CR 220

CR 219 CR 233

C
R

 2
3

4

C
R

152

C
R

120

C
R

 3
0

5

CR 305

RONALD W REAGAN BLVD

R
O

N
A

L
D

W
R

E
A

G
A

N
B

LV
D

C
R

 2
3

9

CR 239

C
R

 332

C
R

 2
4

5

CR 153

CR 153

C
R

 2
1

5

CR
194

CR 107

CR 144

C
R

 2
5

1

C
R

 1
2

6

C
R

 2
5

5

CR 105 SPUR

CR 229

C
R

 1
0

3

CR 142
C

R
 3

0
7

CR 307

STRADA LUCA

C
R

 216

C
R

 3
0

3

C
R

 231

CR 232

CR

22
5

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 3 - RECINCT 3 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOVEYOVEY

In Design
226   Inner Loop Safety Improvements (Rockride Lane to Wilco Way)
231   Ronald Reagan at IH 35 (Bridge Replacement)
231   IH 35 Ramp Reversal and Frontage Road Conversion (FM 972 to CR 312)
237   DB Wood At SH 29
241   CR 176 at RM 2243 (Safety Improvements)
243   Southwest Bypass (RM 2243 to IH 35)
251   Inner Loop Safety Improvements (Belmont Drive to Rockride Lane)
306   CR 305 At IH 35 - Design (Bridge Replacement)

Under Construction/Bidding
243   Southwest Bypass Access Route
276   Arterial H Extension Phase 1

 (CR 175 to Massey Way)

Completed/ Open to Traffic
234   RM 2243 At Escalera Parkway 
243   Southwest Bypass Driveways
291   SH 29 At Cedar Hollow
293   Kauffman Loop Phase 1

 (NE quadrant of Reagan at SH 29)



CR 245 Realignment
Project No. 15IFB102 Original Contract Price = $589,829.11

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantially Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Complete Accepted Days Added Days

2/18/2015 3/11/2015 4/10/2015 4/20/2015 9/26/2015 150 10 160

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 4/20/2015 5/31/2015 42 $37,176.75 $37,176.75 $4,130.75 $4,130.75 7 26
2 6/1/2015 9/26/2015 118 $418,332.94 $455,509.69 $46,481.44 $50,612.19 87 100
3 10/7/2015 6/24/2016 0 $62,633.56 $518,143.25 $6,959.28 $57,571.47 99 100
4 6/25/2016 9/30/2016 0 $65,544.50 $583,687.75 -$57,571.47 $0.00 100 100

4/28/2017 Comments -

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 10/20/2015 29,428.53 29,428.53

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
02 2/28/2017 -35,569.89 -6,141.36

Adjusted Price = $583,687.75

The GEC has received the Maintenance Bond and is processing the final estimate.

4B:  Third Party Accommodation. Third party requested work. This Change Order adds a new Contract item to compensate the Contractor for installing a 
Pressure Reducing Valve (PRV) on the proposed 6 inch waterline, as required by the City of Georgetown. 2E: Differing Site Conditions (unforeseeable). 
Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9). The existing waterline was in a different location than shown on the plans, which allowed 
the Contractor to tie into the line at the new location, reducing the contract quantity of new waterline required to be installed.

2E: Differing Site Conditions (unforeseeable). Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9).  This Change Order provides the final 
balancing for the overrun/underrun of Contract quantities on the project as a result of addressing field conditions not accounted for in the original plans. The 
underruns documented by this Change Order result in a cost savings for the County. This Change Order adds Item 169-2001 (Soil Retention Blanket (Ty 1)(Cl 
A)) which replaced the 3" Erosion Control Compost due to the unavailability of the compost. 

18



Arterial H Phase 1 (Sam Bass Rd to existing Arterial H)
Project No.  1603-064 Original Contract Price = $3,210,934.80

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

4/20/2016 5/16/2016
2/17/2017 
(Limited) 180 0 180

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 6/1/2016 6/30/2016 0 $134,198.10 $134,198.10 $14,910.90 $14,910.90 5 0
2 7/1/2016 7/31/2016 0 $182,746.89 $316,944.99 $35,216.11 $50,127.01 11 0
3 8/1/2016 8/31/2016 0 $93,893.40 $410,838.39 $10,432.60 $60,559.61 15 0
4 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 0 $206,817.21 $617,655.60 $22,979.69 $83,539.30 22 0

Adjusted Price = $3,210,934.80

19



SE

IN

NE
R
LO
OP

UNIVE
RSITY

UV4.43

UV4.20

UV4.50

UV4.43

UV4.45

UV4.02

UV4.23

UV4.10
UV4.07 UV4.06

UV4.24

UV4.08

UV4.26UV4.04

UV4.29

UV4.13

UV4.25

UV4.27

UV4.34

UV4.41

UV4.28 UV4.22

UV4.30
UV4.55

UV4.54

UV4.48

UV4.35
UV4.53

UV4.05

UV4.36 UV4.21UV4.51

UV4.15

UV4.16

UV4.17

UV4.18

UV4.14

UV4.19

UV4.12

UV4.33

UV4.31

UV4.37
UV4.38

UV4.39
UV4.40

UV4.44
UV4.49

UV4.52

UV4.03UV4.56

UV4.57

UV4.46

UV3.13

UV4.11

UV4.09

UV4.01

UV4.01

UV4.01UV4.29

UV4.58

ab79

ab79

¿À95

CR 460

CR 431

CR
42
7

CR 324

CR 435

CR 101

CR 340

CR458

CR
 
42
8

CR 4
93

CR
 40
1

CR 455

CR 404

CR 351

CR426

CR 495

CR 432

CR 424

CR 100
CR 130

CR
 11
0

CR 364

CR 414

CR
403

CR 36
5

CR
 35
2

CR 479

CR 3
99

CR 469

CR354

CR 365

CR 405

CR
 38
6

CR 48
9

CR
 35
9

CR 365

CR 4
53

CR
 30
1

CR 336

CR
 36
3

CR 383

CR
35
0

CR
 41
9

CR 13
1

CR 407

CR 379

CR 391

CR 422

CR
 49
9

CR 441

CR 41
2

CR 39
4

CR 3
68

CR 485

CR 3
69

CR 449

CR

487

CR
156

CR 488

CR

472

CR 376

CR
 49
2

CR 43
4

CR 477

CR 34
7

CR

358

CR 390

CR 302

CR 450

CR 44
5

CR 3
26

CR 494

CR 36
7

CR
 4
06

CR
336

CR
465

CR 192

CR3
71

CR 49
8

CR 41
1

CR
45
6

CR 497

CR 4
20

CR 45
1

CR 329

CR 464

CR 16
0

CR 42
5

CR
48
0

CR 46
6

CR 335

CR
 36
2

CR447

CR 41
0

CR 440

CR 4
30

CR 43
3

CR 478

CR 45
4

CR 437

CR
377

CR41
5

CR 49
0

CR 381

CR 337

CR342

CR387

CR423

CR446

CR330
CR 341

CR 41
3

CR356

CR 439

CR 357

CR 345

CR 483CR
 13
4

CR

343

CR 4
71

CR

348

LO RAX  LN

CR 421 CR 436

CR
 12
9

CR 47
0

CR
374

CR 417

CR

417

CR 46
7

CR 467

CR 320

CR
382

CR
 38
4

CR384

CR 424

CR
 42
4

CR 48
1

CR
 48
1

CR
 35
5

CR
 40
5

CR360

CR 4
73

CR
473

CR4
91

CR 463

CR327

CR327
CR
 45
2

CR 361

CR 442

CR
46
8

CR

30
1

CR 347

CR 347

NCR
366

CR
448

CR
409

CR
 39
3

CR303

CR
31
9

CR

482

CR
474

CR
 33
9

CR
 42
9

CR 43
8

CR
348

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 4 - RECINCT 4 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  MMADSENADSEN

In Design
4.35   FM 1660 (PTF)
4.48   CR 119
4.51   CR 110/ Arte rial A Study Are a
4.53   IH 35 O pe rational Analysis
4.55   CR 110 Mid d le  (North of Lim m e r Loop to CR 107)

4.22   Lim m e r Loop – Phase  1A
4.23   Thrall Sc hool Zone  
4.24   US 79 – Se c tion 1 
4.25   US 79 – Se c tion 2 
4.26   US 79 – Se c tion 3A 
4.27   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  2 
4.28   Lim m e r Loop – Phase  1B
4.29   CR 113 / O ld  Se ttle rs Blvd.
4.30   Lim m e r Loop – Phase  1C 
4.31   Ke nne y Fort Boule vard – Phase  1
4.33   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  3A 
4.34   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  3B

Completed/Open to Traffic
4.36   Gattis Sc hool Road 
4.37   US 79 - Se c tion 3 (PTF)
4.38   2nd Stre e t Im prove m e nts 
4.39   2nd Stre e t Drainage  Im prove m e nts
4.40   US 79 Se c tion 5A (PTF) 
4.41   US 79 Se c tion 5B (PTF)
4.43   FM 1460 Se c tion 2 
4.44   CR 138 
4.45   CR 170 
4.46   FM 1660 at Land fill Rd. (CR 128) 
4.49   CR 108 
4.50   CR 351 at Donahoe  Cre e k
4.52   Unive rsity Blvd . (Chand le r Rd.)
          Expansion
4.54   CR 110 South - (De sign) 
          (US 79 to Lim m e r Lp)
4.56   CR 110 at Unive rsity Blvd. (Signal)
4.57   Gattis Sc hool Rd. at 
          Winte rfie ld  Dr. (Signal)
4.58   Trad e sm an Park Crossing

3.13    CR 157
4.01   Brid ge  Re plac e m e nts Phase  1
          (CR 390, 406, 427)
4.02   CR 424 Brid ge  Re plac e m e nt 
4.03   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  1 
4.04   CR 100 
4.05   CR 112 – Phase  1 
4.06   CR 119 
4.07   CR 122 at US 79 
4.08   CR 124
4.09   CR 132
4.10   CR 136
4.11   CR 137
4.12   CR 138 & CR 139
          Alignm e nt Stud y
4.13   CR 300 & CR 301 
4.14   CR 302 
4.15   CR 347 & CR 348 
4.16   CR 368 & CR 369
          (CR 101 to CR 366)
4.17   CR 404 
4.18   CR 412 
4.19   CR 466
4.20   FM 397 at SH 95 Signal 
4.21   Gattis Sc hool Rd. RO W



CR 110
RED

BUD
LN

C R
11

9

SE

IN

NE
R

LO
OP

S CR
366

2ND ST

UNIVERSITY

UV297

UV302

UV269

UV228
UV441

UV260

ab79

¿À95

CR 460

UNIVERSITY BLVD

CR 431

CR
42

7

CR 324

CR 435

CR 101

CR 340
CHANDLER RD

CR 458

CR
 

42
8

CR 493

CR
 40

1

CR 455

CR 404

CR 351

CR 426

CR 495

CR 432

CR 424

CR 100
CR 130

CR
 11

0

CR 364

CR 414

CR 403

CR 365

CR
 35

2

CR 479CR
13

7

CR 118

CR 135

CR
 13

2

CR 399

CR 469
CR 354

CR 365

CR 405

CR 112

CR

117

CR
 38

6

CR 489

CR
 35

9

CR 119

CR 453

CR 408

CR 133

CR
 30

1

CR 197

S CR 366

CR 138

CR 336

CR
 36

3

CR 383

CR
35

0

CR
 41

9

CR 131

CR 407

CR 379

CR 391
CR 422

CR
 49

9

CR 441

CR 412

CR 394
CR 368

CR 485

CR 369
CR 300

CR
 15

9

CR 449

CR

487

CR
156

CR 488

CR

472

CR 376

CR
 49

2

CR 434

CR 389

CR 477

CR 347

CR

358

CR 390

CR 302

CR 450

CR 445

CR 326

CR 494

CR
 4

06

CR 158

CR
336

CR465

CR 192

CR 371

CR 498

CR 411
CR

45
6

CR 497

CR 420

CR 451

CR 329
CR 464

CR 160

CR 425

CR
48

0

CR 466

CR 335

CR
 36

2
CR 447

CR 410

CR 440

CR 430

CR 433

CR 478

CR 454

CR 398

CR 437

CR 377

CR 415

CR 490

CR 381

CR 337

CR 342

CR 387

CR 423

CR446

CR 353

CR 330

CR 341

CR 413

CR356

CR

325

CR 439

CR 357

CR 345

CR 483

CR
 13

4

CR

343

CR 471

CR

348
CR

461

LORAX LN

CR 421

CR 436

CR
 12

9

CR 470

CR 417

CR

417

CR 123

CR 198
CR 467

CR 467

CR 320

CR
382

CR
 38

4

CR 384

CR 424

CR
 42

4

CR 48
1

CR
 48

1

CR
 35

5
CR

 40
5

CR360

CR 473

CR
473

CR 108

CR 491

CR 463

CR 327

CR
 45

2

CR 361

CR
 13

9

CR 442

CR
468

CR 30
1

CR 347

CR 347

NCR
366

CR 448

CR 409

CR 199

CR
 32

2

CR
 39

3

CR 303

CR
31

9

CR 161

CR

482

CR
474

CR 333

CR
 33

9 CR
 42

9

CR 349

CR 438

CR
348

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 4 - RECINCT 4 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  MMADSENADSEN

In Design
228   Kenney Fort Blvd. Ph. 1 (Forest Creek Blvd. to Gattis School Rd.)
269   CR 101 (US 79 to North of Chandler Rd.)
302   SH 130 Frontage Roads Phase 3 (SBFR US 79 to Limmer Loop)
441   Roundville Lane (A.W. Grimes Blvd. to EBFR of SH 45)

Under Construction/Bidding
260   CR 110 South (US 79 to Limmer Loop)

Completed/Open to Traffic
297   Bill Pickett Trail (Carlos Parker Blvd to Chandler Road)



Multi Site Traffic Signals (CR 110 at Univ, Gattis School Rd at Winterfield)
Project No. 1512-036 Original Contract Price = $328,802.95

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

2/3/2016 2/17/2016 3/11/2016 3/21/2016 6/24/2016 90 6 96

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 3/21/2016 4/30/2016 41 $23,553.00 $23,553.00 $2,617.00 $2,617.00 8 43
2 5/1/2016 5/31/2016 31 $35,329.50 $58,882.50 $3,925.50 $6,542.50 20 75
3 6/1/2016 6/24/2016 24 $195,889.50 $254,772.00 $21,765.50 $28,308.00 88 100
4 6/25/2016 9/30/2016 0 $32,280.08 $287,052.08 $3,586.68 $31,894.68 99 100

4/28/2017 Comments -

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 11/29/2016 -7,856.20 -7,856.20

Adjusted Price = $320,946.75

The Contractor is working on Closeout Documents and has submitted the as-builts.

2E: Differing Site Conditions  (unforeseeable). Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9).  This Change Order provides the final 
balancing for the overrun/underrun of Contract quantities on the project as a result of addressing field conditions not accounted for in the original plans. 2J: 
Differing Site Conditions  (unforeseeable). Other. This change order also adds time to the contract to cover the time it took the electrical service application and 
installation to be completed at the Gattis School site for Williamson County.

22



Bill Pickett Trail (East Williamson County Access Road)
Project No. 1601-045 Original Contract Price = $3,806,133.30

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

3/16/2016 4/5/2016 5/2/2016 5/12/2016 11/11/2016 100 30 130

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 5/12/2016 5/31/2016 20 $643,105.80 $643,105.80 $71,456.20 $71,456.20 19 15
2 6/1/2016 6/30/2016 30 $268,272.41 $911,378.21 $29,808.05 $101,264.25 28 38
3 7/1/2016 7/31/2016 31 $378,344.61 $1,289,722.82 $42,038.29 $143,302.54 39 62
4 8/1/2016 8/31/2016 31 $476,356.92 $1,766,079.74 $52,928.54 $196,231.08 53 86
5 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 30 $463,467.16 $2,229,546.90 $51,496.35 $247,727.43 67 109
6 10/1/2016 10/31/2016 31 $776,046.85 $3,005,593.75 $86,227.43 $333,954.86 91 133
7 11/1/2016 11/30/2016 30 $150,073.08 $3,155,666.83 $16,674.79 $350,629.65 95 156
8 12/1/2016 12/31/2016 0 $11,444.91 $3,167,111.74 $1,271.65 $351,901.30 96 156

4/28/2017 Comments -

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 6/7/2016 -85.80 -85.80

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
02 8/9/2016 3,305.00 3,219.20

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
03 9/6/2016 -102,204.38 -98,985.18

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
04 9/20/2016 -24,873.50 -123,858.68

Adjusted Price = $3,682,274.62

The Contractor is working on the punchlist items, including vegetation watering and re-seeding various locations.

3K: This Change Order adds Select Fill material to be used in lieu of Lime Treated Subgrade. This change requires adjustments to the earthwork quantities and 
deletes the lime related items from the Contract.

3H: County Convenience. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction. This Change Order adds a new contract item to change the Type C SAC A 
PG 76-22 surface asphalt to Type D SAC B PG 70-22 surface asphalt which provides a cost savings to the County. 1A:  Design Error or Omission. Incorrect 
PS&E. This Change Order adds asphalt quantity for the school driveway to account for a 4" thickness rather than 2" inadvertently included in the plans. 6B: 
Untimely ROW/Utilities. Right of Way not clear (County responsible for ROW). Thirty days are being added for delays associated in acquiring Right of Way.

3H: County Convenience. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction.  This Change Order removes the Erosion Control Compost (3") called for in 
the plans and replaces it with new contract items for Fertilizer and Soil Retention Blanket. Vegetation can be established and erosion can be minimized by 
using fertilizer and soil retention blanket in lieu of the Erosion Control Compost at a substantial cost savings for the County.  

3H: County Convenience. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction.  This Change Order replaces the Tier II Asphalt and Type D Grade 5 Sac B 
Aggregate in the contract with a Hot-Applied Non-Tracking Underseal (TFT-H). This is a substitution for a traditional underseal and eliminates the need for 
aggregate in the application process.  

23



                          Project Location 
 
 
 
 

County Road 110 South
(US 79 to Limmer Loop)

Project Length: 2.25 Miles
Roadway Classification: Minor Urban Arterial

Project Schedule: January 2017-June 2018
Estimated Construction Cost: $11.2 Million

APRIL 2017 IN REVIEW

4/7/2017: Chasco Constructors continued the 16” water line installation at 
Mozart Lane and Limmer Loop. The 8” water line installation continued across 
CR 110 at Porano. H-D Drilling continued boring the encased water line under 
CR 110 north of Porano.  Oncor’s subcontractor Willbros continued placing 
poles and installing electrical lines. Two poles remain to be installed.

4/14/2017: The 16” water line installation on Limmer Loop was completed. 
Services were installed at Porano and at Limmer Loop. Subcontractor 
Bryant/Frey bored across CR 110 at CR 122. Oncor’s subcontractor Willbros 
continued installing electrical lines. All Poles have been placed.

4/21/2017: The installation of the 8” water lines across Limmer Loop was 
completed. Subcontractor H-D Drilling finished boring the encased water line 
under CR 110 north of US 79. Oncor’s subcontractor Willbros continued 
installing electrical lines. 

4/28/2017: A 16” water line was installed north of Limmer Loop.  
Subcontractor Bryant/Frey excavated and began boring under McNutt Creek. 
Oncor’s subcontractor Willbros completed installing electrical lines. 
Subcontractor Texas State Communications completed communication lines.

Design Engineer: Dannenbaum
Contractor: Chasco Constructors
Construction Observation:
David Boone, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

24



CR 110 South (US 79 to Limmer Loop)
Project No. 1604-075 Original Contract Price = $11,224,589.02

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

9/27/2016 10/17/2016 1/3/2017 1/13/2017 510 0 510

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 1/13/2017 3/31/2017 78 $1,679,979.60 $1,679,979.60 $186,664.40 $186,664.40 17 15

Adjusted Price = $11,224,589.02

25



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   38.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Bagdad Road at CR 278 Antiquities Permit Application
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding an Antiquities Permit Application to the Texas Historical
Commission required as part of the Due Diligence Environmental Investigations for Bagdad Road at CR 278, a
project in Commissioner Pct. 2.

Background
The permit requests the approval of intensive pedestrian survey, with surface and subsurface investigations as
necessary based on field conditions, on Bagdad Road at CR 278 needed to satisfy Environmental Due Diligence
requirements. No investigations will take place until a permit is received from the Texas Historical Commission.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Bagdad Road Antiquities Permit Application

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 05/09/2017 04:56 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



 
 

ANTIQUITIES PERMIT APPLICATION FORM  
ARCHEOLOGY 

 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
I. PROPERTY TYPE AND LOCATION 
 
Project Name (and/or Site Trinomial)  Bagdad Road at County Road 278 Improvements Project   
County (ies)    Williamson           
USGS Quadrangle Name and Number  Liberty Hill, Texas (3097-323)      
UTM Coordinates  Zone   14   E 604857.2     N  3389915.2  
Location  The project area is located roughly 2.15 miles south of Liberty Hill, Texas in western Williamson County  
Federal Involvement       Yes   X  No 
Name of Federal Agency              
Agency Representative               
 
II. OWNER (OR CONTROLLING AGENCY) 
 
Owner   Williamson County            
Representative Judge Dan A. Gattis          
Address  710 South Main Street, Suite 101          
City/State/Zip Georgetown, TX 78626            
Telephone (include area code) 512.943.1550    Email Address  ctyjudge@wilco.org    
 
III. PROJECT SPONSOR (IF DIFFERENT FROM OWNER) 
 
Sponsor   Lockwood, Andrews & Newnam, Inc.         
Representative   Robert D. Austin                 
Address  10101 Reunion Place, Suite 200           
City/State/Zip     San Antonio, TX  78216              
Telephone (include area code) 210.499.5082   Email Address  RDAustin@lan-inc.com   
 
 
 
 

PROJECT INFORMATION 
 
I. PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR (ARCHEOLOGIST) 
 
Name   Brandon Young             
Affiliation SWCA              
Address  4407 Monterey Oaks Blvd. Suite 110          
City/State/Zip Austin, TX  78749                                
Telephone (include area code) 512-476-0891   Email Address  byoung@swca.com      
 

 
(OVER) 

 
 



ANTIQUITIES PERMIT APPLICATION FORM (CONTINUED) 
 
II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
Proposed Starting Date of Fieldwork   May 5, 2017         
Requested Permit Duration   5 Years        Months     (1 year minimum) 
Scope of Work (Provided an Outline of Proposed Work) SWCA will conduct an intensive pedestrian survey (with 
subsurface testing as necessary based on field conditions) of the proposed 4,500-foot-long Bagdad Road improvement 
area (please refer to the attached Scope of Work). 
 
III. CURATION & REPORT 
 
Temporary Curatorial or Laboratory Facility  SWCA Austin         
Permanent Curatorial Facility    Center for Archaeological Research     
 
IV. LAND OWNER’S CERTIFICATION 
 
I,  Judge Dan A. Gattis      , as legal representative of the Land Owner,  
 Williamson County     , do certify that I have reviewed the plans and research 
design, and that no investigations will be preformed prior to the issuance of a permit by the Texas Historical Commission. 
Furthermore, I understand that the Owner, Sponsor, and Principal Investigator are responsible for completing the terms of 
the permit. 
Signature             Date  April         , 2017  
 
V. SPONSOR’S CERTIFICATION 
 
I,  Robert Austin        , as legal representative of the Sponsor,  
 Lockwood, Andrews & Newnam, Inc.       , do certify that I have 
review the plans and research design, and that no investigations will be performed prior to the issuance of a permit by the 
Texas Historical Commission. Furthermore, I understand that the Sponsor, Owner, and Principal Investigator are 
responsible for completing the terms of this permit. 
 
Signature            Date   April           , 2017  
 
VI. INVESTIGATOR’S CERTIFICATION 
 
I,   Brandon Young       , as Principal Investigator employed by  
   SWCA       (Investigative Firm), do certify that I will 
execute this project according to the submitted plans and research design, and will not conduct any work prior to the 
issuance of a permit by the Texas Historical Commission. Furthermore, I understand that the Principal Investigator (and 
the Investigative Firm), as well as the Owner and Sponsor, are responsible for completing the terms of this permit. 
 
  
Signature            Date  April 25, 2017   
 
Principal Investigator must attach a research design, a copy of the USGS quadrangle showing project boundaries, and any 
additional pertinent information. Curriculum vita must be on file with the Archeology Division. 
 

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY 
Reviewer         Date Permit Issues        
Permit Number         Permit Expiration Date        
Type of Permit         Date Received for Data Entry        
 
 
Texas Historical Commission 
Archeology Division 
P.O. Box 12276, Austin, TX 78711-2276 
Phone 512/463-6096 
www.thc.state.tx.us  
3/3/09  

 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   39.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Bagdad Road at CR 278 TCEQ Agent Authorization Form
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding a TCEQ Agent Authorization Form for the Edwards
Aquifer Protection Program associated with Bagdad Road at CR 278, a project in Commissioner Pct 2.

Background
The Bagdad Road at CR 278 project requires TCEQ approval of a Contributing Zone Plan (CZP) prior to
construction. A TCEQ Agent Authorization Form is required to authorize an employee of LAN, the design engineer,
to submit the needed CZP for TCEQ review and approval on behalf of the County.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Bagdad Rd Agent Authorization Form

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 05/09/2017 05:04 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



 

TCEQ-0599 (Rev.04/01/2010)          Page 1 of 2 

Agent Authorization Form 
For Required Signature 

Edwards Aquifer Protection Program 
Relating to 30 TAC Chapter 213 

Effective June 1, 1999 
 
 
I      JUDGE DAN GATTIS     , 

Print Name 
 
     WILLIAMSON COUNTY JUDGE    , 

Title - Owner/President/Other 
 
of         Williamson County     , 

Corporation/Partnership/Entity Name 
 
have authorized     CRAIG L. HEBBE, PE      

Print Name of Agent/Engineer 
 
of      LOCKWOOD, ANDREWS & NEWNAM, INC.    

Print Name of Firm 
 
to represent and act on the behalf of the above named Corporation, Partnership, or Entity for 
the purpose of preparing and submitting this plan application to the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (TCEQ) for the review and approval consideration of regulated 
activities. 
 
 
I also understand that: 
 
1. The applicant is responsible for compliance with 30 Texas Administrative Code 

Chapter 213 and any condition of the TCEQ’s approval letter.  The TCEQ is authorized 
to assess administrative penalties of up to $10,000 per day per violation. 

 
2.   For those submitting an application who are not the property owner, but who have the 

right to control and possess the property, additional authorization is required from the 
owner. 

 
3. Application fees are due and payable at the time the application is submitted.  The 

application fee must be sent to the TCEQ cashier or to the appropriate regional office.  
The application will not be considered until the correct fee is received by the 
commission. 

 
4. A notarized copy of the Agent Authorization Form must be provided for the person 

preparing the application, and this form must accompany the completed application. 
 
5. No person shall commence any regulated activity on the Edwards Aquifer Recharge 

Zone, Contributing Zone or Transition Zone until the appropriate application for the 
activity has been filed with and approved by the Executive Director. 

 



 

TCEQ-0599 (Rev.04/01/2010)          Page 2 of 2 

SIGNATURE PAGE: 
 
 
 
 
            

Applicant's Signature    Date 
 
 
 
 
THE STATE OF _________ § 
 
County of ______________ § 
 
 
BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared   _____known 
to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged to 
me that (s)he executed same for the purpose and consideration therein expressed. 
 
GIVEN under my hand and seal of office on this ____ day of __________,_____. 
 
 
           
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
            
     Typed or Printed Name of Notary 
 
 
     MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:     



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   40.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

1607-102 Pearson Ranch Rd Extension Change Order No. 1
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding Change Order No. 1 in the amount of -$92,621.70 for
Pearson Ranch Road Extension, a Road Bond Project in Commissioner Pct. 1.

Background

This Change Order revises the City of Austin (COA) water and wastewater work shown in the
original plans. The COA requested that the installation of the 8” and 24” pipe and related items
be deleted from the contract. The COA funded the water and wastewater work shown in the
plans and will receive a credit for the reduction in cost to the contract. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
1607-102 Pearson Ranch Rd CO No.01

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 05/09/2017 05:09 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 





Pearson Ranch Road Extension Final WW Quantity Revisions

CHANGE ORDER NUMBER: 1  Project # 1607-102

 TABLE A: Force Account Work and Materials Placed into Stock             

LABOR HOURLY RATE HOURLY RATE

 TABLE B:  Contract Items:  

ADD  or 
(DEDUCT)

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT UNIT PRICE QUANTITY ITEM COST QUANTITY QUANTITY ITEM COST
OVERRUN/ 
UNDERRUN

432SR-4
SF $9.50 382 $3,629.00 (382.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($3,629.00)

506-MWW
EA $2,500.00 2 $5,000.00 (2.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($5,000.00)

506S-EDMWW LVF $220.00 12 $2,640.00 (12.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($2,640.00)
506S-4WW EA $1,100.00 4 $4,400.00 3.00 7.00 $7,700.00 $3,300.00
506S-DWW EA $4,100.00 1 $4,100.00 (1.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($4,100.00)

509S-1
LF $1.65 315 $519.75 (198.00) 117.00 $193.05 ($326.70)

510-AWRJ-24
LF $238.00 50 $11,900.00 (50.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($11,900.00)

510-AWW-8
LF $67.00 148 $9,916.00 (148.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($9,916.00)

510-IW 24"X6" EA $17,000.00 1 $17,000.00 (1.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($17,000.00)
510-JW 24" x 24" EA $7,700.00 1 $7,700.00 (1.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($7,700.00)

510-KWW TON $6,300.00 2.00 $12,600.00 (1.70) 0.30 $1,890.00 ($10,710.00)
511S-A24GV EA $23,000.00 1 $23,000.00 (1.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($23,000.00)

TOTALS $102,404.75 $9,783.05 ($92,621.70)

WET CONNECTIONS, 24" DIA. X 24" DIA.

STANDARD PRECAST MANHOLE W/PRE-CAST BASE, 48" 
DIAM., 4 FEET TO 8 FEET IN DEPTH, COMPLETE AND IN PLACE

EXTRA DEPTH OF MANHOLE, 4' DIA., COMPLETE IN PLACE

FACTORY RESTRAINED JOINT PIPE, 24 IN. DIA., CLASS 250 
DUCTILE IRON (ALL DEPTHS), INCLUDING EXCAVATION AND 
BACKFILL

RECONSTRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALKS TO 4-INCH 
THICKNESS, INCLUDING REMOVAL OF EXISTING SIDEWALK, 
COMPLETE AND IN PLACE

MINOR MANHOLE HEIGHT ADJUSTMENT
DROP MANHOLE W/PRE-CAST BASE, 4' DIA.

TRENCH EXCAVATION SAFETY PROTECTION SYSTEMS (ALL 
DEPTHS)

VALVES, GATE, 24" DIAMETER, WITH VAULT
DUCTILE IRON FITTINGS

WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS

ORIGINAL + PREVIOUSLY 
REVISED

NEW

PIPE, 8 IN. DIA., PVC SDR-26 (ALL DEPTHS), INCLUDING 
EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL

PRESSURE TAP, 24" DIA. X 6" DIA.

Page 2 of 3



CHANGE ORDER REASON(S) CODE CHART

  1.  Design Error or Omission 1A. Incorrect PS&E 

1B. Other

  2.  Differing Site Conditions 2A. Dispute resolution (expense caused by conditions and/or resulting delay)

       (unforeseeable) 2B. Unavailable material

2C. New development (conditions changing after PS&E completed)

2D. Environmental remediation

2E. Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9)

2F. Site conditions altered by an act of nature

2G. Unadjusted utility (unforeseeable)

2H. Unacquired Right-of-Way (unforeseeable)

2I. Additional safety needs (unforeseeable)

2J. Other

  3.  County Convenience 3A. Dispute resolution (not resulting from error in plans or differing site conditions)

3B. Public relations improvement

3C. Implementation of a Value Engineering finding

3D. Achievement of an early project completion

3E. Reduction of future maintenance

3F. Additional work desired by the County

3G. Compliance requirements of new laws and/or policies

3H. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction

3I. Implementation of improved technology or better process

3J. Price adjustment on finished work (price reduced in exchange for acceptance)

3K. Addition of stock account or material supplied by state provision

3L. Revising safety work/measures desired by the County

3M. Other

  4.  Third Party Accommodation 4A. Failure of a third party to meet commitment

4B. Third party requested work

4C. Compliance requirements of new laws and/or policies (impacting third party)

4D. Other

  5.  Contractor Convenience 5A. Contractor exercises option to change the traffic control plan

5B. Contractor requested change in the sequence and/or method of work

5C. Payment for Partnering workshop

5D. Additional safety work/measures desired by the contractor

5E. Other

  6.  Untimely ROW/Utilities 6A. Right-of-Way not clear (third party responsibility for ROW)

6B. Right-of-Way not clear (County responsibility for ROW)

6C. Utilities not clear

6D. Other



Williamson County Road Bond Program 
 

Pearson Ranch Road Extension 
Williamson County Project No. 1607-102 

 
Change Order No. 1 

 
Reason for Change 

 
This Change Order revises the City of Austin (COA) water and wastewater work shown 
in the original plans. The COA requested that the installation of the 8” and 24” pipe and 
related items be deleted from the contract. The COA funded the water and wastewater 
work shown in the plans and will get credit for the reduction in cost to the contract.   
 
This Change Order results in a net decrease of $92,621.70 to the Contract amount, for 
an adjusted Contract total of $4,423,557.07. The original Contract amount was 
$4,516,178.77. As a result of this and all Change Orders to-date, $92,621.70 has been 
deducted from the Contract, resulting in a 2.0% net decrease in the Contract cost. No 
days will be added to or subtracted from the Contract as a result of this Change Order. 
 
 
HNTB Corporation  
 
James Klotz, P.E. 







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   41.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

1604-068 Forest North Ph 1 Change Order No. 2
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding Change Order No. 2 in the amount of $58,006.83 for
Forest North Drainage Phase 1, a Road Bond Project in Commissioner Pct. 1.

Background

This Change Order compensates the Contractor for the removal and relocation of an existing
waterline in conflict with a proposed storm sewer line. The conflict is located near the corner of
Broadmeade Avenue and Braeburn Glen. The existing waterline was not shown on the City of
Austin waterline plans and therefore was not known to be in conflict prior to the storm sewer
installation. The Contractor has agreed to extend existing bid items to pay for this relocation
work and has requested additional pay items with daily rates for de-watering the trench and the
required traffic control. This Change Order also adds a pay item for trench repair for removal of
existing asbestos water line required to be relocated.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
1604-068 Forest North Drainage Ph 1 CO No 2

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 08:33 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 05/09/2017 05:17 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 





CHANGE ORDER NUMBER: 2 Project # 1604-068

 TABLE A: Force Account Work and Materials Placed into Stock             

LABOR HOURLY RATE HOURLY RATE

 TABLE B:  Contract Items:  
ADD  or 

(DEDUCT)

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT UNIT PRICE QUANTITY ITEM COST QUANTITY QUANTITY ITEM COST
OVERRUN/ 
UNDERRUN

509S-1
Trench Excavation Safety Protection Systems (All 
Depths)

LF $3.00 5,716.00 $17,148.00 74.00 5,790.00 $17,370.00 $222.00

510-AW8-DIA LF $85.00 2,469.00 $209,865.00 74.00 2,543.00 $216,155.00 $6,290.00

510-KWW Ductile Iron Fittings TON $8,500.00 6.60              $56,100.00 0.069 6.67 $56,686.50 $586.50

510-JW-AC 8"x8" AC Pipe Connections, 8" Dia. X 8" Dia. EA $3,800.00 34.00            $129,200.00 2.00 36.00 $136,800.00 $7,600.00

1900-W8DIA Removing Pipe, 8" Diameter, AC Pipe LF $32.00 706.00          $22,592.00 40.00 746.00 $23,872.00 $1,280.00
509-WC01 De-Watering Trench for Waterline Relocation DAY $200.00 0.00 $0.00 5.00 5.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

502-COA1 BARRICADES, SIGNS AND TRAFFIC HANDLING DAY $106.67 0.00 $0.00 5.00 5.00 $533.33 $533.33
1900-TR Cut/Restore Pavement for AC Pipe Removal SY $65.00 0.00 $0.00 623.00 623.00 $40,495.00 $40,495.00

TOTALS $434,905.00 $492,911.83 $58,006.83

WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS

ORIGINAL + PREVIOUSLY 
REVISED

NEW

Pipe, 8" Diameter, DI CL 350 (All Depths) With Restrained Joints 
Including Excavation and Backfill



CHANGE ORDER REASON(S) CODE CHART

  1.  Design Error or Omission 1A. Incorrect PS&E 

1B. Other

  2.  Differing Site Conditions 2A. Dispute resolution (expense caused by conditions and/or resulting delay)

       (unforeseeable) 2B. Unavailable material

2C. New development (conditions changing after PS&E completed)

2D. Environmental remediation

2E. Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9)

2F. Site conditions altered by an act of nature

2G. Unadjusted utility (unforeseeable)

2H. Unacquired Right-of-Way (unforeseeable)

2I. Additional safety needs (unforeseeable)

2J. Other

  3.  County Convenience 3A. Dispute resolution (not resulting from error in plans or differing site conditions)

3B. Public relations improvement

3C. Implementation of a Value Engineering finding

3D. Achievement of an early project completion

3E. Reduction of future maintenance

3F. Additional work desired by the County

3G. Compliance requirements of new laws and/or policies

3H. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction

3I. Implementation of improved technology or better process

3J. Price adjustment on finished work (price reduced in exchange for acceptance)

3K. Addition of stock account or material supplied by state provision

3L. Revising safety work/measures desired by the County

3M. Other

  4.  Third Party Accommodation 4A. Failure of a third party to meet commitment

4B. Third party requested work

4C. Compliance requirements of new laws and/or policies (impacting third party)

4D. Other

  5.  Contractor Convenience 5A. Contractor exercises option to change the traffic control plan

5B. Contractor requested change in the sequence and/or method of work

5C. Payment for Partnering workshop

5D. Additional safety work/measures desired by the contractor

5E. Other

  6.  Untimely ROW/Utilities 6A. Right-of-Way not clear (third party responsibility for ROW)

6B. Right-of-Way not clear (County responsibility for ROW)

6C. Utilities not clear

6D. Other



Williamson County Road Bond Program 
 

Forest North 
Williamson County Project No. 1604-068 

 
Change Order No. 2 

 
Reason for Change 

 
This Change Order compensates the Contractor to remove and relocate an existing 
waterline that is in conflict with proposed storm sewer line BB1. The conflict is located 
near the corner of Broadmeade Avenue and Braeburn Glen. The existing waterline was 
not shown on the City of Austin waterline plans and therefore was not located by the 
One-Call services, prior to the storm sewer installation. The Contractor has agreed to 
extend existing bid items to pay for this work and has requested additional pay items 
with daily rates for de-watering the trench and required traffic control. 
 
This Change Order also pays the Contractor for completed trench repair for the 
asbestos pipe that has been removed. A portion of the trench repair quantity has been 
added to this change order to compensate the Contractor for work that has been 
completed. The remaining quantity will be added to a future change order. The City of 
Austin is responsible for paying the cost for both issues.   
 
Following is a summary of the new items required for this change order. 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT 
509-WC01 DE-WATERING TRENCH FOR WATER LINE 

RELOCATION 
5 DAY 

502-COA1 BARRICADES, SIGNS AND TRAFFIC 
HANDLING 

5 DAY 

1900-TR CUT/RESTORE PAVEMENT FOR AC PIPE 
REMOVAL 

623 SY 

 
This Change Order results in a net increase of $58,006.83 to the Contract amount, for 
an adjusted Contract total of $3,646,472.33.  The original Contract amount was 
$3,556,659.50.  As a result of this and all Change Orders to-date, $89,812.83 has been 
added to the Contract, resulting in a 2.5% net increase in the Contract cost. Five (5) 
additional days will be added to the Contract because of this Change Order. 
 
HNTB Corporation  
 
James Klotz, P.E. 



 

City of Austin 
Forest North- Water and Wastewater Utility 

Relocations - 100% 
EOPC RFI #8 
March 7, 2017 

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

 
     
509S-1 Trench Excavation Safety Protection Systems 

(All Depths) 
74.00 LF $ 3.00 $ 222.00

510-AW8-DI Pipe, 8" Diameter, DI CL 350 (All Depths) With 
Restrained Joints Includes Excavation and 
Backfill 

74.00 LF $ 85.00 $ 6,290.00

510-KW Ductile Iron Fittings 0.07 TON $ 8,500.00 $ 586.50
SP 510-JW-AC 8" x 8" AC Pipe Connections, 8" Dia. x 8" Dia. 2.00 EA $ 3,800.00 $ 7,600.00
SP 1901-1-W8DIA Removing Pipe, 8" Diameter, AC Pipe 40.00 LF $ 32.00 $ 1,280.00
     
Total     $ 15,978.50







1

Eddie R. Church

From: Ryan Rivera
Sent: Monday, April 17, 2017 9:16 AM
To: paul@denucciconstructors.com; Clayton Weber
Cc: 62811_1604-068_ForestNorthPh1; nancyc@denucciconstructors.com; James Klotz; Christen 

Eschberger; Eddie R. Church
Subject: RE: FW: Relocation Design for RFI #8

Ok, we will add that item at the rate to the change order. The de‐watering and the traffic control will be billed at 3 days.
 
Ryan 
 

From: paul@denucciconstructors.com [mailto:paul@denucciconstructors.com]  
Sent: Friday, April 14, 2017 10:07 AM 
To: Clayton Weber <cweber@HNTB.com> 
Cc: 62811_1604‐068_ForestNorthPh1 <ForestNorthPh1@HNTB.com>; Ryan Rivera <rrivera@HNTB.com>; 
nancyc@denucciconstructors.com; James Klotz <jklotz@HNTB.com>; Christen Eschberger <ceschberger@HNTB.com>; 
Eddie R. Church <erchurch@HNTB.com> 
Subject: RE: FW: Relocation Design for RFI #8 

 
Ok  It is just our monthly cost prorated for the 5 days added to the contract. 
 
 
3200/30 x 5 = $533.33 
 
 
Paul T. DeNucci 
DeNucci Constructors, LLC 
8310-1 Cap Tx Hwy N. Ste 275 
Austin, Texas 78731 
512-335-0600 
512-342-0600 fax 
512-658-3986 cell 
paul@denucciconstructors.com 
www.denucciconstructors.com 
  
 

-------- Original Message -------- 
Subject: RE: FW: Relocation Design for RFI #8 
From: Clayton Weber <cweber@HNTB.com> 
Date: Fri, April 14, 2017 9:56 am 
To: "paul@denucciconstructors.com" <paul@denucciconstructors.com> 
Cc: 62811_1604-068_ForestNorthPh1 <ForestNorthPh1@HNTB.com>, Ryan Rivera 
<rrivera@HNTB.com>, "nancyc@denucciconstructors.com" 
<nancyc@denucciconstructors.com>, James Klotz <jklotz@HNTB.com>, 
"Christen Eschberger" <ceschberger@HNTB.com>, "Eddie R. Church" 
<erchurch@HNTB.com> 

No you do not need to, we are putting the change order together with the costs mentioned in your previous 
email.  The email did not mention a cost for the additional traffic control, so you will need to submit a cost for 
that item.   

erchurch
Highlight



1

Eddie R. Church

From: Salinas, Jessica <Jessica.Salinas@austintexas.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, January 10, 2017 3:59 PM
To: Ryan Rivera; Rhodes, Dustin
Cc: Dawn Haggard; 62811_1604-068_ForestNorthPh1; James Klotz
Subject: RE: 1604-068 Forest North_COA Change Order #1 proposal
Attachments: SKMBT_C284e16122210100.pdf

Ryan, 
Thank you for the proposed change order.  This is in line with what we discussed in our last meeting.  As you recall, this 
amount exceeds our total authorization for the project.  We will need to go back to Council for additional funding.  We 
plan to submit this item for the March 23rd Council Meeting.   
 
NOTE:  This change order is pending Council approval.  Please let me know if you have any questions. 
 
Thanks, 
Jessica 
 

From: Ryan Rivera [mailto:rrivera@HNTB.com]  
Sent: Thursday, December 22, 2016 9:21 AM 
To: Rhodes, Dustin <Dustin.Rhodes@austinwater.com>; Salinas, Jessica <Jessica.Salinas@austintexas.gov> 
Cc: Dawn Haggard <dhaggard@HNTB.com>; 62811_1604‐068_ForestNorthPh1 <ForestNorthPh1@HNTB.com>; James 
Klotz <jklotz@HNTB.com> 
Subject: 1604‐068 Forest North_COA Change Order #1 proposal 
 
Dustin/Jessica, 
 
I have attached the proposed change order for the AC pipe removal along with other items for your review. In the 
attachment you will also find the back‐up information necessary to support the change order qtys. Regarding Paul’s 
proposal, I mentioned to him that the equipment and labor will be taken off due to the overrun of existing items. He also
added the qty of Trench Repair to cover the existing qty of AC pipe removal (part of which has already been 
paved/repaired) in addition to the qty for future AC pipe removal.  Let me know if you have any questions and/or if 
anything needs to be changed. 
 
Thanks, 
 
 

Ryan Rivera 
Construction Representative 
Tel  (512) 527-6717 
Cell (512) 677-1861 
Fax (512) 248-9940 
 
HNTB CORPORATION  
101 E. Old Settlers Blvd., Suite 100, Round Rock, TX 78664  |  www.hntb.com  
 

    100+ YEARS OF INFRASTRUCTURE SOLUTIONS   
 





erchurch
Rectangle



erchurch
Rectangle

erchurch
Text Box
Total=1,246 sys

erchurch
Text Box
1,246 / 2 = 623 sys

erchurch
Line







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   42.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

1603-062 CR 258 Change Order No. 6
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding Change Order No. 6 in the amount of $23,780.00 for CR
258, a Road Bond Project in Commissioner Pct. 2.

Background
This Change Order provides an overrun to Item 508 Constructing Detours due to the original plans not providing
enough width between the temporary detour and the proposed pavement in Phase 1. The width of the detour was
also increased at box culverts to allow for a 3:1 slope and drainage between the roadways. The additional detour
width enabled the addition of a 3:1 slope thus eliminating the need for Item 403 Temporary Shoring and reducing
the need for Item 512 Low Profile Concrete Traffic Barrier (LPCTB) during Phase 1. Since the cost of the
Temporary Shoring and LPCTB is more expensive than the additional temporary pavement, deleting those items
minimizes the overall cost to the project. Item 552 Wire Fencing was eliminated because the adjacent property
owners had already relocated their fences and gates prior to the beginning of construction. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
1603-062 CR 258 CO No. 6

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:49 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 05/09/2017 05:21 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 





CHANGE ORDER NUMBER: 6  Project # 1603-062

 TABLE A: Force Account Work and Materials Placed into Stock             

LABOR HOURLY RATE HOURLY RATE

 TABLE B:  Contract Items:  

ADD  or 
(DEDUCT)

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT UNIT PRICE QUANTITY ITEM COST QUANTITY QUANTITY ITEM COST
OVERRUN/ 
UNDERRUN

403-6001 TEMPORARY SPL SHORING SF $13.00 5,521.00 $71,773.00 (5,521.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($71,773.00)
508-6001 CONSTURCTING DETOURS SY $67.00 6,004.00                $402,268.00 2,779.00 8,783.00 $588,461.00 $186,193.00
512-6033 PORT CTB (MOVE)(LOW PROF)(TY 1) LF $6.00 220.00 $1,320.00 (200.00) 20.00 $120.00 ($1,200.00)
512-6034 PORT CTB (MOVE)(LOW PROF)(TY 2) LF $6.00 80.00 $480.00 (40.00) 40.00 $240.00 ($240.00)
552-6001 WIRE FENCE (TY A) LF $9.00 4,000.00                $36,000.00 (4,000.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($36,000.00)
552-6002 WIRE FENCE (TY B) LF $10.50 2,000.00                $21,000.00 (2,000.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($21,000.00)
552-6006 GATE (TY 2) EA $1,400.00 23.00 $32,200.00 (23.00) 0.00 $0.00 ($32,200.00)

TOTALS $565,041.00 $588,821.00 $23,780.00

WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS

ORIGINAL + PREVIOUSLY REVISED NEW



CHANGE ORDER REASON(S) CODE CHART

  1.  Design Error or Omission 1A. Incorrect PS&E 

1B. Other

  2.  Differing Site Conditions 2A. Dispute resolution (expense caused by conditions and/or resulting delay)

       (unforeseeable) 2B. Unavailable material

2C. New development (conditions changing after PS&E completed)

2D. Environmental remediation

2E. Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9)

2F. Site conditions altered by an act of nature

2G. Unadjusted utility (unforeseeable)

2H. Unacquired Right-of-Way (unforeseeable)

2I. Additional safety needs (unforeseeable)

2J. Other

  3.  County Convenience 3A. Dispute resolution (not resulting from error in plans or differing site conditions)

3B. Public relations improvement

3C. Implementation of a Value Engineering finding

3D. Achievement of an early project completion

3E. Reduction of future maintenance

3F. Additional work desired by the County

3G. Compliance requirements of new laws and/or policies

3H. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction

3I. Implementation of improved technology or better process

3J. Price adjustment on finished work (price reduced in exchange for acceptance)

3K. Addition of stock account or material supplied by state provision

3L. Revising safety work/measures desired by the County

3M. Other

  4.  Third Party Accommodation 4A. Failure of a third party to meet commitment

4B. Third party requested work

4C. Compliance requirements of new laws and/or policies (impacting third party)

4D. Other

  5.  Contractor Convenience 5A. Contractor exercises option to change the traffic control plan

5B. Contractor requested change in the sequence and/or method of work

5C. Payment for Partnering workshop

5D. Additional safety work/measures desired by the contractor

5E. Other

  6.  Untimely ROW/Utilities 6A. Right-of-Way not clear (third party responsibility for ROW)

6B. Right-of-Way not clear (County responsibility for ROW)

6C. Utilities not clear

6D. Other



Williamson County Road Bond Program 
 

CR 258 
Williamson County Project No. 1603-062 

 
Change Order No. 6 

 
Reason for Change 

 
 

This change order documents the quantity/cost overrun to existing bid Item 508 
Constructing Detours, the deletion of the quantity in existing bid Item 403 Temporary 
Shoring, Items 552 Wire Fence Ty A, Ty B and Gate Ty 2 because these items will not 
be used on the project. There will also be a reduction in quantity for Item 512 Port 
Concrete Traffic Barrier Type 1 and 2 (Low Profile Concrete Traffic Barrier, LPCTB).      
 
Item 508 Constructing Detours was overrun because the original plans and quantity did 
not provide enough width between the temporary detour and the proposed pavement 
shown in Phase 1. This occurred in various locations along the length of the project. 
The width of the detour was also increased at the box culverts to allow width for a 3:1 
slope and drainage between the roadways. The additional width at the box culverts for 
the 3:1 slope eliminated the need for Item 403 Temporary Shoring and reduced the 
need for Item 512 Low Profile Concrete Traffic Barrier during Phase 1, which results in a 
cost savings. Since the cost of the Temporary Shoring and LPCTB is more expensive 
than the additional temporary pavement, deleting these items minimizes the overall cost 
to the project. The Item 552 Wire Fencing items were not needed because the adjacent 
property owners had already relocated their fences and gates prior to the beginning of 
construction.   
 
This Change Order results in a net increase of $23,780.00 to the Contract amount, for 
an adjusted Contract total of $5,981,016.27.  The original Contract amount was 
$5,808,856.58.  As a result of this and all Change Orders to-date, $172,159.69 has 
been added to the Contract, resulting in an 3.0% net increase in the Contract cost.  No 
additional days will be added to or deducted from the Contract because of this Change 
Order. 
 
 
HNTB Corporation 
 
James Klotz, P.E. 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   43.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Prime Strategies Agreement for Engineering Services for the Long Range Transportation Plan Corridor Program
Submitted For: Robert Daigh  Submitted By: Sarah Ramos, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on new Agreement for Engineering Services with Prime Strategies,
Inc. to provide General Engineering Consultant – Program Management and Planning & Design Services for the
Long Range Transportation Plan Corridor Program.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
PSI-LTPCorridorProgram-Contract-05102017

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Sarah Ramos Started On: 05/11/2017 11:03 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 













































































   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   44.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

CR 119 Interlocal Agreement
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an Interlocal Agreement between Williamson County and the City
of Hutto for the extension of CR 119 from Limmer Loop to Chandler Road. 

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
CR 119 Interlocal Agreement

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 05/11/2017 09:15 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 











   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   45.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Line Item Transfers
Submitted For: Valerie Covey  Submitted By: Wendy Coco, County Judge
Department: Commissioner Pct. #3
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on rescinding two line item transfers approved for the Williamson
County Sheriff’s Office under Item #6 of the March 28, 2017 Commissioners Court Session and Item #7 of the May
2, 2017 Commissioners Court Session.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Form Started By: Wendy Coco Started On: 05/12/2017 09:40 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   46.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Master Gardeners Building
Submitted For: Valerie Covey  Submitted By: Rachel Rull, Commissioner Pct. #3
Department: Commissioner Pct. #3
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on granting the Williamson County Master Gardeners permission to
place a non-permanent storage building and privacy fence within their current 5 acre allotment at 3151 SE Inner
Loop, Georgetown, TX 78626. 

Background
The Williamson County Master Gardeners would like to place a movable storage building on their designated 5
acres at the Road & Bridge office. They have the funds to cover all costs and are seeking the Court's permission to
place the building and build the fence.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Rachel Rull Started On: 05/11/2017 10:33 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   47.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Supplemental Agreement for Champion Park
Submitted For: Randy Bell  Submitted By: Randy Bell, Parks
Department: Parks
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item

Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the
Agreement for Landscape Architectural Services between Williamson County and studio16.19,
LLC to obtain additional landscape architecture services and landscape development plans in
relation to adding a birthday party pavilion, public restroom and parking lot to Part 1 - Brushy
Creek Regional Trail Section Repair Project (15RFQ105).

Background
County and studio16.19, LLC previously executed an Agreement for Landscape Architectural Services, dated
effective July 6, 2015 (the “Agreement”), wherein studio16.19, LLC agreed to perform certain professional
landscape architectural services in connection with Part 1 Brushy Creek Regional Trail Section Repair (15RFQ105),
the “Project”. This Supplemental No. 1 will add the additional landscape architecture services and landscape
development plans necessary to add a Birthday Party Pavilion, Public Restroom and Parking Lot to the Project for a
not-to-exceed additional services fee of $94,350.00.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Supplemental Agreement

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/12/2017 03:48 PM
Form Started By: Randy Bell Started On: 05/11/2017 11:40 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/12/2017 











   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   48.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Cradlepoint Lease
Submitted For: Julie Kiley  Submitted By: Julie Kiley, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item

Discuss, consider and take any appropriate action to approve the Finalized Lease Schedule with
Dell Financial Services through DIR-SDD-1951 and authorize the execution of all necessary
documentation (Note: Master Lease agreement and lease of CradlePoint hardware and
maintenance from vendor GTS Technology Solutions under DIR-TSO-3653 was approved on
March 21, 2017 Item 63).

Background
This item was approved on March 21, 2017 Item 63. This is the final lease schedule requiring execution by the
County Judge.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Dell Lease Schedule for Cradlepoint Equipment

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Julie Kiley Started On: 05/11/2017 11:25 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 















   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   49.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Unallocated
Submitted By: Ashlie Koenig, Budget Office
Department: Budget Office
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on the Unallocated Process and Policies.

Background
The first slide gives various ideas as to the how to handle the remaining unallocated balances while the second
slide discusses timeline, process and policy requested by HR surrounding re-organizations and re-classifications.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Unallocated

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/09/2017 08:45 AM
Form Started By: Ashlie Koenig Started On: 05/08/2017 05:44 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/09/2017 







   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   50.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Awarding IFB 1704-156 Crack Seal
Submitted For: Randy Barker  Submitted By: Thomas Skiles, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on awarding IFB 1704-156, Crack Seal, to the lowest and best
bidders Right Pointe , Crafco Texas Inc. and The Quikrete Companies LLC.

Background
3 Bids were received and evaluated. After reviewing the bids, it is the recommendation of the Road and Bridge
Department, to award each vendor the following:

Right Pointe - Primary Vendor
Crafco Texas Inc - Secondary Vendor
The Quikrete Companies LLC - Tertiary Vendor



Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Recommendation
Bid Tab
Award Tab

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Purchasing (Originator) Thomas Skiles 05/11/2017 10:42 AM
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Thomas Skiles Started On: 05/11/2017 08:03 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 





55

66

Bid Tabulation Packet
for

Solicitation 1704-156

Crack Seal

Bid Designation: Public

Williamson County, Texas

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 1



5

6

Bid #1704-156 - Crack Seal

Creation Date    Apr 6, 2017 End Date May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Start Date Apr 18, 2017 1:22:23 PM CDT Awarded Date   Not Yet Awarded

1704-156-01-01   Please Attach All Documents To This Line

Supplier Unit Price Qty /Uni t Total Price Attch. Docs

The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR) First Offer -   1 / each Y Y

Product Code: 

Agency Notes:

Supplier Product Code:

Supplier Notes:  Our 50 lb. Boxes consists of (2) 25 lb 

blocks 

There are 27 Boxes per pallet 

Right Pointe [Ad] First Offer -   1 / each Y Y

Product Code: 

Agency Notes:

Supplier Product Code:  #5078 Class B

Supplier Notes:

CRAFCO TEXAS, INC [Ad] First Offer -   1 / each Y Y

Product Code: 

Agency Notes:

Supplier Product Code:

Supplier Notes:

Supplier Totals

f   Right Pointe  [Ad] $0.00    

 Bid Contact  Chad Strohl 

chads@rightpointe.com 

Ph 800-755 -5700   

 Address  234 Harvestore Drive

DeKalb, IL 60115 

Agency Notes: Supplier Notes: Head Attch:

f   The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement 

Repair (QPR) 
$0.00    

 Bid Contact  Lloyd Washington 

lwashington@qprmail.com 

Ph 800-388 -4338   

 Address  7322 Bonnyshire Drive

Chattanooga, TN 37416 

Agency Notes: Supplier Notes: Head 

Attch:

f   CRAFCO TEXAS, INC  [Ad] $0.00    

 Bid Contact  ANA ORTIZ 

ana.ortiz@crafco.com 

Ph 210-496 -2070   

Fax 210 -496 -2732 

 Address  105 TOWER DR

SAN ANTONIO, TX 78109 

Agency Notes: Supplier Notes: Head 

Attch:

* *

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 2



55

66

 Right Pointe 

 Bid Contact Chad Strohl 

chads@rightpointe.com 

Ph 800-755 -5700   

 Address 234 Harvestore Drive

DeKalb, IL 60115 

 Item #  Line Item Notes Unit Price     Qty/Unit Total Price  Attch.  Docs

 1704-156-01-01   Please Attach All 

Documents To This 

Line  

Supplier Product 

Code:  #5078 Class B

First Offer -    1 / each Y Y

Supplier Total  $0.00   

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 3



55

66

 Right Pointe

 Item: Please Attach All Documents To This Line 

 Attachments

 PDS -  5078 CLASS B - 050216.pdf

 Williamson County Bid 1704 -156.pdf

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 4



PR
O

D
U

C
T 

D
AT

A 
SH

EE
T

Right / Pointe Company • 234 Harvestore Drive Dekalb, IL  60115
 toll free: 888.755.5700 • office: 815.754.5700 • fax: 815.754.5702 • www.rightpointe.com

#5078 CLASS B
NO. JTS-072

DESCRIPTION
#5078 CLASS B is a mixture of asphalt, plasticizer, synthetic polymer, and 
reclaimed tire rubber.  Our most economical material is a hot applied, one 
part sealant that provides superior results over roofing and straight paving 
grade asphalts.
•  Good bonding characteristics
•  Weather resistant
•  Passes multiple freeze and thaw cycles

SPECIFICATIONS  
•  TX DOT Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer Class B

TYPICAL PROPERTIES
Minimum application temperature..................................... 380° F (193° C)
Maximum heating temperature.......................................... 400° F (204° C)
Cone penetration, 77° F (25° C)..........................................................30-50
Cone penetration, 32° F (0° C), 200 g 60 sec.  .................................. 12 min
Softening point (ASTM D36)........................................... 205° F (96° C) min
Flash point, modified C.O.C.......................................... 400° F (204° C) min
Virgin rubber polymer, % by wt......................................................2% min
Granulated vulcanized rubber, % by wt.......................................... 13-17%
Bond @ 20° F (-7° C), 50% ext................................................. Pass 3 cycles

USE AND APPLICATIONS
#5078 CLASS B is recommended for sealing of joints and cracks in concrete 
and asphaltic pavements and parking lots.  It is designed for use in sealing 
expansion and contraction joints as well as random cracks.
•  Roadways
•  Highway shoulders

FEATURES AND BENEFITS
•  Compound for concrete and asphaltic pavements
•  Actually prolongs the pavement service life
•  Seals cracks and joints from water penetration

EQUIPMENT 
Use an agitated oil-jacketed unit that has separate temperature gauges for 
both the sealant and the heat transfer fluid.  Take the 30 lb plastic bag of 
sealant and load into the kettle one at a time.  Melt only enough material 
for the day’s activities.  Once melted, additional material can be added as 
needed.  Material can be safely reheated within the sealants service life.

NOTE:  Prolonged heating of the sealant above the maximum safe heat-
ing temperature may cause it to gel in the kettle. 

PREPARATION
To facilitate proper adhesion, the joint or crack should be dry and clear of 
any dirt, dust or other contaminates.  Substrate and ambient temperatures 
must be 40º F or above.  Proper sizing of the joint will cause the maximum 
extension/compression to not exceed 50% of the width.  Joints or random 
cracks of 1/4” or less are difficult to properly clean prior to applying the seal-
ant.

SERVICE LIFE
The service life (pot-life) at application temperatures is approximately 12 
hours.  Adding fresh material to the melter as sealant is being used will 
extend the service life.  Material that has been overheated can thicken and 
gel in the melter.  Any material that has exceeded the service life should be 
removed from the melter and discarded.

COVERAGE
Width	  	         Depth	               Pounds/100 lineal feet
  3/8”	 3/8”	 6.9
  3/8”	 1/2”	 9.3
  1/2”	 1/2”	 12.3
  1/2”	 1”	 24.7
  3/4”	 1/2”	 18.6
  3/4”	 3/4”	 27.8

PACKAGING
60# CARTON (2 SPLIT 30# CUBES) 
36 CARTONS PER PALLET
35# CARTON 
60 CARTONS PER PALLET
30# NO BOX TRI-BLOCK UNIT
65 UNITS PER PALLET

**Patent Pending**

TECHNICAL SERVICE
For conditions not specified, application procedures not noted, contact:  
Right Pointe Company (888) 755-5700.

LIMITED WARRANTY
Every reasonable effort is made to apply RIGHT POINTE COMPANY exacting 
standards both in the manufacture of our products and in the information 
which we issue concerning these products and their use.  We warrant our 
products to be of good quality and will replace or, at our election, refund 
the purchase price of any products proved defective.  Satisfactory results 
depend not only upon quality products, but also upon many factors be-
yond our control.  Therefore, except for such replacement or refund, RIGHT 
POINTE COMPANY MAKES NO WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE, EXPRESS OR IM-
PLIED, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR 
MERCHANTABILITY, RESPECTING ITS PRODUCTS, and RIGHT POINTE COM-
PANY shall have no other liability with respect thereto.  Any claim regarding 
product defect must be received in writing within one (1) year from the 
date of shipment.  No claim will be considered without such written notice 
or after the specified time interval.  User shall determine the suitability of 
the products for the intended use and assume all risks and liability in con-
nection therewith.  Any authorized change in the printed recommendations 
concerning the use of our products must bear the signature of the RIGHT 
POINTE COMPANY Technical Manager.

REVISED:  05/02/16

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 5



MANUFACTURER	 :  RIGHT POINTE COMPANY	
ADDRESS	 :  234 Harvestore Drive	 - HMIS -
	 :  P.O. BOX 467	
	 :  DeKalb, IL  60115	 |Health	 |	1 |
		  |Flammability	 |	1 |
TELEPHONE	 :  888-755-5700	 |Reactivity	 |	0 |
FAX	 :  815-754-5702	 |Personal Protection	 |	 |

MFG. CODE I.D.	 :  JTS – 072			  (Hazard Rating:  0=Least, 1=Slight, 2=Moderate, 3=High, 4=Extreme, *=Chronic)

TRADE NAME	 :  #5078 CLASS B

FLAMMABILITY CLASSIFICATION				    :  NFPA	 :  Not regulated.
						      :  DOT 	 :  Not regulated.

EXTINGUISHING MEDIA					     :  Use water fog, foam, dry chemical, or carbon dioxide. 

SPECIAL FIRE FIGHTING PROCEDURES AND PRECAUTIONS		  :  Clear fire area of unprotected personnel.  Do no enter confined fire space 
						         without helmet, face shield, bunker coat, gloves, rubber boots, and a 
						         positive pressure NIOSH approved self-contained breathing apparatus. 

UNUSUAL FIRE AND EXPLOSION HAZARDS			   :  None recognized. 
 
STABILITY 						      :  Stable. 	

HAZARDOUS POLYMERIZATION 				    :  Will not occur. 

HAZARDOUS DECOMPOSITION PRODUCTS			   :  Oxides and compounds of nitrogen, oxides and compounds of sulfur.  
						         Combustion may yield carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, and/or incomplete 	
						         combustion products.  Do not breathe smoke or fumes.  Wear appropriate 
						         protective equipment.

CONDITIONS AND MATERIALS TO AVOID			   :  Avoid oxidizing materials and strong acids. 

EYE CONTACT:  If irritation or redness develops, move victim away from exposure source and into fresh air.  Flush eyes with water for fifteen minutes. If 
symptoms persist, seek medical attention. 

SKIN CONTACT:  Wash with mild soap and water to remove condensed oil film.  After contact with hot molten liquid, do not attempt to remove con-
gealed solid; cool area with water and get medical attention.  Do not use petroleum solvents to remove solid. 

INHALATION:  If respiratory symptoms develop, move victim away from exposure source and into fresh air.  If symptoms persist, seek medical atten-
tion.  If victim is not breathing, immediately begin artificial respiration.  If breathing difficulties develop, oxygen should be administered by qualified 
personnel.  Seek immediate medical attention. 

INGESTION:  Dilute with liquid unless the victim is unconscious or very drowsy.  If vomiting spontaneously occurs, keep the victim’s head below the hips 
to prevent aspiration into the lungs.  Consult a physician, hospital, or poison control center and/or transport to and emergency facility immediately. 

RESPIRATORY PROTECTION:  Use ventilation as required to control vapor concentrations.  A minimum of 10 air changes per hour are recommended for 
good general room ventilation.  If exposure exceeds the PEL/TLV, use the appropriate NIOSH approved respirator. 

PROTECTIVE CLOTHING:  Wear safety glasses, goggles, or a splash shield to prevent eye contact.  Contact lenses should not be worn.  Wear appropriate 
gloves and protective clothing to prevent contact with skin and clothing. 

ADDITIONAL PROTECTIVE MEASURES:  Eye wash fountains and safety showers should be available for use in an emergency.

SPILL OR LEAK PROCEDURES: 
	 LARGE SPILLS:  Evacuate the hazard area of unprotected personnel.  Wear appropriate respirator and protective clothing.  Shut-off source of 
		         leak only if safe to do so.  Dike and contain.  If vapor cloud forms, water fog may be used to suppress; contain run-off.  Place 
		          in non-leaking containers for proper disposal.  Flush area with water to remove trace residue; dispose of flush solutions as above. 
	 SMALL SPILLS:  Place in non-leaking containers; seal tightly for proper disposal. 

DISPOSAL:  Observe all federal, state and local regulations regarding proper disposal.

REVISED:  05/02/16

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 6



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 7



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Supplier: Right Pointe

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 8



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Supplier: Right Pointe

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 9



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 10



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 11



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 12



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 13



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 14



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 15



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 16



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 17



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 18



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 19



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 20



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 21



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 22



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 23



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 24



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 25



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 26



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: Right Pointe

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 27



55

66

BID AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Bid package

The undersigned certi fies that the IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid have been carefully reviewed and are submitted as 
correct and final.  Bidder further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or services upon which 
pr ices are extended at the price Bid, and upon the condit ions contained in the IFB.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Bid has not been prepared in collusion with any other Bidder or other person
or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Bid. Further, I certi fy that the
Bidder is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly concerned in any pool or
agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Bid on, or to influence any person or
persons to submit a Bid or not to submit a Bid thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Bid will in no way have a negative impact on the 
County ’s evaluation of the Bid.

*If no box is checked, the Bidder agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted prices to 
all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Supplier: Right Pointe

Name of Bidder: Right Pointe LLC

Address of Bidder: 234 Harvestore Drive

Email: chads@rightpointe.com

Telephone: 815-754-5700

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Chad Strohl

Signature of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Chad Strohl

 I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared (Name of Signer), who after 

being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , (Name of Signer) am a duly authorized officer of/agent for 

(Name of Bidder) and have been duly author ized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said (Name of

Bidder).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20.
Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of chads@rightpointe.com

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 28



5

6

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or
similar goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were
recently provided by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:
State of Texas Road Procurement Austin TX

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Aubrey Carver Contract Manager

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
512-475-5674 aubrey.carver@cpa.texas.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
04/01/2016 04/01/2017 17,000.00

Scope of Work:
Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:
County of Bell Belton TX

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Tina Adams Purchasing Assistant

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
254-933-5115 tina.adams@bellcounty.texas.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
02/16/2016 08/15/2017 18,000.00

Scope of Work:
Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:
City of Oklahoma City OKlahoma City OK

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Thomas Edwards Senior Project Manager

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
405-297-2071

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
07/01/2014 06/30/2015 35,000.00

Scope of Work:
Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer

Supplier: Right Pointe

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 29



5

6

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or
similar goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were
recently provided by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:
State of Texas Road Procurement Austin TX

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Aubrey Carver Contract Manager

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
512-475-5674 aubrey.carver@cpa.texas.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
04/01/2016 04/01/2017 17,000.00

Scope of Work:
Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:
County of Bell Belton TX

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Tina Adams Purchasing Assistant

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
254-933-5115 tina.adams@bellcounty.texas.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
02/16/2016 08/15/2017 18,000.00

Scope of Work:
Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:
City of Oklahoma City OKlahoma City OK

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Thomas Edwards Senior Project Manager

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
405-297-2071

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
07/01/2014 06/30/2015 35,000.00

Scope of Work:
Rubber Asphalt Crack Sealer

Supplier: Right Pointe

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 30



5

6

Supplier: Right Pointe

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.
n/a

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

n/a

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.
n/a

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of 
the local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.
n/a

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:
n/a

7

chads@rightpointe.com

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 31



5

6

Supplier: Right Pointe

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.
n/a

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

n/a

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.
n/a

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of 
the local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.
n/a

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:
n/a

7

chads@rightpointe.com

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 32



55

66

 The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR) 

 Bid Contact Lloyd Washington 

lwashington@qprmail.com 

Ph 800-388 -4338   

 Address 7322 Bonnyshire Drive

Chattanooga, TN 37416 

 Item #  Line Item Notes Unit Price     Qty/Unit Total Price  Attch.  Docs

 1704-156-01-01   Please Attach All 

Documents To This 

Line  

Supplier Product 

Code:

Supplier Notes:   Our 

50 lb. Boxes consists of 

(2) 25 lb blocks 

There are 27 Boxes per 

pallet 

First Offer -    1 / each Y Y

Supplier Total  $0.00   

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 33



55

66

 The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

 Item:  Please Attach All Documents To This Line 

 Attachments

 1704-156 BID ITEM FORM.pdf

 Packet_for_Bid_1704-156 COMPLETED.pdf

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 34



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 35



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 1

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 36



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 2

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 37



55

66

Bid 1704-156

Crack Seal

Bid Number     1704 -156 

Bid Title     Crack Seal 

Bid Start Date  Apr 18, 2017 1:22:23 PM CDT

Bid End Date  May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Question & Answer 

End Date
 May 5, 2017 5:00:00 PM CDT

Bid Contact     Blake Skiles 

 Purchasing Specialist III 

 512 -943 -1478 

 blake.skiles@wilco.org 

Contract Duration    1 year 

Contract Renewal    2 annual renewals   

Prices Good for    90 days 

Pre-Bid Conference   Apr 27, 2017 10:30:00 AM CDT

Attendance is optional

Location: 3151 S.E. Inner Loop 

Georgetown, TX 78626

Bid Comments Williamson County is seeking qualified companies to provide Crack Seal.

Item Response Form

Item     1704-156 -01-01 -  Please Attach All Documents To This Line

Quantity    1 each

Prices are not requested for this item. 

Delivery Location          Williamson County, Texas

No Location Specified

Qty  1 

Description
Please Attach All Documents To This Line 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 3

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 38



GENERAL NOTES AND TECHNICAL SPECS 
 

General Information 
 
Williamson County is seeking qualified companies to provide Asphalt Emulsions per Item 300, 
Texas Department of Transportation, Standard Specifications for Construction and Maintenance 
of Highways, Streets and Bridges 2014. 
 
Quantities shown are estimated quantities.  The actual quantity purchased may be more or 
less.  The County is not obligated to purchase any minimum amount and the County may 
purchase any reasonable amount greater than the estimate for the same unit price.  Items will 
be ordered on an “As Needed” basis.   
 
Williamson County reserves the right to award the bid in whole to one contractor or to award a 
contract on each separate item or combination of items as may be most advantageous to the 
County. A primary, secondary, tertiary, and/or subsequent award may be made for this bid by 
the County. 
 
It is expressly understood and agreed that in case Williamson County should need any item(s) 
not available within the time frame needed from the successful vendor(s) during the term of this 
contract, the County reserves the right to purchase the item(s) vendors from other than the 
successful vendor(s) and shall not be in violation of any terms or conditions of said contract.   
 
Provide three (3) references where like services have been performed by your firm. Include 
name of firm, address, telephone number and name of representative. 
 
Definition of Terms 
 
County:  Williamson County Road and Bridge Division 
 
Contractor: Successful bidder of the attached invitation to bid.   
 
Engineer: County Engineer 
 
Inspector: Employee of Williamson County supplied full time to the contractor's crew for the 
selection, prosecution, and quality control of the work.  Should the work, as well as the 
geographical location, allow, the County may supply one foreman for multiple crews. 
 
Specifications: Texas Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for Construction 
and Maintenance of Highways, Streets, and Bridges 2014. 
 
Department:  Road and Bridge Division 
 
Control of Materials 
 
Source Control. Use only materials that meet Contract requirements.  Unless otherwise 
specified or approved, use new materials for the work.  Secure the Engineer’s approval of the 
proposed source of materials to be used before their delivery.  Materials can be approved at a 
supply source or staging area but may be re-inspected. 
 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 4

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 39



The Contractor shall submit the following test reports from an approved independent testing 
laboratory, providing the proposed materials compliance and adequacy. 
Emulsions and Specialty Emulsions: 
 
  CRM content, Grade B, % by wt. 
  Virgin rubber content, % by wt. 
  Penetration, 77oF, 150 g, 5 sec.  
  Penetration, 32oF, 200 g, 60 sec 
 
Material Quality. Correct or remove materials that fail to meet the contract requirements, for 
cost incurred if additional sampling and testing is required by a change of source.  Materials not 
meeting Contract requirements will be rejected, unless the Engineer approves corrective 
actions.  Upon rejection, immediately remove and replace rejected materials.  If the Contractor 
does not comply with this Article, the County may remove and replace defective material.  The 
cost of testing, removal, and replacement will be deducted from invoice. 
 
Manufacturer Warranties. Transfer to the County warranties and guarantees required by the 
Contract or received as part of normal trade practice. 
 
Plant Inspection and Testing. The Engineer may but is not obligated to inspect materials at 
the acquisition or manufacturing source.  Material samples will be obtained and tested for 
compliance with quality requirements.  Materials produced under County inspection are for 
County use only unless released in writing by the Engineer. 
If inspection is at the plant, meet the following conditions unless otherwise specified: 

• Cooperate fully and assist the Engineer during the inspection 
• Ensure the Engineer has full access to all parts of the plant used to manufacture or 

produce materials. 
• In accordance with pertinent items and the Contract, provide a facility at the plant for use 

by the Engineer as an office or laboratory. 
• Provide and maintain adequate safety measures and restroom facilities. 
• Furnish and calibrate scales, measuring devices, and other necessary equipment. 

The Engineer may provide inspection for periods other than daylight hours if: 

• Continuous production of materials for County use is necessary due to the production 
volume being handled at the plant and  

• The lighting is adequate to allow satisfactory inspection. 

ITEM 300 – Asphalts, Oils and Emulsions 

• Contractor to provide crack sealer that is Class B, Asphalt Rubber Blocks. 
• Sample of the material to be provided prior to purchase. 
• Sealant shall be hot-applied, single component polymer/rubber modified asphalt 

supplied in a solid form that when melted is flexible and an adhesive compound able to 
be applied in accordance with Item 712, TxDOT specifications. 

• Product’s preferred safe heating temperature shall be 400oF, with a recommended pour 
temperature of 380oF.  

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 5

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 40



300
Rubber-Asphalt Crack Sealer 

(TxDOT Item 300.2H Table 15)
350,000 lbs  

Bid Items and Estimate of Quantities
Price per 

Box
Pounds per 

Box
Item # Description Estimated Quantity

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 6

50         $21.00

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 41



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 7

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 42



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 8

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 43



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 9

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 44



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 10

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 45



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 11

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 46



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 12

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 47



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 13

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 48



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 14

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 49



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 15

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 50



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 16

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 51



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 17

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 52



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 18

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 53



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 19

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 54



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 20

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 55



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 21

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 56



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 22

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 57



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 23

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 58



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 24

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 59



5

6

BID AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Bid package

The undersigned certi fies that the IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid have been carefully reviewed and are submitted as 
correct and final.  Bidder further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or services upon which 
pr ices are extended at the price Bid, and upon the condit ions contained in the IFB.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Bid has not been prepared in collusion with any other Bidder or other person
or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Bid. Further, I certi fy that the
Bidder is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly concerned in any pool or
agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Bid on, or to influence any person or
persons to submit a Bid or not to submit a Bid thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Bid will in no way have a negative impact on the 
County ’s evaluation of the Bid.

*If no box is checked, the Bidder agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted prices to 
all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Name of Bidder:

Address of Bidder:

Email:

Telephone:

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Signature of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared 

(Name of Signer), who after being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , 

(Name of Signer) am a duly author ized officer of/agent for (Name of Bidder) and 

have been duly authorized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said (Name of

Bidder).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20 .

Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 25

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 60



5

6

3 4

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar
goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were recently provided
by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 26

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 61



5

6

3 4

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar
goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were recently provided
by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 27

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 62



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 

the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 28

N/A

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 63



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 

the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 29

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 64



55

66

Question and Answers for Bid #1704 -156 - Crack Seal 

Overall Bid Questions

There are no questions associated with this bid.   

Question Deadline: May 5, 2017 5:00:00 PM CDT 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/18/2017 12:23 PM p. 30

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 65



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 66



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 67



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 68



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 69



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 70



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 71



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 72



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 73



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 74



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 75



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 76



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 77



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 78



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 79



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 80



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 81



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 82



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 83



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 84



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair (QPR)

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 85



55

66

BID AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Bid package

The undersigned certi fies that the IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid have been carefully reviewed and are submitted as 
correct and final.  Bidder further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or services upon which 
pr ices are extended at the price Bid, and upon the condit ions contained in the IFB.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Bid has not been prepared in collusion with any other Bidder or other person
or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Bid. Further, I certi fy that the
Bidder is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly concerned in any pool or
agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Bid on, or to influence any person or
persons to submit a Bid or not to submit a Bid thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Bid will in no way have a negative impact on the 
County ’s evaluation of the Bid.

*If no box is checked, the Bidder agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted prices to 
all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

Name of Bidder: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement 
Repair (QPR)

Address of Bidder: 7322 Bonnyshire Drive

Email: lwashington@qprmail.com

Telephone: 8003884338

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Lloyd Washington

Signature of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

 I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared (Name of Signer), who after 

being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , (Name of Signer) am a duly authorized officer of/agent for 

(Name of Bidder) and have been duly author ized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said (Name of

Bidder).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20.
Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of 

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 86



5

6

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or
similar goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were
recently provided by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:
County of Greene Springfield, MO

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Melissa Denney Purchasing Coordinator

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
417-868-4013 MDenney@greenecountymo.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
3/1/18 3/1/17 Open

Scope of Work:
Provide our QPRÃ Â® NxGEN Hot Applied Crack seal material

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:
MD Department of General Services State of Maryland

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Stacey Pollitt Procurement Officer

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
410-767-3002 stacey.pollitt1@maryland.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
4/30/20 4/21/17 275,600.00

Scope of Work:
Provide our water activated Pothole repair material called 
QPRÃ Â® UTILIMAX

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:
NC DOT State of North Carolina

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
James D. McCormick TRANSPORTATION AGENT NC-DOT PURCHASING

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
(919) 707-2639 jdmccormick@ncdot.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
5/1/18 5/1/16 Open

Scope of Work:
Provide the Counties of the State of NC with 
QPRÃ Â® BULK Cold Mix 

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 87



5

6

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or
similar goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were
recently provided by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:
County of Greene Springfield, MO

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Melissa Denney Purchasing Coordinator

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
417-868-4013 MDenney@greenecountymo.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
3/1/18 3/1/17 Open

Scope of Work:
Provide our QPRÃ Â® NxGEN Hot Applied Crack seal material

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:
MD Department of General Services State of Maryland

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
Stacey Pollitt Procurement Officer

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
410-767-3002 stacey.pollitt1@maryland.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
4/30/20 4/21/17 275,600.00

Scope of Work:
Provide our water activated Pothole repair material called 
QPRÃ Â® UTILIMAX

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:
NC DOT State of North Carolina

Contact Name:                                                      Title:
James D. McCormick TRANSPORTATION AGENT NC-DOT PURCHASING

Phone:                                                                  E-mail
(919) 707-2639 jdmccormick@ncdot.gov

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $
5/1/18 5/1/16 Open

Scope of Work:
Provide the Counties of the State of NC with 
QPRÃ Â® BULK Cold Mix 

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 88



5

6

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.
N/A

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

N/A

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.
N/A

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of 
the local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 89



5

6

Supplier: The Quikrete Companies LLC dba Quality Pavement Repair 
(QPR)

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.
N/A

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

N/A

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.
N/A

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of 
the local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 90



55

66

 CRAFCO TEXAS, INC 

 Bid Contact ANA ORTIZ 

ana.ortiz@crafco.com 

Ph 210-496 -2070   

Fax 210 -496 -2732 

 Address 105 TOWER DR

SAN ANTONIO, TX 78109 

 Item #  Line Item Notes Unit Price     Qty/Unit Total Price  Attch.  Docs

 1704-156-01-01   Please Attach All 

Documents To This Line  

Supplier 

Product Code:

First Offer -    1 / each Y Y

Supplier Total  $0.00   

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 91



55

66

 CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

 Item:  Please Attach All Documents To This Line 

 Attachments

 2823_001.pdf

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 92



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 93



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 94



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 95



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 96



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 97



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 98



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 99



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 100



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 101



1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 102



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 103



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 104



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 105



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 106



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 107



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 108



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 109



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 110



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 111



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 112



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 113



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 114



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 115



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 116



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 117



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 118



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 119



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 120



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 121



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 122



55

66

BID AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Bid package

The undersigned certi fies that the IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid have been carefully reviewed and are submitted as 
correct and final.  Bidder further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or services upon which 
pr ices are extended at the price Bid, and upon the condit ions contained in the IFB.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Bid has not been prepared in collusion with any other Bidder or other person
or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Bid. Further, I certi fy that the
Bidder is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly concerned in any pool or
agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Bid on, or to influence any person or
persons to submit a Bid or not to submit a Bid thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Bid will in no way have a negative impact on the 
County ’s evaluation of the Bid.

*If no box is checked, the Bidder agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted prices to 
all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

Name of Bidder:

Address of Bidder:

Email:

Telephone:

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Signature of Person Submitting Affidavit:

I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared (Name of Signer), who after 

being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , (Name of Signer) am a duly authorized officer of/agent for 

(Name of Bidder) and have been duly author ized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said (Name of

Bidder).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20.
Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of 

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 123



5

6

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or
similar goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were
recently provided by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 124



5

6

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or
similar goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were
recently provided by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 125



5

6

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of 
the local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 126



5

6

Supplier: CRAFCO TEXAS, INC

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of 
the local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

1704-156Williamson County, Texas

BidSync5/8/2017 p. 127



Right Pointe Crafco Quikrete Co
Item # 300

Rubber-Asphalt Crack Sealer 
(TxDOT Item 300.2H Table 15)

Estimated Quantity
350,000 lbs

Pounds Per Box 35 30 50
Price Per Box $11.90 $11.28 $21.00

Price Per Pound $0.34 $0.376 $0.42

Award Recommendation Primary Secondary Tertiary



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   51.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Roadside Chemicals and Herbicides renewal
Submitted For: Randy Barker  Submitted By: Dianne West, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item

Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the renewal of Roadside Chemicals
and Herbicides, Bid #15IFB116 for the term of June 1, 2017 – May 31, 2018, with Red River
Specialties, the Primary Vendor. This is the second extension of two (2) possible, one (1) year
renewal options.

Background

The primary vendor, Red River Specialties, Inc. has agreed to this renewal. The secondary
vendor, Crop Production Services has opted out of this renewal period. The only exception to
this process is with the primary vendor, Red River Specialties, Inc.(RRSI) who requested a
product change to Garlon 3A, due to manufacturer obsolescence (DOW Agrosciences) on
Element 3A. This was reviewed and accepted by Road and Bridge. In addition, they provided a
price increase to comply with their agency agreements for two items. This has been
substantiated with BAYER Science manufacturer letter directive for these two items. All other
pricing, terms and conditions remain the same. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Red River Specialties

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Dianne West Started On: 05/11/2017 10:12 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 





   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   52.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

LIT Debt Service Fund 05-16-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss and consider approving a Line Item Transfer for the Debt Service Fund:

Background
To recognize the associated expenditures for the defeasance and redemption of certain county bonds approved on
the April 25, 2017 Commissioners' Court Agenda.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
From 0600.0600.006900 Debt Defeasance $9,933,492.80

To 0600.0600.004098 Payment to Escrow Agent $9,908,747.80

To 0600.0600.004099 Bond Issuance Cost $24,745.00

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 05/10/2017 02:23 PM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   53.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

District Attorney Apportionment Supplement BA 05-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge additional revenues for the
District Attorney's office from State Judiciary Apportionment Funds:

Background
Apportionment funds are appropriated by the State. These funds may be used for salaries, travel and expenses of
assistant prosecutors, investigators and administrative staff. These funds can be used for certain day to day
expense of the office as outlinted in Governmental Code Section 46.0031.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.335602 Dist Atty Salary Supplement $7,500.00

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 04:42 PM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 05/08/2017 10:32 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   54.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

District Attorney Apportionment Supplement BA 05-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge additional expenditures for the
District Attorney's office from State Judiciary Apportionment Funds:

Background
Apportionment funds are appropriated by the State. These funds may be used for salaries, travel and expenses of
assistant prosecutors, investigators and administrative staff. These funds can be used for certain day to day
expenses of the office as outlined in Governmental Code Section 46.0031.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0440.001940 Apportionment Supplement $6,197.30

0100.0440.002010 FICA $474.11

0100.0440.002020 Retirement $828.59

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 04:42 PM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 05/08/2017 10:38 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   55.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Parks Donations BA 05-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment to acknowledge additional revenues for Park
Donations:

Background
Donations include $141.00 for firewood from various patrons and a generous donation of $958.85 from the
Georgetown Running Club for Race to Build.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.367403 Park Donations $1,099.85

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 04:42 PM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 05/08/2017 10:59 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   56.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Parks Donations BA 05-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge additional expenditures for Park
Donations:

Background
Donations include $141.00 for firewood from various patrons and a generous donation of $958.85 from the
Georgetown Running Club for Race to Build.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0510.003670 Use of Donation $1,099.85

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/10/2017 04:42 PM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 05/08/2017 11:05 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/10/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   57.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Economic Development
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Executive Session

Information
Agenda Item
Discussion regarding economic development negotiations pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 551.087:
a) Business prospect(s) that may locate or expand within Williamson County.
b) Discuss Pearson Road District.
c) Discuss North Woods Road District.
d) Project Columbus Balbo
e) Mega Site

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 05/11/2017 09:18 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   58.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

Executive Session
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Executive Session

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss real estate matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.072 Deliberation Regarding
Real Estate Property if deliberation in an open meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the
governmental body in negotiations with third person.)
A. Real Estate Owned by Third Parties
1. Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential purchase or lease of property owned by third parties
a) Discuss the acquisition of real property for right-of-way for Mays St. Extension 
b) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop. 
c) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 176 at RM 2243
d) Discuss the acquisition of real property with endangered species for mitigation purposes.
e) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 101
f) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 111
g) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 278 at Bagdad Rd.
h) Discuss the acquisition of real property for proposed CR 110 project. (All sections)
i) Discuss the acquisition of real property for County Facilities.
j) Discuss the acquisition of real property on CR 305. 
k) Discuss the acquisition of Easement interests for the Brushy Creek Trail Project. 
l) Discuss acquisition of property located at NEC of Toll 130 and Gattis School Rd. 
m) Discuss the acquisition of a drainage easement for CR 108.
n) Discuss easement acquisitions from San Gabriel River Ranch Subdivision.
o) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 258.
p) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR Lakeline Blvd. 
q) Discuss the acquisition of real property for US 183.
r) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Hairy Man Rd. 
s) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW Bypass.
t) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Crossroad Acres.
u) Discuss proposed acquisition of real property on CR 138. 
v) Discuss proposed acquisition of real property at Highland Springs Lane. 

B. Property or Real Estate owned by Williamson County
1). Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential sale or lease of property owned by the County
a) Discuss County owned real estate containing underground water rights and interests.
b) Discuss possible sale of 183 A excess right of way
c) Discuss proposed sale of real estate of Blue Springs Blvd
d) Discuss transfer of right of way for Westinghouse Rd. to the City of Georgetown.
e) Discuss wastewater easements in Berry Springs Park
f) Discuss Development Agreement with Ashby Capital Investments, LLC
g) Discuss sale of County property on Ronald Reagan Blvd.
h) Discuss abandonment of County property on CR 123. 
i) Discuss the improvements 175 CR 138 (Giesen tract).
j) Discuss an Interlocal Agreement with the City of Hutto for CR 119.

C. Consider intervention in lawsuit regarding de-listing of Bone Cave harvestman. 

Background



Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/11/2017 09:50 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 05/11/2017 09:17 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/11/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   67.           
Meeting Date: 05/16/2017  

FY 18 Capital Workshop
Submitted By: Ashlie Koenig, Budget Office
Department: Budget Office
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
1:00 PM Discuss FY 18 Capital Requests.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Attachment

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 05/03/2017 11:39 AM
Form Started By: Ashlie Koenig Started On: 05/03/2017 11:05 AM
Final Approval Date: 05/03/2017 



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017

Description

 Total C
ost 

 FY 2018 

 FY 2019 

 FY 2020 

 FY 2021 

 FY 2022 

Item # FY Req PROJECT

100 2015 Weir Ambulance Station  (Remodel/additions)  $              100,000.00 

105 2015 Cedar Park Ambulance Station  $              400,000.00 

110 2015 M11 Ambulance Station;  Additional bay to house peak demand ambulance  $              100,000.00 

120 2015

M42 Taylor Ambulance Station

 Move to possible different location out of flood plain  $              750,000.00 

130 2015

Leander Ambulance Station

  New Station  $              300,000.00 

135 2015

Round Rock Ambulance Station

  New station @ 1431  $              300,000.00 

140 2015

Prime Site #2

  Create redundant backup to Prime #1  $           3,000,000.00 

145 2015

Liberty Hill SW (Site 12) Date TBD

  New Tower  $           2,000,000.00 

150 2015

Master Site Date TBD

  New Tower  $           3,500,000.00 

155 2015

Liberty Hill NE (Site 13) Date TBD

  New Tower  $           2,000,000.00 

160 2016

Florence (Site5) Relocation (Lease Expires 2019)

  New Tower  $           2,200,000.00  $           2,200,000.00 

165 2015

Jarrell (Site 11)

  New Tower  $              900,000.00 

170 2015

Granger SE (Site 14) Date TBD

  New Tower  $           2,000,000.00 

175 2015

Thrall SE (site 15) Date TBD

  New Tower  $           2,000,000.00 

180 Various

System Fill in Towers Date TBD

  New Towers  $           1,500,000.00 

185 2018 M41 Taylor Ambulance Station  $              100,000.00 

187 2018

Hutto Ambulance Station

  New Station  $                            -   

205 2015

Inner Loop Annex - Technology Services - Public Safety vehicle technology 

upgrades and integration  $           4,500,000.00 

210 2015 Redaction Software for Odyssey  $              800,000.00 

215 2018 ESOC - Replace & Enhance Audio/Visual System  $              130,000.00 
220 2018 ESOC - Radio Consoles for Training  $           1,500,000.00 

Department of Emergency Services

Department of Information Technology Services



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017

Description

 Total C
ost 

 FY 2018 

 FY 2019 

 FY 2020 

 FY 2021 

 FY 2022 

305 2016 EXPO Horse Stall Barn  $           1,600,000.00 

308 2016 EXPO East Concession & Restrooms  $              787,500.00 

310 2016 EXPO Enclosed Covered Penning  $              603,750.00 

312 2016 EXPO - Covered Arena Widening Project  $              409,500.00 

325 2016 Champion Park - Splash Pad Renovation Option A  $              250,000.00 

327 2016 Champion Park - Splash Pad Renovation Option B  $              455,000.00 

329 2016 Champion Park - Replace Shade Shelter  $              150,000.00 

331 2016 Champion Park - Additional Parking Spaces Option A  $              450,000.00 

334 2016 Champion Park - Additional Parking Spaces Option B  $              267,750.00 

340 2016 Berry Springs - Heritage / Visitor Center  $              775,000.00 

345 2016 Berry Springs Maintenance Yard & Building  $              350,000.00 

350 2016 Berry Springs Waterless Restroom for Trail  $                75,000.00 

360 2016 SW WCRP Enclose East End of Maint Bldg  $                78,750.00 

365 2016 SW WCRP Waterless Restroom for Trail  $                75,000.00 

375 2018 SW WCRP Parking Lot Fogseal and Restripe  $              715,000.00 

377 2018 EXPO - Wind Block Hanger Style Doors  $              900,000.00 

379 2018 EXPO - Large Blade Fans  $              150,000.00 

382 2018 EXPO - Electronic Events Sign  $              200,000.00 
385 2018 Champion Park - Smaller Pavilion w/ Restrooms  $              350,000.00 

400 2015 Jail Planning & Design master plan jail improvements and fourth floor buildout  $              250,000.00 

402 2015

Remodel  Round Rock Annex Building A: Total remodel to bring up to standard 

after Health Dept vacates building  $           2,525,000.00 

405 2015 Remodel  Round Rock Annex Building B: Remodel to bring up to standard  $           2,525,000.00 

407 2015 Repair Historic Court House Terracotta: replace all blocks banding balconies  $              250,000.00 

410 2015 Cedar Park Annex - JP2 - Remodel reception  $              150,000.00 

412 2015 Cedar Park Annex - Tax Office - 2-Story addition on back of annex  $           3,000,000.00 

413 2015

Inner Loop Annex - Technology Services - Add vehicle shelter or carport in the 

parking area close to the building to be used to work on vehicles in all types of 

weather conditions  $                35,000.00 

414 2015 Juvenile Justice Center - Detention - Install outdoor track  $              150,000.00 

416 2015 Juvenile Justice Center - Detention - Install outdoor pavilion  $              150,000.00 

418 2015 Juvenile Justice Center - Detention - Add outdoor storage  $              135,000.00 

420 2015

Juvenile Justice Center - Addition on east side for probation officers & 

counseling personnel offices.  $           2,300,000.00 

423 2015

Juvenile Justice Center - RR, CP & Taylor - Additions for probation officers & 

Counseling personnel offices  $              150,000.00 

425 2015

Juvenile Justice Center - Restroom facilities & water fountain on 

Ropes/Obstacle Course and Marching field.  $              150,000.00 

Parks

Department of Infrastructure



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017

Description

 Total C
ost 

 FY 2018 

 FY 2019 

 FY 2020 

 FY 2021 

 FY 2022 

428 2015 Juvenile Justice Center - Design of 48 beds secure residential facility  $           2,000,000.00 

430 2015 JP #4 - Backup generator to keep office running during emergencies  $              140,000.00 

432 2018 Pct #4 Annex Finish Out  $           2,400,000.00 

435 2015

Tax Office Bldg. - Carquest space - Demo and remodel existing County owned 

bldg. into offices and large meeting room  $              600,000.00 

437 2015 Commissioner Pct 4 - Sheriff's Office-Facilitate to house CID  $           1,750,000.00 

439 2016 Justice Center - Employee Breakroom Addition CC  $              150,000.00 

441 2018 Remodel for Future Tenants - Lott Bldg.  $           5,000,000.00 

443 2018 Justice Center - Minor Remodel to accommodate backup server room  $              200,000.00 

445 2018 Remodel of County Attorney Civil Division on 1st floor of Justice Ctr  $              115,000.00 

447 2018 Remodel of Impound Yard to New Sign Shop  $              197,000.00 

449 2018 Jail - Privacy Wall to Separate Booking Area  $                55,000.00 

451 2018 Jail - Designated Smoking Room for Employees  $                75,000.00 

455 2018

Jail - Headquarters Expansion (where handicap parking is) - more space 

(Design)  $              500,000.00 

457 2018 SO - SWAT O-Course - repel tower for training  $              900,000.00 

459 2018 SO - Secure HQ parking with new gates / window screens  $              500,000.00 

461 2018 SO - Equip outfit for Lott and New Training Ctr  $              100,000.00 

463 2018 SO - Permanent Bldg to house rescue boats @ Impound Yard  $              250,000.00 

466 2018 SO - Permanent Bldg to house explosives and ammunition  $              155,000.00 

468 2018 SO - Driving Track and Skid Pad at Firearms Range for training  $           1,500,000.00 

470 2018 SO - Fencing for New Training Ctr  $           1,450,000.00 

472 2018 SO - Obstacle Course at New Training Center  $              900,000.00 

475 2018 SO - Gym w/false ceiling at HQ  $              300,000.00 

477 2018 SO - Add fencing/gates between SO and Justice Center  $                50,000.00 

479 2018

Central Maint - Add counter, carpet and walls to lobby due to transfer of 

septic to county engineer's office  $              272,000.00 

481 2018

Central Maint - Paint, Carpet and Minor Wall Relocations due to vacating 

of bldg of tenants moving to new Pct #3 building  $              150,000.00 

483 2018 Central Maint - storage shed construction for sign shop  $              900,000.00 

485 2018 New Administration Bldg - Planning and Design  $              900,000.00 

EXISTING PROJECTS / UNFUNDED COMPONENTS

487 2018 North Campus / Facilities Storage Building  $           1,600,000.00 

489 2018 North Campus / Sign Shop Renovation  $              100,000.00 

490 2018 North Campus / Fuel Station  $           1,350,000.00 

491 2018 North Campus / Vehicle Storage Building F  $              800,000.00 

492 2018 North Campus / Internal Drive  $              300,000.00 

494 2018 SO Training Center / Vehicle Storage Building  $              750,000.00 

496 2018 Gun Range / Security Wall  $           1,600,000.00 



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017

Description

 Total C
ost 

 FY 2018 

 FY 2019 

 FY 2020 

 FY 2021 

 FY 2022 

499 2018 New Precinct #3 Office / Storage Building  $              500,000.00 

500 2015 Voting Machines (970 machines at $4,500)  $           4,365,000.00 

*Indicates Items Newly Added to Capital Requests

*Indicates item as high priority

TOTAL  $         81,366,250  $           2,200,000  $                     -    $                     -    $                     -    $                     -   

Elections


	Agenda
	Line Item Transfer for County Sheriff
	Line Item Transfer for County Sheriff
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on a line transfer for Road and Bridge Division
	Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on line item transfers for the Parks Department
	Compensation Items
	ATT_Comp Item
	Justice of the Peace 4 APRIL 2017 Monthly Report
	ATT_JP4 EOM APR 2017
	Asset Auction 5-16-2017
	ATT_Asset Auction
	Vehicle Reimbursement Agreements for County Sheriff
	ATT_T.G. Mercer Consulting
	ATT_Orenda Education
	Selection of new WCCF board member
	acknowledgement of WCCF board appointments
	Property Tax Refunds _ Over 2500 _ April 2017
	ATT_040117-043017 Refunds Over 2500
	Property Tax Collections _ April 2017
	ATT_040117-043017 GWI-RFM
	ATT_040117-043017 GWI-RFM Graph
	TexPool Resolutions Amending Authorized Representatives 
	ATT_TexPool Resolution
	ATT_TexPool Resolution
	TWC Data Exchange 
	ATT_TWC Agreement 
	Funding mod
	ATT_Trailer Project Defunding
	Phone System Mod
	ATT_Phone Syst T Don Hutto Mod
	Prime Strategies WA 1 for the Long Range Transportation Plan Corridor Program
	ATT_PSI-WA1-LTPCorridorProgram
	Kleinfelder Inc On Call WA No 1 
	ATT_Kleinfeld WA No 1
	Balcones Geotechnical Supp WA 1 to WA 1 GT Annex
	ATT_Balcones Geotechnical PLLC Supp WA 1 to WA 1 Geotechnical Engineering Services for GT Annex
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat of Wm J Turner Subdivision - Pct 3
	ATT_Final Plat - Wm J Turner Subdivision
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the preliminary plat for the Sunset Meadows subdivision - Pct 4
	ATT_Prelim Plat - Sunset Meadows
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the L and D Acres subdivision - Pct 3
	ATT_Final Plat - L and D Acres
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the final plat for the Scott and White at Rancho Sienna subdivision - Pct 3
	ATT_Final Plat - Scott and White at Rancho Sienna
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on approval of the revised preliminary plat for the Rancho Sienna Sec 19 subdivision - Pct 3
	ATT_Revised Prelim Plat - Rancho Sienna Sec 19
	Proclamation
	ATT_Resolution
	Proclamation
	ATT_Proclamation
	Drug Court Month 
	ATT_Proclamation 
	Williamson County Expo Center
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on Texas A&M AgriLife Extension Quarterly Interpretation of Programs to elected officials
	Retention Request Court Administrator 
	ATT_Retention Request CCL2
	Retention Request Court Administrator 
	ATT_Retention Request CCL2
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues update
	Road Bond and Pass Through Financing Construction Summary Report
	ATT_May 2017 CSR
	Bagdad Road at CR 278 Antiquities Permit Application
	ATT_Bagdad Road Antiquities Permit Application
	Bagdad Road at CR 278 TCEQ Agent Authorization Form
	ATT_Bagdad Rd Agent Authorization Form
	1607-102 Pearson Ranch Rd Extension Change Order No. 1
	ATT_1607-102 Pearson Ranch Rd CO No.01
	1604-068 Forest North Ph 1 Change Order No. 2
	ATT_1604-068 Forest North Drainage Ph 1 CO No 2
	1604-068 CO#2-RFI#8_COAChangeOrder-EOPCbackup.pdf
	Braeburn 100%

	1604-068 CO#2-RFI#8_COAChangeOrder-RevisedPlanSheets.PDF
	PDF0060-01
	PDF0060-02


	1603-062 CR 258 Change Order No. 6
	ATT_1603-062 CR 258 CO No. 6
	Prime Strategies Agreement for Engineering Services for the Long Range Transportation Plan Corridor Program
	ATT_PSI-LTPCorridorProgram-Contract-05102017
	CR 119 Interlocal Agreement
	ATT_CR 119 Interlocal Agreement
	Line Item Transfers
	Master Gardeners Building
	Supplemental Agreement for Champion Park
	ATT_Supplemental Agreement
	Cradlepoint Lease
	ATT_Dell Lease Schedule for Cradlepoint Equipment
	Unallocated
	ATT_Unallocated
	Awarding IFB 1704-156 Crack Seal
	ATT_Recommendation
	ATT_Bid Tab
	ATT_Award Tab
	Sheet1

	Roadside Chemicals and Herbicides renewal
	ATT_Red River Specialties
	LIT Debt Service Fund 05-16-2017
	District Attorney Apportionment Supplement BA 05-18-2017
	District Attorney Apportionment Supplement BA 05-18-2017
	Parks Donations BA 05-18-2017
	Parks Donations BA 05-18-2017
	Economic Development
	Executive Session
	FY 18 Capital Workshop
	ATT_Attachment

